
                                  

AGENDA
For a meeting of the

ALCOHOL, ENTERTAINMENT & LATE NIGHT REFRESHMENT 
LICENSING COMMITTEE

to be held on
FRIDAY, 5 APRIL 2019

at
10.45 AM

in the
NEWTON ROOM, THE GUILDHALL ARTS CENTRE, ST. PETER'S 

HILL, GRANTHAM. NG31 6PZ
Aidan Rave, Chief Executive    

Chairman
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth

Councillor Robert Broughton
Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown
Councillor Ms Jane Kingman

Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor Bob Russell
Councillor Mrs Sarah Stokes
Councillor Frank Turner
Councillor Dean Ward (Vice-Chairman)

Committee Support
Officer:

Lucy Bonshor Tel: 01476 40 61 20
E-mail: l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk

Members of the Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider 
the items of business listed below.

1  APOLOGIES 

2  DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

3  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 1 MARCH 2019 (Pages 3 - 4)



4  LICENSING ACT 2003: APPLICATION FOR A PREMISES LICENCE FORBIDDEN 
FOREST AT GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE, MAIN ROAD, GRIMSTHORPE PE10 OLZ 
(Pages 5 - 212)

Report CSL166 by the Licensing Officer.

(THE APPENDICES TO THE REPORT AT AGENDA ITEM 4 ARE ATTACHED FOR 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS ONLY. IF ANY OTHER MEMBERS WISH TO SEE THE 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION, PLEASE CONTACT LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC 
SERVICES)

5  ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF SPECIAL 
CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT. 



MINUTES
ALCOHOL, ENTERTAINMENT & 
LATE NIGHT REFRESHMENT 
LICENSING COMMITTEE
FRIDAY, 1 MARCH 2019

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor George Chivers
Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor Dean Ward (Vice-Chairman)

OFFICERS

Licensing Officer (Richard Etherton)
Legal Advisor (Mandy Braithwaite)
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor)

12. DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS

None disclosed.

13. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 1ST FEBRUARY 2019

The minutes of the meeting held on 1 February 2019 were agreed.

14. LICENSING ACT 2003: MEETING TO DECIDE IF A COMMITTEE HEARING 
IS REQUIRED - MALTHURST ARCHIVES FILLING STATION, HARLAXTON 
ROAD, GRANTHAM

Decision:

That a hearing is not necessary in relation to the application for a Premise 
Licence for the premise known as Malthurst Archways Filling Station, 
Harlaxton Road, Grantham, NG31 7AB.

The Licensing Officer presented report CSL165 which related to an application for a 
new premise licence for the premise known as Malthurst Archways Filling Station, 

3

Agenda Item 3



Harlaxton Road, Grantham.  The application was to allow the retail sale of alcohol 
between the hours of 00:00 until 24:00 hours, Monday to Sunday inclusive and to 
allow for the provision of late-night refreshment between the hours of 23:00 hours 
until 05:00 hours, Monday to Sunday inclusive.

On 1 February 2019 a representation was received from Lincolnshire Police, a 
responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003.  The representation was made 
under the licensing objectives of the Prevention of Crime and Disorder, Public Safety 
and the Protection of Children from Harm.  The representation stated that only 
minimal conditions were offered in the application and the wording was inadequate 
and did not fully promote the licensing objectives.

Discussions had taken place between the applicant’s solicitor and Lincolnshire 
Police. The applicant’s solicitor and Lincolnshire Police had come to an agreement 
with regard to the wording of the conditions which should be attached to the Premise 
Licence and both parties agreed that a hearing was not necessary.

Where relevant representations are made, the Licensing Authority must hold a 
hearing to consider them, unless the Licensing Authority, the applicant and each 
person who had made a representation agree that a hearing is unnecessary.  For the 
purposes of the Licensing Act 2003, the Authority is the Alcohol, Entertainment and 
Late Night Refreshment Licensing Committee.

As agreement had been reached between the Police and the applicant on the 
wording and conditions of the Premise Licence, Members felt that it was not 
necessary to hold a hearing and on being put to the vote Members unanimously 
agreed that a hearing was not required.

15. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting closed at 9:36am.

4



Alcohol, Entertainment and Late 
Night Refreshment Licensing 
Committee
  5 April 2019

CSL 166

        

Licensing Act 2003: Application for a Premises 
Licence - Forbidden Forest at Grimsthorpe Castle, Main Road, 
Grimsthorpe PE10 OLZ

Committee to determine an application for a premises licence

Report Author

Pam Robinson, Senior Licensing Officer

01476 406138

p.robinson@southkesteven.gov.uk

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards:

Administrative Regulatory Castle

Reviewed by: Mark Jones, Community Resilience Lead 26 March 2019

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s)
RECOMMENDATION- 

That the Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment Committee  consider this application 
for a premises licence at a premises known as Forbidden Forest at Grimsthorpe Castle, Main 
Road, Grimsthorpe PE10 OLZ and the views of the representations made by Lincolnshire Police, 
bearing in mind the four licensing objectives:

 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder
 Public Safety
 The Prevention of Public Nuisance
 The Protection of children from harm.

5

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


1 The Background to the Report
1.1 On 28 January 2019 I received a telephone call from Mr Arron Moss, the event organiser 

for Exurbia Events who wanted advice on what he needed to do about setting up meetings 
with relevant responsible authorities regarding an application he was proposing to submit 
for a large scale event within Grimsthorpe Castle.

1.2 During the conversation Arron advised he had a meeting planned with Sarah from the Safety 
Advisory Group (SAG) on 5 February 2019.  I told him the police are normally at those 
meetings but I recommended that he contact PC Gina McConville, the police licensing 
officer prior to the meeting date to make sure she was going to attend and for him to discuss 
his application with her as she would advise what the police would expect to see on the 
application form.

1.3 On 31 January 2019 I received an email from PC McConville that confirmed she had spoken 
with Arron.

1.4 An application for a premises licence was eventually submitted to the Licensing Team on 
11 February 2019.  Appendix 1. 

1.5 Lincolnshire Police submitted a representation to the application by email on Friday, 8 March 
2019 which was picked up by me on Monday, 11 March 2019.  Appendix 2.

1.6 The police are objecting to the application under the following licensing objectives:

a The Prevention of Crime and Disorder
b Public Safety
c Prevention of Public Nuisance

1.7 The Police allege they have evidence which identifies serious concerns associating drug 
use at a previous Forbidden Forest Event at Donington Park Race Circuit and evidence of 
further problems which resulted in media interest and a licence review hearing for another 
Forbidden Forest event held at Wymeswold Airfield.

1.8 The full details of the Police’s representation and evidence can be found at Appendix 2.

1.9 The Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy gives advice to applicants for large scale 
events.  The Guidance to Applicants we provide also advises any applicant for a premises 
licence to have close liaison with the responsible authorities and interested parties for their 
views and assistance before the application is submitted.  Both documents are available on 
the website. 

1.10 Further information was received by email on Wednesday, 20 April 2019 from the applicant 
in mitigation to the police representation.  It was also sent to the police at the same time.  
This is attached as appendix 3.  At the time of writing this report, no response has been 
received from the police.

2 Options available to the Committee
2.1 Where relevant representations are made, the authority must:-

i Hold a hearing to consider them, unless the authority, the applicant and each person 
who has made such representations agree that a hearing is unnecessary, and

6



ii Having regard to the representations, take such of the steps mentioned below (if any) 
as it considers necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives.  The steps are:

(a) Grant the licence subject to conditions that are consistent with the  operating schedule 
modified to the extent that the Committee considered appropriate for the promotion of 
the licensing objectives and any mandatory conditions that must be included under the 
Licensing Act 2003;

(b) exclude from the scope of the licence a licensable activity to which the   application 
relates;

(c) refuse to specify a person in the licence as premises supervisor;

(d)    reject the application.

2.2 The licensing authority should give appropriate weight to;

I. The steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives.
II. The representations (including supporting information) presented by the parties.

III. The guidance issued under section 182 of the licensing Act 2003.
IV. South Kesteven District Council’s Licensing Policy

                        

2.3 The Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act states at 9.37 that;

“As a matter of practice, Licensing Authorities should seek to focus the hearing on the steps 
considered appropriate to promote the particular licensing objective or objectives that have 
given rise to the specific representation and avoid straying into undisputed areas.  A 
responsible authority or other person may choose to rely on their written representation.  
They may not add further representations to those disclosed to the applicant prior to the 
hearing, but they may expand on their existing representation and should be allowed 
sufficient time to do so, within reasonable and practicable limits.”

3 Financial Implications 
3.1 There are no specific financial implications associated with this report, however, in the event 

of an applicant, responsible authority or interested person making an appeal against a 
decision which was then subsequently upheld, the council may incur additional legal costs.

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director Resources

4 Legal and Governance Implications 
4.1 This is an application for a new premises licence under S17 of the Licensing Act 2003. The 

Committee should consider whether the application is likely to impact on the promotion of 
the licensing objectives.   In reaching the decision the Committee should consider, the steps 
that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives, the representations (including 
supporting information) presented by  the parties, the guidance issued under S182 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 and the Council’s own statement of licensing policy.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy

5 Equality and Safeguarding Implications 

7



5.1 Not applicable.

6 Risk and Mitigation
6.1 Not applicable.

7 Community Safety Implications 
7.1 Community Safety Implications will be considered in accordance with the licensing 

objectives and the duty to consider in accordance with s.17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998.

8 Appendices
1 Application for a premises licence.
1b Event safety management plan.
2 Representation from Lincolnshire Police.
3 Applicant responses to the Polices’ representation. 

9 Background Papers
9.1 Statement of Licensing Policy 6 January 2016.            

www.southkesteven.gov.uk/licensingpolicy

9.2 Guidance to Applicants
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8303

9.3       Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
705588/Revised_guidance_issued_under_section_182_of_the_Licensing_Act_2003__April_2018
_.pdf

8

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/licensingpolicy
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8303


Appendix 1

9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



This page is intentionally left blank



Document: Event Safety and Management Plan 

Date of Production: February 2018 

Document Reference: DOC_01 

Version History: V3 LICENSE DRAFT (issued 29 January for internal review and to

provide draft for license application) 

This draft is in support of the Premises License Application and 

Operational Documents will be completed during the approval period. 
The plan on the following page shows the proposed premises extent.

Produced by: Lou Woodward & Brian Cleary 

Final Approval by: Exurbia Events Limited 

35



Exurbia Events – Licensable area of use 
 

 

36



 

 

 

1 TABLE OF CONTENTS 

2 Event Overview ........................................................................................................................... 5 
2.1 Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 5 
2.2 Location and Venue .......................................................................................................................... 5 

2.2.1 Venue and Arena Capacity Calculations ............................................................................................... 5 
2.3 Entertainment .................................................................................................................................. 5 

3 Organisation ................................................................................................................................ 6 
3.1 Introduction ...................................................................................................................................... 6 
3.2 Safety Advisory Group (SAG) ............................................................................................................. 6 
3.3 Event Liaison Team ........................................................................................................................... 6 
3.4 Hierarchy of Control – Normal Operations ......................................................................................... 7 
3.5 Staff and Contractors ........................................................................................................................ 7 

4 Communications .......................................................................................................................... 8 
4.1 Contact List ....................................................................................................................................... 8 
4.2 Event Control .................................................................................................................................... 8 
4.3 Incident Reporting ............................................................................................................................ 9 
4.4 Data Reporting .................................................................................................................................. 9 
4.5 Document Control and Distribution ................................................................................................. 10 
4.6 Radio System .................................................................................................................................. 10 
4.7 Local Residents Engagement ........................................................................................................... 11 

5 Safety Management .................................................................................................................. 11 
5.1 Health, Safety and Environmental Statement of Intent .................................................................... 11 
5.2 Event Risk Assessment .................................................................................................................... 11 
5.3 Method Statement .......................................................................................................................... 12 
5.4 Contractor Safety Audit ................................................................................................................... 12 
5.5 Monitoring Health and Safety Arrangements ................................................................................... 12 
5.6 Sign Off To Open Procedure ............................................................................................................ 12 
5.7 Crowd Safety Management ............................................................................................................. 13 

5.7.1 Site Layout and Access Planning ......................................................................................................... 13 
5.7.2 Customer Accreditation ...................................................................................................................... 13 
5.7.3 Non Customer Accreditation .............................................................................................................. 13 
5.7.4 Emergency Exits .................................................................................................................................. 13 
5.7.5 Security ............................................................................................................................................... 13 
5.7.6 Barriers and Fencing ........................................................................................................................... 14 
5.7.7 Signage Plan ........................................................................................................................................ 14 
5.7.8 Traffic and Transport Management.................................................................................................... 14 
5.7.9 Customer Ingress and Egress .............................................................................................................. 14 

5.8 Medical and Welfare ....................................................................................................................... 16 
5.8.1 Medical Plan ....................................................................................................................................... 16 
5.8.2 Lost or Vulnerable Persons ................................................................................................................. 16 

5.9 Protecting Children From Harm ....................................................................................................... 16 
5.10 Site and Infrastructure .................................................................................................................... 17 

5.10.1 Construction Design and Management .............................................................................................. 17 
5.10.2 Temporary Demountable Structures and Infrastructure ................................................................... 17 
5.10.3 Weather Management ....................................................................................................................... 17 

37



 

 

5.10.4 Electrical Installs and Lighting ............................................................................................................. 17 
5.10.5 Sanitary Facilities ................................................................................................................................ 17 
5.10.6 Waste Management and Sustainability .............................................................................................. 18 
5.10.7 Water Supply and Safety .................................................................................................................... 18 

5.11 Noise Management ......................................................................................................................... 18 
5.12 Fire Safety....................................................................................................................................... 18 
5.13 Food, Drink and Concessions ........................................................................................................... 18 

6 Artist Management .................................................................................................................... 19 

7 Customer Sales and Services ...................................................................................................... 19 
7.1 Lockers ........................................................................................................................................... 19 
7.2 Information Point ........................................................................................................................... 19 
7.3 Customer Sales ............................................................................................................................... 19 
7.4 Customer Communications ............................................................................................................. 19 
7.5 Customer Complaints ...................................................................................................................... 19 
7.6 Lost Property Procedure .................................................................................................................. 20 

8 Emergency Planning and Procedures .......................................................................................... 20 
8.1 Emergency Response Plan ............................................................................................................... 20 
8.2 Show Stop Procedures .................................................................................................................... 20 
8.3 Contingency Planning ...................................................................................................................... 20 
8.4 Crisis Communications Plan ............................................................................................................. 20 

9 Supporting Operational Documents NOT SHOWN HERE ............................................................. 21 
9.1 OD_01 – Emergency Egress & Crowd Flow & Capacities .................................................................... 21 
9.2 OD_02 - Programme Of Music ......................................................................................................... 21 
9.3 OD_03 - Hierarchy of Control – Normal Operations .......................................................................... 21 
9.4 OD_04 - Contact List ........................................................................................................................ 21 
9.5 OD_05 - Incident Report Form ......................................................................................................... 21 
9.6 OD_06 - Near Miss Form.................................................................................................................. 21 
9.7 OD_07 - Safety Document Index ...................................................................................................... 21 
9.8 OD_08 - Show Stop Procedure & Red Card Audit Form ..................................................................... 21 
9.9 OD_09 – Health, Safety & Environmental Statement of Intent .......................................................... 21 
9.10 OD_10 – Site Safety Rules ................................................................................................................ 21 
9.11 OD_11 – Construction Phase Plan .................................................................................................... 21 
9.12 OD_12 – Contractor Safety Audit ..................................................................................................... 21 
9.13 OD_13 – Sign Off To Open Procedure ............................................................................................... 21 
9.14 OD_14 – Site Map ........................................................................................................................... 21 
9.15 OD_15 – Licensing Compliance Matrix ............................................................................................. 21 
9.16 OD_16 – Access and Accreditation Plan ........................................................................................... 21 
9.17 OD_17 – Security Policies ................................................................................................................ 21 
9.18 OD_18 – Security Management Plan ................................................................................................ 21 
9.19 OD_19 – Signage Plan ...................................................................................................................... 21 
9.20 OD_20 – Traffic Management Plan .................................................................................................. 22 
9.21 OD_21 – Customer Ingress and Egress Plan ...................................................................................... 22 
9.22 OD_22 – Medical Plan ..................................................................................................................... 22 
9.23 OD_23 – Weather Management Plan ............................................................................................... 22 
9.24 OD_24 – Waste Management Plan .................................................................................................. 22 
9.25 OD_25 – Noise Management Plan.................................................................................................... 22 
9.26 OD_26 – Fire Safety Plan ................................................................................................................. 22 
9.27 OD_27 – Catering Management Plan ............................................................................................... 22 

38



 

 

9.28 OD_28 – Alcohol Management Plan ................................................................................................. 22 
9.29 OD_29 – Local Residents Engagement Plan ...................................................................................... 22 
9.30 OD_30 – Emergency Response Plan ................................................................................................. 22 
9.31 OD_31 – Crisis Communications Plan ............................................................................................... 22 
9.32 OD_32 – Age Policy ......................................................................................................................... 22 
9.33 OD_33 – Risk Assessment ................................................................................................................ 22 
9.34 OD_ 34 – Contingencies Plan ........................................................................................................... 22 
9.35 OD_35 – Police Reporting Guidance ................................................................................................. 22 
9.36 OD_36 – Water Management Plan................................................................................................... 22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

39



 

 

2 EVENT OVERVIEW 

2.1 INTRODUCTION 
Forbidden Forest is a 1-day electronic music event targeted at 18-35 year olds, offering 4 music arenas within an 

access controlled woodland environment.  There will be number of bars, a food village and clothing/accessories 

traders operating a duel cash and RFID currency system. 

Forbidden Forest customers are predominantly Midlands-based with Derby, Nottingham, Leicester and 

Manchester being the top 4 cities of origin. Customers are able to purchase either festival-only tickets or tickets 

that include coach transfer to and from the venue. Based on historical data, we expect a 50% female 50% male 

split. 

Planning will cater for a maximum of 6,000 guests and 500 staff/artists. A ticketed customer entry system will 

ensure that this number is not exceeded. 

Sunday 5th May 2019 marks the seventh event in the Forbidden Forest series. 

2.2 LOCATION AND VENUE 
Pending license application, Forbidden Forest will take place at Grimsthorpe Estate, Bourne, in the South 

Kesteven countryside district of Lincolnshire. The estate is home to and managed by the Willoughby family and 

hosts a series of both public and private events year-round. 

The estate is situated off the A151, 3 miles north-west of Bourne and 8 miles from the A1. 

Spalding, Stamford and Peterborough serve as the closest train stations (30 - 40 minute drive), with regular 

services connecting the Midlands and the North. 

2.2.1 Venue and Arena Capacity Calculations 

Entry into individual arenas within the event footprint will not be access controlled.  

Security teams will work closely with Event Control, Event Safety Advisor and Event Manager to monitor crowd 
flow and ensure controlled, safe venues, implementing mitigation measures as required to avoid crowd 
management issues that may otherwise require escalation.  

If arena numbers are looking to exceed a safe capacity, customers will be temporarily denied entry and re-
directed to alternative venues. On the ground decisions such as these would be fed into Event Control. 

Document OD_01 (Emergency Egress & Crowd Flow & Capacities – draft) will provide the basis for capacity 
calculations for each arena, accounting for the number and size of fire exit routes and crowd flow, in addition to 
the customer entry design. 

2.3 ENTERTAINMENT 
The programme of music will be produced as OD_02 (document pending production). The programme consists of 

electronic DJs only, with no live acts. 

This will remain a live document that management and Event Control have access to in case of any changes. 

Customers will be notified of any changes via social media and the on-site Customer Information team. 

 

40



 

 

3 ORGANISATION 

3.1 INTRODUCTION 
 

Forbidden Forest is owned by Exurbia Events Limited, a Derby-based company for which Arron Moss, Joe Quinn 

and Oliver Julien are managing directors. Exurbia Events will appoint professional contractors and key personnel 

to collaborate in the planning and delivery of the event.   

Event Manager, Lou Woodward, will be appointed to deliver an Event Safety Management Plan. The Event 

Manager, alongside the Exurbia Directors, will be main point of contact for local authorities and safety advisory 

groups. The Event Manager will be the main point of contact for the Event Liaison and Control teams.  

Event Safety delivery partner, Sygma Safety & Events Ltd, have been appointed to advise on all elements of event 

safety, crowd safety management and licensing.  

Both Event Manager and Event Safety delivery partner have direct responsibilities within the planning and 

delivery team in addition to their consultancy roles. 

Exurbia Directors will manage all elements of site, infrastructure and technical procurement, whilst Matt Tooth 

has been appointed to deliver all elements of site mapping, scheduling and site management. 

Designated Premises Supervisor, Alison Catherine Louise Nicholls, has been appointed to be responsible for all 

licensable activity on show day. 

Exurbia Events maintain responsibility for the commercial elements of the event. 

3.2 SAFETY ADVISORY GROUP (SAG) 
 

SAGs ensure the engagement of all key stakeholders, including the police and other emergency services, to 

support in achieving the licensing objectives. Co-ordinated emergency plans ensure that the police and other 

emergency services can discharge their core duties and have appropriate risk responses to emergencies. 

We will submit all planning documents in the timeline stipulated by licensing and welcome feedback and 

discussion in the SAG review meetings. Planning and documentation will be edited to reflect any change or 

development advised and agreed. 

Whilst Exurbia Events take primary responsibility for maintaining the safety and security of those attending, 

working or performing at Forbidden Forest, the police will be invited to advise and respond to incidents and 

criminal activity. We see an open dialogue with all Responsible Authorities as key to making the event safe and 

successful. 

3.3 EVENT LIAISON TEAM 
 

The Event Liaison Team (ELT) will consist of the following senior event personnel: 

 Event Director – Arron Moss 

 Event Manager – Lou Woodward 

 Event Safety Advisor – Brian Cleary (Sygma Safety & Events) 

 Site Manager – Matt Tooth 

 Head of Event Security – Anthony Webb (13 Noir Group) 

41



 

 

 Head of Event Medical – Graham Kelman (Central Medical Services) 

 Head of Event Fire – Paul Musgrove (Cannon) 

 Head of Traffic / Transport – Brian Goodwin (CPA) 

 DPS – Alison Catherine Louise Nicholls 

ELT members are all senior, experienced and specialised personnel in their respective fields. The Event Manager is 

central to this team and will draw upon the experience of the ELT to guide the safe and successful management of 

the event. 

The ELT will invite relevant personnel from the below external agencies should they wish to join for key meetings, 

and / or be based in Event Control throughout the event day:  

 South Kesteven District Council 

 Lincolnshire Police 

 East Midlands Ambulance Service 

 Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue Service 

ELT meetings will take place at 11:30 on Saturday 4th May, 11:30 and 18:00 on Sunday 5th May (final times tbc). 

Event Directors are designated as key decision makers for Exurbia Events, responsible for any decision-making 

that involves conflict in resource or that has brand implication. Members of the ELT will be available throughout 

to advise and support. 

3.4 HIERARCHY OF CONTROL – NORMAL OPERATIONS 
 

The hierarchy of control under normal operations will be produced as OD_03 (document pending production). 

Under emergency / incident response conditions, the hierarchy of control shifts, detail of which can be found in 

section 8. 

3.5 STAFF AND CONTRACTORS 
 

Exurbia Events and their contractors will appoint teams to deliver on-site. All personnel will be experienced and 

competent for the roles which they are undertaking. 

All Exurbia Events staff and subcontractor staff will be advanced by their contracting party with all relevant event 

information and the site safety rules.  

There will be an on-line induction process which will give all staff and contractors the information they need 

regarding safety on site; a short test to prove understanding of the points; and a code/ID for each individual so 

that they can be checked in at the site without a lengthy induction, resource heavy process. 

There will be briefings and tool-box talks throughout for specific work and risk management. 

All Exurbia Events staff and subcontractor staff will be delivered role-specific briefings by their managers which 

will reiterate safety information.  

 

 

 

 

42



 

 

4 COMMUNICATIONS 

4.1 CONTACT LIST 
 

OD_04 (Contact List – pending document production) will provide a full contact list for the reference of the 

Control team. This list will be clearly displayed in the Control Room and a condensed version, containing only key 

management staff will be distributed via email to all on-site teams.    

4.2 EVENT CONTROL 
 

Event Control are responsible for: 

 Co-ordinating communication and logging between Security and Medical Controllers. 

 Co-ordinating on-site communication between all departments. 

 Logging calls within the Event Log (can be provided upon request), passing on to relevant departments 

and following up on the status of resolutions.  

o This Log should highlight any trends in an aim to resolve the cause of any repetitive incidents.  

o A complete Event Log will be passed to Event Management at the end of the event.  

 Following up on all incidents, logging all issues and actions appropriately, as guided by the emergency 

protocol as laid out in the Emergency Plan (OD_30). 

 Carrying out Sign Off To Open procedures (OD_13). 

 Coordinating with Safety, Security and Stage Management to track arena capacities. 

 Providing regular reports to the Senior Management team prior to ELT meetings. 

 Processing and tracking incident report forms in the Incident Reporting Log. 

 Weather monitoring. 

 Logging any local residents issues and passing onto the relevant event teams to rectify. A phone number 

will be distributed locally for community contact. 

Event Control will be operational 08:00 – 19:00 on Saturday 4th and 08:00 – 00:00 on Sunday 5th May. Event 

Control will sit on channel 1, and will also be available on the following phone number: 07751 865 817. 

Security Control will be operational from 10:00 – 00:00. Outside of these hours, Head of Security will act as 

remote Security Control. Security Control will sit on channel 3, and will also be available on the following phone 

number: 0800 772 395 7 or 07809 697 550. 

Medical Control will be operational from 11:00 – 00:00. Outside of these hours, Head of Medical will act as 

remote Medical Control. Medical Control will sit on channel 2, and will also be available on the following phone 

number: 07941 364 714. 

Traffic Control will be operational from 09:30 – 01:00 as a remote position. Traffic Control will sit on channel 5, 

and will also be available on the following phone number: 07824 014 665. 

All radio users will be briefed on the protocol for Event Control both verbally and via the following notice on the 

back of the channel list: 

Any calls that need to be logged should go via Event Control. 
Any calls that are critical or multi-agency should go via Event Control. 

Any calls that are non-critical or internal to your department should not go via Event Control. 
If in doubt, go to Event Control! 

 

43



 

 

The Event Control phone number will be distributed at the discretion of Exurbia Events to key stakeholders so 

that any issues requiring immediate response can be fed straight into the event team for resolution. 

Agency presence is welcomed in Event Control. 

4.3 INCIDENT REPORTING 
 

Guidance will be produced to advise event management on incident reporting actions and timeframes where 

police involvement is required (OD_35 – document pending production). 

Report Forms will be completed by all on-site staff in order to keep a record of any incidents that occur which 

may require either immediate or retrospective remedial action, or simply for purposes of logging. Report Forms 

also serve the purpose of expanding the Event Log with increased detail for incidents.  

Report Forms will be processed, tracked and stored by Event Control in order to ensure a complete overview of 

any recurring issues that may require attention, and to allow management to refer back to this data both during 

and post-event. Event Management and Event Control will work with the Event Safety Advisor to ensure 

compliance and remedial action. 

Incident Report Forms (OD_05 ) will be distributed to all teams to be completed by the appropriate member of 

staff and returned to Event Control for central storage and tracking. Incidents that might be reported via these 

Accident-Incident Report Forms are complaints, minor injuries, verbal abuse, etc.  An Accident Report Book will be 

completed for any accidents sustained at work as per legal requirements. 

Security teams will complete their respective Incident Report Forms electronically and  distribute to the Event 

Management and Event Control. Incidents that might be reported via these electronic report forms are thefts, 

verbal or physical abuse, patient treatment, etc. 

Near Miss Report Forms (OD_06 ) will be completed by the Event Safety Advisor or Production Manager in order 

to report on and investigate dangerous occurrences. These forms will be returned to Event Control throughout 

build and break. 

4.4 DATA REPORTING 
 

Via the coordination of Event Control, the Event Manager will collate real time data from the following 

departments: 

 Security 

o Number of evictions 

o Number of customers refused entry 

o Number of customers processed via Enhanced Search 

 Prohibited items seized 

 Persons refused entry 

 Persons granted entry 

o Number of customers handed over to Lincolnshire Police 

o Number of customers left site 

 Medical 

o Number of medical cases 

o Number of welfare cases 

o Number of patients taken to hospital  

o Any recurring / concerning issues 

44



 

 

 Stage Management / Arena Security Supervisors 

o Capacities  

 Traffic / Transport 

o Number of coaches arrived 

o Number of public vehicles on site 

 Accreditation Manager 

o Number of customers accredited 

o Number of non-customers accredited 

Event Control will build an appropriate system in which to log this information, providing a full report at the event 

of the event. 

4.5 DOCUMENT CONTROL AND DISTRIBUTION 
 

This document has been created by the Event Manager of Forbidden Forest, with consultation from contracted 

Event Safety Advisor (Sygma Safety & Events), alongside consultation and/or approval from relevant local 

agencies. This shall remain a working document with any early issues being subject to change. We shall issue to 

the required external agencies no less than 28 days prior to the event and will submit a final version no less than 

10 days prior to the event (timeline to be confirmed by licensing). Any feedback / input from the local authorities 

will be processed and policy / procedure documents will be reviewed accordingly. 

Operational documents will be created during the project lifecycle. Should operational documents not yet be final 
within a document issue, they will be referenced as pending to indicate where further information will be held. 
Operational documents (event policy, procedure and information documents referenced by their OD numbers) 
are controlled by version numbers and tracked in a Safety Document Index (OD_07 – document pending 
finalisation). This Index also tracks the review and sign off of documents by key personnel.  
 
Documents will be centrally stored in a shared dropbox folder and once signed off, will be distributed to relevant 
persons as per the distribution list illustrated in the index. Note that index has been appended to this plan on 2 
December. A final version can be provided upon request prior to the event. Where required we will store relevant 
documents on a live web-page as we are aware that many responsible authorities have difficulties with access to 
dropbox and similar systems. 
 
Key staff will be asked to sign to confirm their receipt and understanding of key emergency procedures upon 
receipt of red cards (see Show Stop Procedures OD_08 – draft).  
 
We will develop an external issue list for receipt of the Event Safety Management Plan and supporting documents 

as per guidance from licensing. South Kesteven District Council will distribute all issues to any other relevant 

parties once in receipt of the documentation. 

4.6 RADIO SYSTEM 
 

Key personnel will be equipped with radios (and mobile phones as backup).  
 
Radio Communications shall be facilitated by the use of a DP4400 radio system compromising of 16 talk groups 

and 2 digital repeaters as shown in the channel list that will be distributed with all radios. Radio propagation tests 

shall be conducted within the geographical spread of the event to ensure as far as is possible maintained 

communications. The Digital Repeater System will be powered by temporary power installation. 

Radio channel list will be inserted below once confirmed. 

45



 

 

Code words (if recommended) and call signs will be found in the Emergency Plan (see OD_30 – document pending 

production). 

4.7 LOCAL RESIDENTS ENGAGEMENT 
 

Our local residents engagement plan will ensure proactive communications with local residents throughout the 

project lifecycle. We will share plans, invite feedback and openly discuss any concerns and associated control 

measures around potential local disruption and public nuisance.  

This plan will also provide information on how to raise any concerns during build / show / break regarding 

perceived public nuisance, providing a contact number and instruction for build, show and break phases of the 

event. Picture messaging will be encouraged to provide clear evidence of issues in order to ensure efficient and 

appropriate response. 

The phone will be monitored by Event Management and issues dealt with appropriately. The Nosie Management 
team will provide guidance of what information is required to deal with any noise complaints effectively and 
Event Management will pass this information over to the Noise Management team upon receipt of any 
complaints. 
 
 

5 SAFETY MANAGEMENT 

 

Planning and delivery of the event will be focussed on the delivery of the following licensing objectives: 

 The prevention of crime and disorder 

 Public safety 

 The prevention of public nuisance 

 The protection of children from harm 

This section expands upon the policies, systems and processes in place to ensure delivery of the above. 

OD_15 (document pending production) provides a compliance matrix to ensure that all license objectives are 

delivered. 

5.1 HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT OF INTENT 
 

OD_09 (draft) will detail the Exurbia Events Health, Safety and Environmental Statement of Intent. 

5.2 EVENT RISK ASSESSMENT 
 

The Event Risk Assessment (OD_33 – document pending production) will be completed by event safety delivery 

partner, Sygma Safety & Events, and can be provided upon request in support of this document. The Risk 

Assessment is a living document and will be developed throughout the planning phase and as a result of prior 

show learnings. It will continue development throughout delivery. Risk Assessment provides the basis for the 

Event Safety and Management Plan, ensuring that planning demonstrates risk management via implementation 

46



 

 

of the identified risk control measures based upon the following criteria: Eliminate, Reduce, Isolate, Control, PPE, 

Discipline. 

Risk control measures identified throughout the Risk Assessment will be implemented by the event teams and 

subcontractors and will be closely monitored by Event Safety. 

Sygma’s approach to Safety on site is two-fold:  

As enablers; working with creative and construction teams and ensuring that all decisions on site have an input 

from safety; using risk management to allow ambitious creative plans whilst protecting the public.  

As rule enforcers; they will help the management team enforce the site safety rules. 

5.3 METHOD STATEMENT 
 

The Staff and Contractor Safety Guidance will be found as OD_10 – (draft). 

The Construction Phase Plan will be found as OD_11 (draft). 

5.4 CONTRACTOR SAFETY AUDIT 
 

All contractors will undergo a safety audit, carried out by Sygma Safety & Events, ensuring appropriate 

qualification, competence and insurance for the service that they are providing. 

The Safety Audit tracking matrix will be found as OD_12 (document pending production). 

5.5 MONITORING HEALTH AND SAFETY ARRANGEMENTS 
 

Sygma Safety are responsible for monitoring health and safety arrangements and reporting back to Production, 

Event Control and Event Management. 

Ongoing checks will be carried out to include, but not limited to, the following areas: 

 Staging 

 Structures 

 Food 

 Bars 

 Barriers 

 Maintenance 

 EMX Routes 

 Impacts of weather  

 Ground conditions 

 Tree conditions 

5.6 SIGN OFF TO OPEN PROCEDURE 
 

OD_13 (document pending production) will detail on Sign Off To Open procedures which are carried out before 

the venue is opened to customers to ensure public safety. 

47



 

 

5.7 CROWD SAFETY MANAGEMENT  
 

The full Emergency Egress & Crowd Flow & Capacities will be available via OD_01 (draft).  

The Security Management Plan (OD-18 – document pending production) will also provide an analysis of crowd 

management, from design to implementation to management.  

The Customer Ingress and Egress Plan (OD_21 – document pending finalisation) will also detail ingress 

calculations and planning. 

5.7.1 Site Layout and Access Planning 

 

The Site Plan will be produced as OD_14 (draft). The site layout will be designed with consideration to health and 

safety and expected on-site numbers. Considerations of customer access, emergency routes and stage locations 

have all been taken into account. 

An access matrix (see detail within OD_16 – Access and Accreditation Plan – document pending production) will 

be  built to manage and control access for different groups into various areas of the site based upon the 

accreditation they are issued. 

5.7.2 Customer Accreditation 

 

Detail will be available in OD_16 (document pending production). 

5.7.3 Non Customer Accreditation 

 

Detail will be available in OD_16 (document pending production). 

5.7.4 Emergency Exits 

 

Emergency Exits (EMX) and muster zones will be planned  to account for relevant guidance and are illustrated on 

the Site Map. Signage, lighting and stewards will direct the public towards emergency exits if required. All on-site 

staff will be briefed on EMX routes. 

5.7.5 Security  

 

13 Noir Group Limited will be contracted to provide security and risk management services for the event. They 

have extensive experience of both overt and covert security operations at events and have been engaged for 4 

previous Exurbia shows, improving security delivery to standards that have received very positive police feedback.  

We will consult with 13 Noir Security management on all security policies, and all operatives will be briefed on the 

policies concerning the admission, exclusion and safeguarding of customers, artists, guests and staff, in addition 

information specific to their roles. Please see OD_17 (document pending production) for Security Policies. Local 

authority feedback from previous events has been built into the development of our security policies, schedules 

and planning to ensure improved standards of public safety and effective prevention of crime and disorder. 

All operatives comply with all current SIA legislation and will be recognisable by their individually numbered 13 

Noir branded uniform. 

The full security schedule will be available upon request (document pending production). 

48



 

 

Security teams will support both Medical and Traffic management as required. 

OD_18 (document pending production) will detail the full Security Management Plan. 

5.7.6 Barriers and Fencing 

 

A variety of barrier and fencing options will be used at the event to assist with crowd, capacity and public safety 
management. These systems will include: 
  
Steel shield: The perimeter of the licensed event site will be surrounded by 3.45m high steel shield. This is anti-
climb and will be in all outward facing areas of the event to prevent unaccredited access.  
  
Heras Fencing: 3.5m x 2m anti-climb ‘Heras’ fencing will be used in the wooded areas to secure the front of house 
from back of house areas, as well as distinguish the different Arena areas. These panels will be clad with branded 
scrim to shield certain areas from public view, as well as being utilised for directional purposes. 
   
Pedestrian Barrier: 2m K-base pedestrian barriers will be used in a variety of areas to help manage crowd flow 
and demarcate paths but not as a divisions between areas – Heras and Steel Hoarding will do this. Pedestrian 
barriers will be used on this event to create temporary lanes for vehicles, delineate walking routes in the car park, 
the pickup/drop-off area, the taxi rank, as search lanes by the main entrance, queuing lanes for the bars and in 
other areas to guide attendees whilst queuing or moving through populated areas. 
  
Pit Barrier: In front of each of the stages we will use FOS Barrier (Front of Stage Barrier) where the Arena space 
meets the Stage. These high-load capacity A frame structures are purposely built to deal with high densities of 
people and due to the step and appropriate height are able to assist Pit Security with controlling crowds and 
removing attendees from it, if required. 
 
Barrier checks are conducted throughout event period. 

 

5.7.7 Signage Plan 

 

Signage will be installed to for instructional, directional and labelling purposes. The Signage Master Plan will be 

available as OD_19 (document pending production). 

5.7.8 Traffic and Transport Management 

 

CPA Events will be contracted to provide event traffic management services. They have extensive experience of 
traffic management provision at events nationwide. Transport providers, Priory Coaches and Reliant Transport, 
will work closely with CPA to ensure joined up planning and delivery. This will be CPA’s fourth Exurbia show. 
 
The Traffic Management Plan (OD_20 – document pending finalisation) has been developed by CPA with an aim 
to minimise disruption to local areas, to ensure good flow of vehicles in and out of the site / immediate vicinity 
and to minimise pedestrian vehicle interface wherever possible.  

5.7.9 Customer Ingress and Egress  

 

Emergency Egress & Crowd Flow & Capacities (OD_01 – draft) will be developed to base capacities and egress 

planning on.  

49



 

 

Appendix E in the Security Management Plan (OD_16 – document pending production) will provide an analysis of 

crowd management during ingress and egress from design, to information, to management. 

Figures 3 and 4 in the Traffic Management Plan (OD_20 – draft) will provide information on traffic flow and 

contingencies specific to ingress and egress. Additional contingencies will be implemented to minimise impact to 

external roads. 

Staffing levels and infrastructure across both traffic and security teams will be planned to support the varying 

demands of each period of pedestrian and vehicle movement. 

OD_21 (document pending finalisation) will detail the full customer ingress and egress plan. 

5.7.9.1 Ingress 

 

The customer entrance layout and infrastructure will be planned based upon a worst-case scenario that 100% of 

customers could arrive in only half of the full ingress period of time.  

A proposed layout plan will be available in (OD_21 – document pending finalisation). 

Queues and searching will be managed by security teams. Ticket scanning will be managed by the Event Genius 

team. 

The Gates Manager will oversee all elements of customer ingress between 12:00 – 17:00 on show day, ensuring a 

collaborative, joined up management of the various elements of ingress. Event Safety will support the Gates 

Manager in all decision-making regarding crowd safety management. 

The show-day responsibilities of overseeing ingress are as follows: 

 Ensuring the Entrance set up is fit for purpose ref infrastructure, furniture, signage, water, WIFI, security 
and ticket scanning resources, etc 

 Overseeing all functions of customer and guest / artist / staff entry, to include ticket scanning, security 
processes and cloakroom 

 Facilitate communications between ticket scanning, guestlist, safety, security and traffic / transport 
teams, feeding into Event Control as required  

 Briefing and overseeing ticket scanning, guestlist teams 

 Ensuring efficient scanner troubleshooting 

 Liaising with traffic / transport, safety, security, and ticket scanning teams to be reactive to crowd 
dynamics and arrivals 

 Feeding entry numbers (customer and non-customer) to Event Management (to be logged) 

 Feeding exit numbers to Event Management (to be logged) (obtaining from security) 

The traffic / transport teams will report into Event Control to inform of any delays to expected arrivals or any 
issues externally to site that may affect ingress. 

5.7.9.2 Egress 

 

The Gates Manager will oversee all elements of egress between 20:00 – 23:30 on show day, ensuring a 

collaborative, joined up management of the various elements of egress. Event Safety will support the Gates 

Manager in all decision-making regarding crowd safety management. 

The show-day responsibilities of overseeing egress are as follows: 

50



 

 

 Ensuring the pedestrian and vehicles egress routes are sufficiently resourced with infrastructure, signage, 
lighting, etc 

 Overseeing all functions of egress, including pedestrian (security) and vehicle management (traffic 
management) 

 Facilitate communications between safety, security and traffic / transport teams, feeding into Event 
Control as required  

 Liaising with traffic / transport, safety, security, cloakroom to be reactive to crowd dynamics and 
departures 

The traffic / transport teams will report into Event Control to inform of any delays to expected departures or any 
issues externally to site that may affect egress. 

5.8 MEDICAL AND WELFARE 
 

Central Medical Services (CMS) will be contracted to provide event medical services. They have extensive 

experience of medical provision at events nationwide and work closely with local ambulance service, EMAS. CMS 

have worked with Exurbia on 6 previous shows. 

CMS will be providing medical resources which will increase the scope of medical issues that we can deal with 

internally, reducing the number of people that have to be re-directed to local medical services. 

5.8.1 Medical Plan 

 

OD_22 (document pending finalisation) will detail the full Medical Plan.  

 

5.8.2 Lost or Vulnerable Persons 

 

Should an individual go missing from their friends, this can be reported to either Security or Medical (or any 

member of the event team). This will then be picked up by Event Control who will ensure that all on the ground 

teams are notified of the identity of the missing person and their reunion with the concerned parties. 

Vulnerable persons are defined as those with physical, emotional or psychological needs. The Medical team will 

manage the needs of any such individuals on a case-by-case basis. Where mobility assistance is required, security 

and stewarding resources will assist as far as is reasonably practicable. 

5.9 PROTECTING CHILDREN FROM HARM 
 

The event will be over 18s only. OD_32 (document pending production) will detail the full Age Policy for ticketing. 

The bars will be operating a challenge 25 policy as per the Alcohol Management Plan (OD_28- document pending 

production).  

 

 

 

51



 

 

5.10 SITE AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

5.10.1 Construction Design and Management 

 

As per the 2015 HSE Construction (Design and Management) regulations, principle contractor Exurbia Events / 

Eventuate will produce and issue a Construction Phase Plan (see OD_11) to all production subcontractors.  

5.10.2 Temporary Demountable Structures and Infrastructure 

 

The event will employ a variety of temporary demountable structures including marquees, creative set designs 
and stages to deliver this event. All will be signed off after construction to the manufacturers design principles 
and all sign-offs will be held by Production / Event Safety. All structures will be regularly monitored by Event 
Production and the Event Safety Advisors and appropriate measures taken, and built into our planning and show 
stop procedures, if they become unsafe or impractical from an operational perspective. 

5.10.3 Weather Management 

 

OD_23 (document pending production) will detail the full weather management plan. 

 

5.10.4 Electrical Installs and Lighting 

 

Flying Hire will undertake all temporary electrical installations for this event. Generated power systems will be 
deployed for this event. 
  
The installation will be signed off to BS7909 standards by Flying Hire’s on-site electricians 
  
All electrical installations and equipment used should comply with the general requirements of the Electricity at 
Work Regulations 1989, i.e. installed, tested and maintained in accordance with the latest edition of the 
Institution of Electrical Engineers “Regulation for Electrical Installations” and other relevant guidance.  Regard 
should be paid to HSE Guidance Note GS50 - “Electrical Safety for Place of Entertainment”.  Temporary 
installations cannot fully comply in all respects with the IEE Regulations and details of variances should be 
provided. 
  
Elements of the event and de-rig will be taking place during the hours of darkness. Sufficient ambient installed 
lighting will be available around the site by way of floodlighting / festoon / walkway lighting being installed as part 
of the site installation to remove dark areas and in particular in access / egress locations and EMX routes. 
  
Hand held tools should, where possible, be 110v or battery operated.  Where this is not possible and for other 
hand-held equipment, residual current devices having a 30mA tripping current and a maximum operating time of 
30 milliseconds should be used.  Test buttons should be incorporated. 
 

5.10.5 Sanitary Facilities 

 

The event site will be furnished with a sufficient number of toilet facilities for the event, based on Purple Guide 
calculations given an opening time of over 6 hours and with alcohol being served. They will be spread around the 
site in various appropriate locations, with separate backstage facilities available to staff and performers.  
    

52



 

 

These facilities will be maintained by our cleaning provider, Contractor TBC, throughout the day. The toilets will 
then be cleaned and pumped out by the toilet provider before removal from site. 

5.10.6 Waste Management and Sustainability 

 

Contractor TBC will be contracted by Exurbia Events Limited to deliver litter picking services, with Production 

Management having oversight of the full Waste Management Plan (OD_24 – document pending production), to 

include sustainability initiatives. 

5.10.7 Water Supply and Safety 

 

Contractor TBC will be contracted by Exurbia Events Limited to deliver water supply, with Production 

Management having oversight of the full Water Management Plan (OD_36 – document pending production).  

5.11 NOISE MANAGEMENT 
 

Joynes and Nash will be contracted by Exurbia Events to produce a Noise Management Plan (please see OD_25 – 

document pending finalisation) and monitor sound levels on-site to ensure minimal local disruption. They will 

liaise with Event Control re noise levels as per 4.7. 

5.12 FIRE SAFETY 
 

Cannon will be contracted by Exurbia Events Limited to deliver fire safety management for the festival. The Fire 

Safety Management Plan, to include the Fire Risk Assessment and FSE Schedule, will be available as OD_26 

(document pending finalisation). 

 

5.13 FOOD, DRINK AND CONCESSIONS 
 

D&J Catering will be contracted by Exurbia Events Limited to provide and manage customer catering facilities. 

Please see OD_28 (document pending production) for the full Catering Management Plan. 

Crew Catering will be provided by TBC during build and break, whilst on show day D&J food traders will fulfil 

requirements. 

Freemans Bars will be contracted by Exurbia Events Limited to provide and manage the customer bars. 

Designated Premises Supervisor, Alison Nicholls, will be appointed to be responsible for all licensable activity on 

show day.. Please see OD_28 (document pending production) for the full Alcohol Management Plan. 

Exurbia Events will directly source and manage other concessions.  

All traders will be advanced with and subject to security policies, including stock vehicle searching. 

 

 

 

53



 

 

6 ARTIST MANAGEMENT 

 

Exurbia Events Limited will deliver all artist logistics and liaison functions.  

7 CUSTOMER SALES AND SERVICES 

7.1 LOCKERS 
 

There will be lockers available upon entry to the site, open from 12:00 – end of sweep. The lockers will run on a 

cash / RFID ticket system. The lockers will be operated by an external contractor. 

Not only are lockers proven to reduce petty crime, they also reduce the number of lost items that are often 

reported as stolen for insurance claims. 

7.2 INFORMATION POINT 
 

There will be a Customer Information Point located in zone 1, managed by Exurbia staff . 

7.3 CUSTOMER SALES 
 

Event Genius will provide RFID services where customers can either pre-pay or top up at designated stations 

across site. 

All customers will be informed of the RFID system and Event Genius will provide support and troubleshooting 

services via on-site supervisors. The RFID system does not require a contingency as it works offline as a back-up.  

7.4 CUSTOMER COMMUNICATIONS 
 

Customers will be given key information prior to the show via email notification and on the website. This covers 

conditions of entry, do’s and don’t’s, arrival and departure instructions, etc. The social media team will be 

monitoring all social media platforms throughout the event and be able to communicate with customers via social 

media channels. 

7.5 CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS 
 

Should customers bring any complaints to the Customer Information Point, their complaint will be logged and 

they will also be asked to email info@forbidden-forest.co.uk where their issue will be dealt with post-event by the 

management team. 

 

54

mailto:info@forbidden-forest.co.uk


 

 

7.6 LOST PROPERTY PROCEDURE 
 

Lost and found property will be managed by the Customer Information Point. 

Any item(s) that are found during the event / during the clean-up process of the site whilst the venue is still within 

the hire period for which Exurbia Events are in control of the venue the following procedures will apply: 

 Found items will be available to collect from the Customer Information Point during event opening hours 

 Any items not collected during event opening hours will be available to redeem via info@forbidden-

forest.co.uk up to 14 days after the event. 

 If contact is not made within 14 days of the event, then the item(s) will be destroyed. 

 Whilst Exurbia Events will endeavour the safe keeping of any lost property item(s) they hold no 

responsibility for any loss or damage to the item(s). 

 

8 EMERGENCY PLANNING AND PROCEDURES 

8.1 EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN 
 

OD_30 (document pending production) will detail for the full Emergency Response Plan. 

This will be supported by OD_35 (document pending production) which will provide reporting guidelines for 

incident reporting both within and external to the event organisation. 

8.2 SHOW STOP PROCEDURES 
 

OD_08 details the Show Stop Procedure. 

8.3 CONTINGENCY PLANNING  
 

OD_34 (document pending production) will detail contingency planning. 

8.4 CRISIS COMMUNICATIONS PLAN 
 

OD_31(document pending production) will detail the Crisis Communications Plan. 

55

mailto:info@forbidden-forest.co.uk
mailto:info@forbidden-forest.co.uk


 

 

9 SUPPORTING OPERATIONAL DOCUMENTS 

9.1 OD_01 – EMERGENCY EGRESS & CROWD FLOW & CAPACITIES 

9.2 OD_02 - PROGRAMME OF MUSIC 

9.3 OD_03 - HIERARCHY OF CONTROL – NORMAL OPERATIONS 

9.4 OD_04 - CONTACT LIST 

9.5 OD_05 - INCIDENT REPORT FORM 

9.6 OD_06 - NEAR MISS FORM 

9.7 OD_07 - SAFETY DOCUMENT INDEX 

9.8 OD_08 - SHOW STOP PROCEDURE & RED CARD AUDIT FORM 

9.9 OD_09 – HEALTH, SAFETY & ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT OF INTENT 

9.10 OD_10 – SITE SAFETY RULES 

9.11 OD_11 – CONSTRUCTION PHASE PLAN 

9.12 OD_12 – CONTRACTOR SAFETY AUDIT 

9.13 OD_13 – SIGN OFF TO OPEN PROCEDURE 

9.14 OD_14 – SITE MAP 

9.15 OD_15 – LICENSING COMPLIANCE MATRIX 

9.16 OD_16 – ACCESS AND ACCREDITATION PLAN 

9.17 OD_17 – SECURITY POLICIES 

9.18 OD_18 – SECURITY MANAGEMENT PLAN 

9.19 OD_19 – SIGNAGE PLAN 

56



 

 

9.20 OD_20 – TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

9.21 OD_21 – CUSTOMER INGRESS AND EGRESS PLAN 

9.22 OD_22 – MEDICAL PLAN 

9.23 OD_23 – WEATHER MANAGEMENT PLAN 

9.24 OD_24 – WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

9.25 OD_25 – NOISE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

9.26 OD_26 – FIRE SAFETY PLAN 

9.27 OD_27 – CATERING MANAGEMENT PLAN 

9.28 OD_28 – ALCOHOL MANAGEMENT PLAN 

9.29 OD_29 – LOCAL RESIDENTS ENGAGEMENT PLAN 

9.30 OD_30 – EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN 

9.31 OD_31 – CRISIS COMMUNICATIONS PLAN 

9.32 OD_32 – AGE POLICY 

9.33 OD_33 – RISK ASSESSMENT 

9.34 OD_ 34 – CONTINGENCIES PLAN 

9.35 OD_35 – POLICE REPORTING GUIDANCE 

9.36 OD_36 – WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 

 

57



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

CROWD MANAGEMENT PLAN 

FORBIDDEN FOREST 2019, GRIMSTHORPE 

DRAFT 

NEXT REVISION DUE FEB 2019 

 

 

 

58



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

2 
 

Contents 
Site Plan 2019 ...................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

1. INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................................................ 5 

2. ARRIVAL ....................................................................................................................................................................... 7 

3. INGRESS ....................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

4. Ticket Scanning .......................................................................................................................................................... 10 

5. CIRCULATION ............................................................................................................................................................. 11 

7. Lighting....................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

8. COMMUNICATION ..................................................................................................................................................... 12 

9. EGRESS ....................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

10. DISPERSAL .............................................................................................................................................................. 15 

11. CONTINGENCY ....................................................................................................................................................... 16 

12. EMERGENCY PROCEDURES .................................................................................................................................... 17 

APPENDIX ........................................................................................................................................................................... 17 

APPENDIX I – NOTES FROM THE PURPLE GUIDE ........................................................................................................... 18 

APPENDIX II – SITE PLAN WITH STAGES MAR KED......................................................................................................... 19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

59



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

3 
 

Site Plan 2019 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

60



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

4 
 

61



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

5 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
The purpleguide.co.uk suggests: 

13.3 Crowd management should be considered as an essential element at the start of an event 

planning process. Its inclusion ensures that the correct design, information and management 

system is developed in tandem with other aspects of the event plan. It should follow a progressive 

path of: 

 arrival 

 ingress 

 circulation (event) 

 egress 

 contingency 

 emergency procedures 

This document is an overarching plan demonstrating the ethos and approach to Crowd 

Management at Forbidden Forest 2019. These management plans are our preferred approach 

over a Crowd Control methodology. Our staff and stewards will keep Customer Service and Safety 

as high on the agenda as security. 

Although each of the companies employed will have their own particular approach to crowd 

management, they will sign up to this overarching document and work within the parameters 

herein. 

In recent times the approach outlined in the Purple Guide has been widely adopted leading to the 

acronym DIMALICED to describe the various levels of planning and management involved. 

DESIGN 

INFORMATION 

MANAGEMENT 

These primary influences are applied across all elements of planning: 

ARRIVAL 

LAST MILE (really just the distance between parking/PUDO and arena entry) 

INGRESS (both normal and emergency) 

CIRCULATION (both normal and emergency) 

EGRESS (both normal and emergency) 

DISPERSAL (final departure from the site and the local area) 

62



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

6 
 

Many of these elements overlap with other sections of our Event Management Plan – we will 

endeavour to highlight these links and direct the reader to the relevant sections. 

Grimsthorpe is a new site for Forbidden Forest in 2019; this expansive estate ranges from the 

spectacular castle and its formal grounds to the wider park and the ancient forests managed by 

the estate. There are many hard-standing roads and routes around the site enabling farm and 

forestry plant and machinery access to all areas – all of which lend themselves to great access 

routes for an event. 

Although there are a number of small events held at Grimsthorpe, Forbidden Forest will be the 

first significant music event and a separate Premises license is being applied for. As well as being 

an operational document, this Crowd management Plan supports that application. 

Crowd Management at Forbidden Forest 2019 will be overseen by the Event Controller with 

operational assistance from 13Noir Security and stewards, volunteer stewards, staff and other 

volunteers. This document should be read as part of the overall Event Management Plan and not 

in isolation. The Internal and External Traffic Management Plans are particularly pertinent to the 

crowd management plan.  

From the Traffic Management Plan, there is one public access gate (Access Point 2 in the TMP) 

where all vehicles will enter the site and then be directed to parking or PUDO (Pick Up/Drop Off) 

areas. Once on foot, visitors will be directed to the walking route to the event arena entrance. 

The safety, traffic and security personnel making up the Crowd Management Team for this event 

have all worked together in similar capacities for Exurbia, the promoters of Forbidden Forest.  

 

Audience Demographic 

Exurbia events attracts a regular and loyal audience, with the bulk of people travelling to their 

events from the East Midlands area. 

Their events are always over-18 only and the main age range is 25 – 40; with a split of 50/50 

female/male attendees. These are young professional people with disposable income, a love of 

the EDM music genre and loyalty to particular DJs, music sub-genres and the events staged by 

Exurbia. 

Medical and violence incidents at Exurbia events are very low as there is a community spirit 

amongst the crowd and regular attendees are aware of the policies regarding non-acceptable 

items, the “Rave Safe” messaging and the search regimes that take place at the entry to the sites. 

 

  

63



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

7 
 

2. ARRIVAL 
 
DESIGN 
There is a full Traffic Management Plan from CPA which is proposed for local Council, Highways 
and Police approval. This dictates how the event will deal with vehicles coming to site and how the 
people in those vehicles are delivered into the site – and when – and their egress at the end of the 
event. This is a one-day event, there is no camping and no overnight accommodation (except for 
some crew and staff) 
 
INFORMATION 
Information is available to those travelling to the event through the Forbidden Forest 2019 
website, through signage on the approaching roads and through signage on approach to the site 
and within the site. 
 
MANAGEMENT 
The site arrival is managed by CPA with 13Noir Security and Signage and TM equipment by The AA. 
 
2.1 Expected Traffic Levels and Arrival Times  

The draft breakdown of Staff & Public travel modes for 2019 is shown below – as tickets are 
allocated and bus schedules are confirmed this will be updated. 

 
 
These figures are based on the nature of Exurbia’s events and the demographic typical of their 
audience. As a one day event there is less emphasis on shared transport in private cars and less 
likelihood of “designated drivers” for groups – the short nature of the event means that taxi, 
private hire and scheduled/private coaches are favoured.  
 
Although the event does not open (arenas) until 12.00 on the day, vehicle access will be permitted 
from 11.00 to spread arrivals across a longer period and prevent congestion outside of the site. 
Based on previous events with a similar audience demographic, we expect the main bulk of 
arrivals to be between 12.00 and 16.00. 
 
2.2 Information and greeting on Arrival 
 
As well as information in advance regarding arrival on the Forbidden Forest website and facebook 
pages, there will be staff to meet and greet attendees as they arrive. This customer service 
function ensures that there is a friendly face to give information and directions for access to the 
main arenas and other facilities on site; it also serves as first look at those arriving and gives an 
opportunity for advice to be given regarding, for example, leaving bulky bags in vehicles; gives an 
opportunity for some gentle “fine tuning” of attitudes if people arrive grumpy (after a long 
journey) or over boisterous; gives relatable intelligence between stewards and arena security for 
specific groups or individuals who may need additional assistance and scrutiny at the entry point. 

64



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

8 
 

 
3. LAST MILE (really the last few hundred metres!) 
 
DESIGN 
Strategically placed signage and wayfinding staff will be deployed in and around the car parks and 
the PUDO points. The design intends to manage the expectations of those arriving as to when the 
site will be open, what they can expect and how best to safely and efficiently enter the site. 
 
INFORMATION 
The signage will detail both directional information and items not allowed in the site, search 
policies, drugs policies as well as information about programming and safety information. 
 
MANAGEMENT 
CPA Car Park staff, 13Noir Security and Exurbia gate staff. 
 

  

65



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

9 
 

3. INGRESS 
3.1 Gates will open at 11.00 on 5th May and close for entry at 20.30 (this is not a hard closure 

time, but ticket-holders will be encouraged to be on site before this time to help us with setting 

for egress).  

3.2 Although the car park opening time is advertised at 11.00 and the public gates advertised 

as 12.00 opening, FF19 will ensure that the car park is ready to open at 10.00 to alleviate any 

queuing traffic.    

The pre-entry queuing space will have facilities including toilets, water points and ice cream vans 

to ensure those waiting outside are catered for. We will also deploy our medical staff at these 

gates in case of prolonged queuing. 

3.3 Following ticket checks attendees move on to the Search Marquee. This marquee consists 

of between 15 and 20 search lanes and one wide exit lane – anyone without a genuine ticket, 

refusing to submit to a search, in possession of contraband items or failing the “attitude” test will 

be directed to the exit lane and escorted back to their vehicle or to the eviction tent. 

3.4  In addition, drug detecting dogs will be deployed in and around the search tent and anyone 

indicated by the dogs will be escorted to the secondary search tent for a more thorough search of 

bags and person. 

3.5 When calculating ingress through gateways there is a lack of comparable data available; 

thepurpleguide.co.uk 13.41 mentions a figure of 5.67 seconds per person entering a site with 

ticket exchange, wristband and handbag search but does not ratify this figure by associating it with 

a festival or event. The only hard data available is in the Green Guide (Safety at Sports Grounds) 

which uses an upper limit of 660 persons per hour ingress through a turnstile which is reduced 

around 240 with the addition of bag searches and pat down or metal detector wanding.  

3.6 Using these ingress figures we calculate the maximum flow of entry will be as follows: 
 
660 person per minute entry through any “gate” or entry point. 
This will be reduced to 240 persons per hour with the introduction of ticket check, bag search, 
pat down or wanding, wristbanding. 
 
6000 ticket holders at 240 per hour is equal to 25 hours of processing time. 
 
If we have 15 entrance lanes then the processing time, overall is reduced to 1.66 hours – 1 hour 
and 40 minutes. 
 
If we have 20 entrance lanes then the processing time, overall, is reduced to 1.25 hours – 1 hour 
and 15 minutes. 
 
We are currently expecting the bulk of the audience to arrive over a four hour period.  
 
 

66



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

10 
 

3.7 NB: Not every person will have a bag; not every person will have their ticket ready. This is the 
“pure” calculation for the ingress figures. In reality 2 coaches and 12 taxis may turn up at any one 
time – i.e. approx. 128 persons in the queue – the last person to join the queue may take up to 5 - 
10 minutes to get through the process. The figures above are if the whole audience turned up at 
one time (unlikely as the coaches may be making multiple trips). 
Our prediction is that no attendee will wait more than 20 minutes to enter due to the rolling 
arrival and the planning for searches and scanning. Numbers of search lanes can be ramped up 
or down depending on the ingress figures. 
 
3.8 The main factors affecting the rate of entry are: 

 the number and dispersal of entry points  

 the adequacy of directional signage, information and communications 

 the means of entry; for example, cash payment, ticket, etc. 

 the division of entry categories; for example, VIP, concessions or groups 

 the design and condition of entry points 

 the capabilities of lane operators 

 the efficiency of the system and the ability of the public attendee to understand the 
system (see electronic scanning below) 

 the level of searching required, particularly at times of high security alert. The use of metal 
detectors, bag and body searching may significantly reduce the rate of passage. 

 
3.9 The design and condition of the entry points may be further affected by: 

 Available resources (pre-allocate everything required) 

 The state of the ground underfoot (choose flat level ground and be prepared to move entry 
points if ground becomes unusable) 

 The prevailing weather during ingress 

 The mood of the public arriving (staff will be briefed on customer service from first contact 
(car park) and throughout the event). There will toilets between the car park and the 
ingress lanes, welfare, medical and refreshments.  

 
 

4. Ticket Scanning 
As noted above, the efficiency of the system can severely affect the numbers of public processed 

through the entry points at any one time. Although the ticket system for Forbidden Forest is 

internet based, there will be local computers and servers at the entrances which will be able to 

check data “off-line” in the case of internet failure, thus allowing ingress to continue unhindered, 

uploading data once the connection is re-gained. 

 

 

 

67



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

11 
 

5. CIRCULATION 
www.thepurpleguide.co.uk 

13.69 When planning an event with continuous competitive entertainment, the organiser should 

consider the location of attractions to ensure crowds can be accommodated within specific areas 

without impacting on competing activities. Safe capacities should then be applied to these areas 

based on lines of sight and audience profiles. 

DESIGN 

There are 4 stages proposed for Forbidden Forest 2019 giving a variety of choice to those 

attending across a number of music sub-genres. Competitive programming will ensure that there 

are equal levels of “head-liner” on each stage at overlapping times ensuring that movement across 

site is reduced and no one stage has to support the bulk of the audience. 

There is free flow between the various areas and the audience are invited to choose their 

favourite area, or move between areas to see a small amount of everything; bars, catering and 

trader outlets will be centrally based to encourage flow through the area. 

INFORMATION 

There is a year round campaign on social media and the Forbidden Forest website providing artist 

information, details of attractions and information regarding the community attending the events. 

Staff throughout the site are well-briefed and carry information that could be useful; from 

directions and what the next gig is, to medical, welfare and other personal issues. 

In addition, all areas are signposted across the site and locally. 

MANAGEMENT 

Aside from the top-level event management based in Event Control, each stage zone has a 

manager (stage manager) who has assistants and deputies to provide constant cover from when 

the site pens until the last of the public leave. Between all these staff, and the inspections of H&S 

staff, there is close scrutiny over occupant capacities, crowd density and accessibility of exits and 

routes away from venues and common areas. 

There is a site wide communications network based on digital radio and a logging system to 

capture all calls and any salient information for taking forward problems or personal experiences. 

6.1 Forbidden Forest and their safety advisors assess all venues and stages from the smallest 

to the largest to decide on a capacity for each venue. Although capacities are often decided upon 

by the density of crowd that can be fitted into a given area, Forbidden Forest also ensures egress 

capacity from any space or area is considered to give the final governance on what a capacity will 

actually be. In addition, the safety advisors have adopted a system of subtracting one third of any 

68



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

12 
 

available space within a venue before calculating capacity to ensure there is circulation space, 

allowance for structures, PA stacks, trees, etc. 

6.2 Close up plans of each area and stage will be shown in the next draft of this document; this 

will lead to capacities, egress plans, etc. However, the proposed area for the premises license is 

over 40,000m2. Allowing for density of trees in some areas and proposed infrastructure, we have 

conservatively halved the space available to around 20,000m2 – this is still more than enough 

space for the proposed license capacity of 9,999 and more than adequate for the 6000 attendees 

expected in 2019. 

 

7. Lighting 
Although many theatrical and musical performance spaces will use low light levels as part of their 

show, any spaces outside venues and arenas where the public can circulate or congregate will be 

adequately lit by either set mounted floodlights or festoon. Public will be able to navigate their 

way around the routes installations without fear of tripping over something in the dark. All major 

junctions in routes around the site (especially where stone or metal tracks cross the pedestrian 

route) will be lit to a higher level to avoid slips trips and falls. 

Routes where vehicular traffic may occasionally pass will be lit and stewarded to ensure safety of 

staff and public. Staff will wear hi-viz clothing to help identify them and to alert drivers. 

Areas of congregation such as arenas, beer gardens, etc will be adequately lit with either set 

mounted floods or festoon to enable security and stewarding staff to see activity in each area; 

they will also carry torches. 

The car park will be lit by Tower-Lights for egress and during all hours of darkness to enable 

security staff to monitor the area for potential criminal activity.  

 

8. COMMUNICATION 
8.1 As can be seen from the information above, there is an important need to communicate 

across site when making decisions about circulation of the public on site, whether in normal event 

times, when something changes, or when there is an emergency. 

Radio Communications between staff and teams on site is dealt with elsewhere in the 

Communications Structure and Communications Plan, but the importance of site-wide comms for 

particular staff (stewards, medical, H&S) and the ability to reach Event Control cannot be 

understated. The event relies on a hierarchy of control that places senior staff in positions of 

responsibility for specific areas, however, these areas often overlap. It is Event Control’s role to 

communicate across all teams to find resolutions to issues that may not be straight forward and 

may require resources from a number of teams. The twice daily Event Management and ELT 

69



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

13 
 

meetings ensure senior staff have the opportunity to make decisions face to face and 

communicate them out to staff for non-urgent considerations, and these meetings can be called 

extraordinarily in an emergency. 

8.2 In addition to communication with staff, the event needs to communicate with the public 

on site to alert them to important (often temporary) changes to the site and activities for their 

safety as well as for their convenience. As well as face to face communications between stewards 

and the audience, FF2019 plans to ensure smooth running of communications on site via the 

following methods: 

 Social Media – Facebook, Twitter, WhatsApp 

 SMS bulk text messaging service (potential) 

 Leaflet hand-outs (for emergency situations only) 

 Stage announcements 

 Loud Hailers 

 Variable Message Signage (VMS) 

 Info stand updates 

 Noticeboard points across site (in front of stages for line-ups) 

 Local, national and online proactive media statements. 

 There will be direct liaison between the Communications Manager and Event Control over 
the distribution of official statements to all key managers and personnel who deal directly 
with the public (bar staff, stewards, security, welfare, medics etc..) to ensure that all 
customer facing staff are promoting the same message. FF2019 will engage a designated 
Live-Communications team within Event Control to oversee the different forms of digital 
media, incoming and outgoing, to ensure cohesion and rapid response to communication 
changing.  
 

Managers in customer facing environments will ensure that they and their staff have the 

necessary resources to communicate to the public; this may take the form of Loud-hailers and 

access to PA systems or may be as simple as ensuring chalk is available for a blackboard or dry-

wipe pens are available for a white-board. 

All customer facing roles will also have the time and ability to listen to messages passed to them 

by public attendees and will have the means (pen and paper/smart phone/tablet) to take note of 

any information so that it can be relayed to managers or Event Control as and when deemed fit. 

8.4 An important communication tool, especially when considering circulation, or restricting 

movement, is good signage. FF2019 will use clear and unambiguous signage with regard to areas 

that are beyond public access, access/egress points, directions to facilities and amenities and 

route finding information between areas. Where possible this signage will use recognised symbols, 

shapes and colours that are in everyday use. 

 

  

70



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

14 
 

9. EGRESS  
In all areas of the site, zones, venues, arenas, etc, in all normal circumstances, egress will be the 

opposite of access. 

NB: Standard emergency egress is 82 persons through a 1m gap in 1 minute. Emergency Egress 
time is 5 - 10 minutes (RRO Guidance) – for clarity we will use a measure of 7.5minutes to 
evacuate areas in an emergency. 
To allow for terrain, drink/drugs, etc we reduce this to 66 persons through a 1m gap in 1 minute – 
therefore 495 persons per 7.5 minutes per metre. 
Egress routes will be shown in the next draft of this document and the site plans. 

9.1 Most arenas and venues will have a static crowd (as in not increasing or decreasing) during 

a scheduled act with some egress occurring almost immediately after the last number and most 

access occurring in the minutes before an act goes on stage. Certain stages will be programmed 

for particular genres of music and performance and so attract a crowd who will stay throughout a 

longer period, access/egress therefore being reduced. Competitive scheduling of artists that have 

a wider appeal means that the public have to make a choice to go and see one or the other and 

thus helps reduce the amount of egress during a scheduled period and enables better circulation 

around the site.  

9.2 We expect a steady egress from the event from 21.00, with the bulk of egress occurring 

between 22.00 and 23.30.  

The Traffic Management Plan deals with egress of vehicles from the site. 

 

  

71



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

15 
 

10. DISPERSAL 
 

10.1 Coaches, buses, taxis, etc arriving for egress will be allowed to stack/rank as much as 

possible on site and there is a practiced team of people to ensure guest disperse on the right 

transport and reach the right destination.  

10.4 We will engage with all providers of public transport in the area to explore timings for last 

buses/trains, etc in local towns and make sure this information is available to members of the 

public attending. We are not expecting a heavy use of public transport coming to and from the 

site; private hire coaches, buses, and taxis will be the bulk of the dispersal traffic alongside private 

cars.  

10.5 The Traffic Management Plan deals with vehicle egress from site, but again we are able to 

regulate dispersal onto the surrounding roads by slowing down egress from site, or by directing 

traffic to different exits which may give a more circuitous route, but which run relatively freely. 

10.6  As throughout the rest of the event, social media will be used to alert guests of traffic and 

congestion problems.  

10.7 All on site services (Medical, Fire, Safety, Security) have extended shifts to ensure that the 

public service is constant throughout egress and dispersal. 

 

  

72



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

16 
 

11. CONTINGENCY 
 

11.1 Much of the contingency for the site relies on strong communications across all teams, an 

in-depth knowledge of the site, and the experience of those in senior management positions in 

dealing with similar scenarios and knowing what resources can be utilised to either alleviate a 

problem, restore normality, or can contribute to a small evacuation or a structured closure. 

11.2 It is most likely that any incident in one area of site can be contained and may only require 

the evacuation of that stage and its immediate surrounds, rather than a structured closure, which 

would displace some 6000+ persons. Stage managers, Security Supervisors and H&S staff will have 

“show-stop” procedures for their areas by which they can systematically shut down one or a 

number of venues. If the show-stop is invoked, on any scale, it is important that, as soon as 

possible, there is a communication with the public explaining the issue (if appropriate) and 

appealing for calm and assistance.  

11.3 In any incident or emergency, the stewards and security staff will have pre-determined 

roles and will carry cards with reminders of their expected actions depending on the nature and 

level of the threat. This again shows the importance of communication systems around the site 

and the ability of all crucial staff to send and receive as necessary. 

It is likely that most incidents on site needing a draw on contingency supplies or resources will be 

slow growing incidents, or small isolated incidents. Any more rapidly developing incidents will 

require emergency actions as noted below and will need greater movement of public and staff 

around the site. 

13Noir will have impact response teams on site that will be able to quickly attend sites of incidents 

and report in to control for additional resources or to give/receive instructions in how to proceed. 

In any larger incident on site, all staff will become a central resource to be moved, deployed and 

instructed by the (silver) event control team who will be convened in such an event.  

11.4 Our Incident Plan will explain how these incidents will be communicated and suggest areas 

which may be used as places of safety when displacing large number of people. It is unlikely that 

an incident will be so large and catastrophic that our systems break down, but the contingency 

planning is there as is the ability to track and communicate weather forecasts and systems 

through Event Control. The weather forecast will be shared twice daily by Event Control and alerts 

made with regard to any major systems likely to affect the site. Similarly, extremely hot weather 

can catch events off-guard with additional strain being out on the drinking water supply on site. 

11.5 Our emergency plan for the site includes the stock-piling of some equipment that may be 

of use if many people are displaced and if their belongings are out of bounds (or under water!).  

For most occasions, contingency planning will help FF2019 deal with the issues on site and help 

resilience and continuation with all or larger parts of the event once the incident is dealt with. In 

73



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

17 
 

the case of an incident that impacts the running of the event, part of our resilience will be to 

replenish those contingency supplies in case of a recurrence or similar issue going forward. 

11.6 Part of the contingency and emergency planning looks at the run-up to the event. If in the 

week leading to the event there are major issues on site, for example extreme weather conditions 

that render large parts of the site unusable, then Forbidden Forest organisers will need to assess 

whether the full site can open and whether the event can go ahead.  

 

12. EMERGENCY PROCEDURES 
12.1 There will be a well-developed emergency plan for Forbidden Forest, however, crowd 

management will always play a vital part in dealing with all emergencies on site by helping move 

people away from danger, helping communicate issues to the public and by assisting other 

emergency services on site in accessing areas of dense occupation. 

12.2 For crowd management emergencies there will be an on-site team that can be pulled 

together from Security, Safety & management teams to support the Security Lead Manager.  This 

resource on site can assist with resources and tactics for dealing with incidents – a Major Incident 

would again require a significant off-site response. 

As stated above, in any emergency, all staff and resources become available for dealing with an 

incident, so long as their removal or use does not compromise safety and security in another part 

of the site. Induction briefings will be used to ensure staff are aware of their duties in an 

emergency alongside daily update briefings from zone managers. 

The Crowd Management, Incident and Evacuation Plans form the basis from which a partial, 
graduated or structured closure of the site could be delivered.  This may be required to respond to 
a major or critical incident(s) where the safety of the attending audience or other parties is put at 
significant risk. 
  
If this situation occurred, it would be achieved through the multi-agency Event Liaison Team, 

considering the most suitable tactical options to maintain safety for all on site and deliver a 

closure plan that allows all attendees to exit the event in the most appropriate manner. Specific 

area shut down or entertainment scale down may be options for consideration to mitigate the 

ongoing threat. 

 

APPENDIX 
I Notes from the Purple Guide 

II Site Plan with zones marked 

 

74



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

18 
 

APPENDIX I – NOTES FROM THE PURPLE GUIDE 

www.thepurpleguide.co.uk 

13.90 A crowd management stewards duties include: 

 understanding general responsibilities towards the safety of all categories of audience 

(including those with special needs and children), other stewards, event workers and 

themselves; 

 carrying out pre-event safety checks; 

 being familiar with the layout of the site and able to assist the audience by giving information 

about the available facilities, including first aid, toilet, welfare and concessions; 

 staffing entrances, exits and other strategic points, e.g. exit doors or gates that are not 

continuously secured in the open position while the event is in progress; 

 controlling or directing audience members entering or leaving the event, to help achieve an 

even flow of people into and from the various parts of the site; 

 recognizing crowd conditions to ensure the safe dispersal of audience and the prevention of 

overcrowding; 

 assisting in the safe operation of the event by keeping gangways and exits clear at all times 

and preventing standing on seats and furniture; 

 investigating possible safety incidents; 

 being aware of and reporting possible fire hazards; 

 responding to emergencies (such as the early stages of a fire), raising the alarm and taking the 

necessary immediate action; 

 being familiar with the arrangements for evacuating the audience, including coded messages 

and undertaking specific duties in an emergency; 

 communicating with the Event Control centre in the event of an emergency. 

 

 

75



Draft 29/01/19 CMP FF 2019 

19 
 

APPENDIX II – SITE PLAN WITH STAGES MAR KED  

76



	

	
	

INCIDENT REPORT FORM 

 Report 
No:  

  
Day: Date: Time: 
 
 

  

Location: 
 
 
Name of person concerned: 
 
 
Age: 
 
 
Contact number & email: 
 
 
Details of accident / incident: 
 
 
 
 
 
Witnesses details: 
 
 
Defective equipment involved: 
 
 
Remedial action: 
 
 
 
Medical attention: 
 
RIDDOR(Y/N):  Reported by:  RIDDOR Ref:  
 
Additional Information (continue on reverse if required):   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reported by: Position: 
 
 
Contact number & email: 
 
 

77

louisewoodward
Typewritten Text
APP/05



 
 

 
NEAR-MISS REPORT FORM 

 
This form should be used to report any incident which did not result in injury or ill-health. Near-
miss reporting is important as it enables us to identify underlying issues which may lead to a more 
serious incident. 

Instructions for completion 

The report form should be completed in full as soon as possible after the event and handed to 
your line manager or supervisor. 

All statements should be factual and not contain assumptions. 

If you are not sure whether or not a near-miss incident should be reported, check with your line 
manager or supervisor first. 

Employees may wish to remain anonymous and you do not have to sign this form. However, by 
identifying yourself you will allow us to further investigate the incident in order to prevent a 
recurrence. 

Date of the incident  

Time of the incident  

Site where the incident occurred  

Place on site where the incident 
occurred 

 

 

 

Description of incident  
(Give full details of what happened – photos is available) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please complete reverse 

78



 
 

Optional 
Name of person making this report 
(Please print) 

 

Job title  

Department  

 
Names and details of any other witnesses 
(Note. Obtain their consent before providing details) 

 

 

 

 

 

What has been done or what do you suggest to prevent recurrence? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

State the nature and extent of any damage which may have occurred 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

79



 

 

 

 

 

1 DOCUMENT OVERVIEW 

1.1 PURPOSE AND AIMS 
 

The purpose of this plan is to set out framework for the initiation, management, co-ordination and control of 

personnel and other resource in order to respond to an emergency requiring a show stop.  

The aim of this plan is to communicate the procedures in place for the management of show stop procedures to 

all staff and relevant external agencies. 

1.2 APPLICABLE TO 
 

This policy is applicable to Stage Management, ECT, Artists, Bars and Concessions on show day. There are no 

exclusions to the procedures outlined within this document. 

An Incident Response briefing will be held prior to show day to include a full briefing on these procedures. 

Present will be all Red Card holders, Head of Security, and tech crews, alongside applicable local authorities - tbc. 

1.3 RESPONSIBILITY 
 

This document has been created by the Event Manager of Forbidden Forest (Lou Woodward), with consultation 

from contracted Event Safety Advisor (Sygma Safety & Events). 

Document: Show Stop Procedure 

Date of Production: February 2019 

Document Reference: OD_08 

Version Number: V1 

Produced by: Lou Woodward 

Final Approval by: 
 

Exurbia Events Limited  
 

80



 

 

2 INTRODUCTION TO SHOW STOP SCENARIOS 

 
The Show Stop is a rapid and controlled performance intervention to either prevent further risk and resolve a 

problem, or to initiate an Evacuation. Possible scenarios that may require a show stop include, but are not limited 

to:  

 Extreme Weather, particularly wind and / or storms 

 Crowd Issues; surges, crushing, provocation from artists etc 

 Structural Collapse  

 Fire  

 Off-site events (evacuation initiated by emergency services)  
 
There are two types of show stop: 
 

 External Show Stop - initiated and managed by external instruction, usually due to events occurring 
beyond the stage at which it is executed, e.g. fire or a site evacuation. 

 Localised Show Stop - initiated by stage managers, due to events occurring at stage, e.g. stage invasion, 
crowd crushing, or structural collapse. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81



 

 

3 EXTERNAL SHOW STOP 

 
An external show stop may be required at any one or multiple stages in order to action an evacuation to preserve 
the safety of the public in the case of an emergency or incident.  
 
External show stops are initiated and managed via external instruction from those noted below due to the wider 
disruption beyond any specific arena.  
 
Normal operations may or may not be resumed following an external show stop, and the time period taken 
between initiation and resolution varies.  

3.1 RED CARD HOLDERS 
 
The following people are designated Red Card holders, and are the ONLY people with authority to call an external 
show stop: 

  

Lou  Woodward Event Manager 

Arron  Moss Production Manager 

Matt Tooth Site Manager 

Brian Cleary Event Safety Advisor 
 
Presentation of their allocated Red Card is proof of this authority. Red Cards must be signed out and each Red 
Card holder must confirm that they have read and understood the procedure in place for show stops.  
 
The Stage Manager is responsible for enacting an External Show Shop following a request from any Red Card 
holder, and must do so without question. This requires cooperation from the performers on stage, who will have 
received information regarding show stop procedure in their artist advance, alongside a briefing from the Stage 
Manager on arrival to stage. 

3.2 EXTERNAL SHOW STOP PROCEDURE 
 
The following code phrases will be used by event control to denote states of readiness, or, of response to 
incidents. Care will be needed to ensure the code message is directed to the relevant people. The authority to 
change the alert status shall rest at all times with Event Control after consultation with relevant management 
team members.  

 

Condition Green 
 

No problems, event running smoothly but staff to remain alert and vigilant at all times to any potential problems.  

 
Condition Amber 

 
The potential for a developing incident requires staff to be on standby, prepared to put into effect the show stop 
procedure. Event Control shall broadcast the following radio announcement and ensure that the relevant Stage 
and Production Managers have received the message: 

82



 

 

“Please note – Mr Warrior to Level ONE (followed by location – e.g. Kooky Arena)” 
 

Following a Mr Warrior Level One (location) alert, staff must: 
 

 Maintain radio silence  

 Await specific instruction 

 Prepare to make announcements to the public  

 Prepare for public evacuation  

 Stage managers should not yet carry out a show-stop 

 

Condition Red 
 
If the incident is sufficiently serious, the status may be raised to Condition Red. A serious emergency requires staff 
to maintain radio silence and stage managers to implement the external show stop procedure as directed by 
Event Control. Event Control shall broadcast the following radio announcement and ensure that the relevant 
Stage and Production Managers have received the message: 
 

“Please note – Mr Warrior to Level TWO (followed by location – e.g. Kooky Arena): 
All staff to proceed with site evacuation” 

 
Following a Mr Warrior Level TWO (location) alert, stage managers must: 

 

 Stop the performance - using the artist’s management to communicate this to the artist if applicable 

 Escort the artist off the stage 

 Check with Sound Engineer that channel is open on main vocal mic 

 When instructed make the following announcement: 
o “Ladies and gentlemen, this is a security announcement.  We are dealing with a minor incident 

and in the interests of audience safety you are required to leave the area immediately.  Please 
leave immediately using all available exits.  Please do not run – leave calmly and follow 
instructions from the security and stewarding teams” 

o If the PA is not functional, this same announcement should be made by loudhailer, and 
repeated where necessary. 

 
At the same time the Production Manager / Lead Tech must ensure that on-stage lighting is turned to white. 

3.3 SHOW START PROCEDURE 
 
Once the incident has been resolved the Sign Off To Open procedure will be led by Event Control who will then 
seek final authorisation from Event Silver Command to action the resumption of normal operations through the 
following radio announcement: 
 

“All staff please note– Mr Warrior has left the building” 
 

Stage Managers should then resume the performance as quickly as possible. 

83



 

 

4 LOCALISED SHOW STOP 

 
A localised show stop may be required as an instant response to crowd conditions or behaviour within a localised 
arena, and will normally allow a return to normal operations within a short period of time.  
 
Generally, localised show stops can be implemented and managed by the Stage Manager in coordination with 
Security Supervisor without external co-ordination, as normal operations beyond that specific stage are not 
disrupted.  
 
Stage managers must however notify event control immediately following the localised show stop, and again 
upon re-starting. 

4.1 RED CARD HOLDERS 
 

In addition to those outlined in 3.1 the following people are designated Red Card holders with authority to call a 
localised show stop: 

 

TBC TBC Reactor Stage Manager 

TBC TBC Rift Stage Manager  

TBC TBC Manor Stage Manager 

TBC TBC Abbey Stage Manager 

 
Presentation of their allocated Red Card is proof of this authority. Red Cards must be signed out and each Red 
Card holder must confirm that they have read and understood the procedure in place for show stops.  
 
The Stage Manager is responsible for enacting a localised show stop either at their own instigation or following a 
request from any of the other Red Card holders or Security Manager, and requires cooperation from the 
performers on stage who will have received information regarding show stop procedure in their artist advance, 
alongside a briefing from the Stage Manager on arrival to stage. 

4.2 LOCALISED SHOW STOP PROCEDURE 

 
Incidents or conditions within a crowd or arena may require the initiation of an instant show stop even whilst in 
Condition Green or Condition Amber. These could include a stage invasion, crowd crushing, or structural collapse 
at-stage. In these cases, it may not be appropriate to wait for instruction from Red Card holders outlined in 2.1.1. 
or Event Control. Stage Managers are required to: 
 

 If there is time, notify Event Control immediately 

 Check with Sound Engineer that channel is open on main vocal mic 

 Stop the performance 

 At the stage manager’s discretion, either address the crowd directly, or ask the artist to address the 
crowd 

 If the artist is to communicate with the crowd, ensure complete clarity in the message before allowing 
broadcast 

 Communicate events to Event Control 

84



 

 

In the event of crowd crushing at the front of stage barrier, communication is as follows: 
 

“Ladies and gentlemen, the people at the front are uncomfortable. On the count of three, please take two 
steps backwards. One, two, three”. 

 
In the event of a stage invasion (and ensuring that the announcement is routed to both PA and stage monitors) 
communication is as follows: 

 
“Ladies and gentlemen, the music will not resume until the stage is cleared of people. Please return to the 
dancefloor area immediately.” 

 
Messages for other scenarios or incidents should be at the stage manager’s discretion, or if they are not clear, 
advice should be sought via Event Control. 

4.3 SHOW START PROCEDURE 
 

Once the incident has been resolved the Stage Manager can action the resumption of normal operations by 
continuing the performance. This must be reported into Event Control immediately. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

85



 

 

5 COMMUNICATION OF INFORMATION 

 
Should Event Control either initiate an external show stop / start or be informed of a localised show stop / start, 
communication with the following will ensure that all relevant parties are updated of the status of the show stop 
and can action appropriately: 
 

 Bars and Concessions – for information and action (if required, stop / start of service) 
 Security and Stewarding – for information and action (if required, re-directing customers) 
 Information Point – for information 
 Artist Liaison – for information 

 

86



Health, Safety and Welfare Statement of Intent 

EXURBIA EVENTS is committed to delivering a safely planned and managed event, which 
complies with all statutory obligations under current and relevant legislation. Within both 
planning and delivery EXURBIA EVENTS adopt a multi-agency approach to management of 
the events. Engagement with local authorities alongside key event personnel such as Security, 
Medical and Traffic co-ordinators, Event Safety Advisors and Production Management, is vital 
to ensure that input from all key stakeholders is considered within all aspects of planning.   

It is the policy of EXURBIA EVENTS to promote the highest possible standards of health and 
safety, so far is as reasonably practicable, to reduce any risks to the health and safety of all 
persons who may be affected by our work activities. We will take account of the significant 
findings of continued risk assessment throughout the planning phase and ensure compliance 
with all current legislation, specifically the 1974 Health and Safety at Work Act (UK) and the 
Construction Design and Management Regulations 2015. 

EXURBIA EVENTS takes responsibility for the implementation of all that is noted above, with 
some responsibilities being contractually delegated to suppliers whose policies and practice 
will be assessed during the procurement phase to ensure they are adequately resourced in 
terms of technical and safety capability. 

EXURBIA EVENTS and Event Safety Advisors Sygma Safety & Events Ltd will
ensure that sufficient support has been provided to all core service providers to ensure that: 

• Suitable and sufficient assessments of all the foreseeable risks presented to, and posed by
any of the work activities have been assessed.

• Staff, including freelance workers and contractors are competent and fully aware of any
potential hazards.

• All persons on-site have been informed as to what action to take in the event an
emergency, and bring the emergency evacuation routes and plan to their attention.

• Adequate provisions for First Aid are in place and that all workers are aware of these
provisions.

• All plant and work equipment is monitored and operated in a safe manner and that any
fitted safety devices are used in the correct way.

• A system of good housekeeping is maintained in order to reduce the risk of trip/slip hazards
and fire risks.

• If Personal Protective Equipment is required that it is suitable and worn by all persons
deemed to be at risk, as a last line of defence in risk management.

It is our intention that safety management will remain an integral part of the planning, 
production and operation of the festivals, recognising our responsibility for the safety of the 
public attending our events. 

We have employed Sygma Safety & Events Ltd to provide critical evaluation and support to the
Event Manager in the production of the Event Safety and Management Plan and supporting 
documentation via risk assessment and advice. Sygma Safety & Events Ltd will also input
into the design of the site, with a focus on optimising pedestrian management and crowd flow 
under both normal and emergency conditions. Event Safety Advisors supplied by Sygma will
join the senior management team on-site. 

87



 

 

 

CREW & CONTRACTOR GUIDE 

Introduction  

This document is to let you know how we plan to protect everybody’s interests at Forbidden Forest and 

identify some rules and procedures that will make everything run smoothly leading to fewer accidents, 

happy staff and successful contractors.  

The purpose of the guidance is to provide a general set of instructions for safe working in order to prevent 

any undue risk to yourself, other personnel or contractors. However, it is always important to consider how 

your work may affect the public (either those attending the show or around the site for other reasons).  

This follows on from the induction you undertook through the accreditation system. 

IN THE EVENT OF AN EMERGENCY  
• If an accident occurs firstly ensure that nobody else is in any 
immediate danger, i.e. from electric shock, traffic, falling objects 
etc.  
• Do not move the casualty unless they are in further danger.  
• Assess the situation; if you are trained, administer first aid. If not send someone to call the site first aider. 
Don't be afraid to ask people for help.  
• If the casualty is conscious reassure them.  
• NEVER give the casualty food or drink.  
• Clear by-standers and onlookers from the area, but keep a note of witnesses.  
• When the casualty has been cleared from the site, in conjunction with the Site Safety Team, complete a 
witness accident report form.  
• Think how the accident might have been prevented.  
 
During the build and de-rig periods when our medical provider may not be on site, for urgent medical 
issues dial 999 giving the site address as per the emergency cards provided at the gates. From the start of 
the build there will be a number of First Aid at Work qualified staff on site; contractors should arrange 
medical cover commensurate with their stated risks. 
 
All accidents and any near-miss incidents MUST be reported to the Site Office/Safety Adviser and an 
appropriate entry made in the log or accident book.  
The management have adopted a no-blame policy to promote disclosure and discussion if anything should 
go wrong. Clearly, we all want to avoid accidents and breakages, but if something does happen, then there 
is an opportunity to learn and improve 
 
IN THE EVENT OF FIRE  
Raise the alarm by shouting FIRE to colleagues in the immediate area and contact the Site Manager/Event 
Control as soon as possible using site radios or mobile phones. 
 
If trained to do so, tackle the fire 
using extinguishers available. Only 
attempt to extinguish a fire if it is 
safe to do so and you have an 
escape route. 
 
DURING BUILD/BREAK …………  
FIRE POINTS WILL BE IDENTIFIED 
DURING YOUR BRIEFING  
DURING SHOW………………….FIRE POINTS ARE LOCATED THROUGHOUT THE ARENAS AND STAGE AREAS 

 

88



 

 

 

 
Forbidden Forest is a Constructions Site as proscribed by the CDM Regulations 2015. 
For entry into site during build & break the PPE above is mandatory. 
Later in the build the site manager and safety team may decide to relax these rules, but, from the 
start, this is the rule. 
Full fall-arrest and fall prevention systems should be specified for anyone carrying out work at height 
(not ladders). 

Hearing protection is required for all personnel working with noisy work equipment or in close 
proximity to PA and sound systems.  
PPE must be properly looked after and worn correctly.  
Failure to wear appropriate PPE will attract a strike as per our 3 strike policy (below) 
 

Site speed limit is 10 mph on general 
routes and 5mph whenever near 

pedestrians. Do not use hazard lights 
as it then becomes impossible for 

pedestrians to determine your proposed 
direction of travel. 

 

All goods vehicles must have their vehicle height 
clearly marked in the cab, and if in doubt of height 

clearance, should be seen to the site by a 
competent person from the production team. 

 
When working with vehicles or plant machinery ensure that all movements are guided or directed by a 
banksman to warn others, particularly when reversing. 
 
ALL ON SITE DRIVERS MUST ENSURE THEIR DRIVING LICENSE DETAILS HAVE BEEN LOGGED WITH THE 
SITE PRODUCTION OFFICE BEFORE STARTING WORK 
 
Vehicle Rules: 

 Under no circumstances can storage trays be used for passengers  

 All loads must be secured and require correct handling equipment  

 Defective vehicles must be removed from service and labelled with a ‘Do Not Use’ tag.  

 All incidents must be reported immediately to on-site manager  

 Use of phones is not permitted by driver while moving in a vehicle  

 Observe all site restrictions and prohibitions – there is a pass system on all route 

 Do not use a vehicle allocated to someone else  
 

89



 

 

 

 
 
Plant such as forklifts, telehandlers, cherry pickers, scissor lifts and cranes can only be operated by duly 
accredited personnel. Evidence of training/competence is required in all cases. For personnel operating a 
logbook, the Safety Team will be happy to sign off hours.  
 
Telehandlers and all other lifting plant should be used within the capabilities of the machine using 
outriggers and other stability devices where necessary. If you are carrying a load, make sure it is properly 
secured and always face uphill on uneven terrain. For any complex lifting issues please contact the Site 
Office or Safety Team.  
 
Passengers must not be carried on any plant unless there is a dedicated seat for them. No riding on 
footplates or standing on trailers.  
Keys must not be left in unattended plant or site vehicles and vehicles should not be parked such that they 
block access routes. 
 
Note on Use of Mancages  
Telehandlers and non-integrated work platforms should not be used if other access options are available. 
However, there are operations in which this combination may be the safest way to complete it or where 
emergency maintenance is necessary. Any mancage operation needs to be agreed with the Site Safety 
Team or Site Manager, prior to work commencing  
 

 Machines with a tilt lock capability should be used if available. Before the lift and when booming 
out, stabilisers must be deployed. Terrain should be as flat as possible and the machine oriented 
such that it is facing uphill and never across a hill or slope  

 The telehandler operator must stay within the cab at all times the mancage is being used and be 
in communication with the worker in the cage.  

 The mancage must be securely attached ensuring the retaining pins are in place prior to work 
commencing and backed up with a ratchet strap.  

 The worker in the basket must be attached at all times. A work positioning restraint lanyard will 
be used, NOT a fall-arrest.  

 At no time should the basket be used with the boom at full extension and the vehicle must not 
be driven  

 
WORKING AT HEIGHT 

 
 

Improvised access to height (such as work from the forks of telehandlers) will not be permitted at any 
time. Failure to provide proper safe means of access to work at height may result in work being 
suspended leading to delays. 
 

90



 

 

 
All work must be organised to minimise the exposure of staff or other contractor’s exposure to these risks. 
Wherever possible incomplete structures should be signed or barriered to inform others. 
 
Avoid…Wherever possible the need for work at height should be factored out. Simple changes can 
eliminate the need for extensive operations at height. Lone working at height must be avoided; you should 
ensure that someone is available to assist or raise the alarm if something goes wrong. 
  
Competence…Work at height should only be carried out by competent individuals who must be properly 
supervised whilst carrying out work for the event.  
 
Permission…Work at height should only be carried out once permission has been received from the 
production manager to ensure that all structural work is complete prior to using it for suspension of set, 
décor, motors or rigging. 
 

When using ladders, ensure they are secured, that the ground is flat and stable, and that you have 
someone to ‘foot’ the base whilst at height. Do not improvise by standing on flight-cases, chairs, 
shelves or bars and do not free climb scaffolding. 
 
Clear Below…Make sure people (and kit) is cleared from below or that the WAH is scheduled to avoid 
putting people at risk.  
PPE…all personnel at risk below MUST wear hard hats and be easily visible. Suitable helmets must be 
worn by people working overhead i.e. one with a chinstrap and no peak.  
Tools and equipment…all loose tools and equipment should be either removed from pockets or 
secured by means of lanyards or clips. Mobile phones should not be used. Radio use should be only 
undertaken when in a safe and secure position. 
 
General Housekeeping  
Dispose of all waste materials in bins; this includes broken cable ties, food waste or packaging, empty 
drinks bottles and used gaffa tape balls.  
Smokers should use the sand buckets located around the site for disposing of cigarette ends. Please do not 
use these buckets for other waste. Please do not litter the ground with fag butts.  
 
Slips, Trips and Falls  
Be aware of your environment and avoid becoming distracted by phone calls, texts and IM’s. Take 
particular care at the edges of any platforms, ramps, steps and treads or on uneven ground. Be aware of 
any incomplete stage sections or scaffold structures. Report any problems with the stability or security of 
any stage or flooring sections and handrails.  
 
Ensure any spillages and waste materials are cleared up as soon as possible and that materials are stacked 
or stored safely.  
Please take notice of and use pedestrian routes or any barriered or signed safe working areas.  
Ensure tent pegs or other projections from the ground are properly clad or highlighted.  
 
Substances Hazardous to Health  
If you are in any doubt about a chemical or substance being used, please consult the safety team.  
Certain substances can be harmful and can cause irritation when coming into contact with skin or eyes or 
more serious damage if inhaled or ingested. Care should be taken with some glues or spray paints to ensure 
the area is well ventilated.  
 
A particular issue in hot dry weather is dust from dry ground – dust masks will be available, but you may 
wish to invest in your own cartridge respirator where you can change filters regularly.  
Appropriate protective equipment should be used. Where possible you should let the Safety Team know of 
any dangerous substances you may be intending to use on site. 

91



 

 

 
Noise  
The event is determined to minimise the danger posed to staff by loud noise and will enact measures to 
control exposure – either from sound systems or other sources. If your job requires you to work in a loud 
environment, you should take simple steps to protect yourself from long-term damage:  

 Minimise your time in the high noise area  

 Reduce the noise level if possible  

 Maximise your distance from the source  

 Use hearing protection whenever the noise is loud  
 

Manual Handling 

TAKE CARE OF YOUR BACK – it is a very delicate structure.  
The following steps can be taken to reduce the risk of injury: 

 Avoid the work where possible and use a mechanical means  

 Reduce the weight of the load you have to handle.  

 Make the load smaller or easier to lift; for example, by splitting cases into 
more manageable components if possible.  

 Plan the lift, clear your route and make sure you can see over the load you 
are carrying.  

 Look out for sharp edges, projections, splinters etc.  

 Loads may be hot or very cold.  

 Wear gloves as appropriate.  

 Modify the work to reduce carrying distances, twisting movements, or lifting things from floor 
level or above shoulder height.  

 Get help if the load is awkward or heavy, do not struggle alone.  

 Make sure that everyone involved in ‘team lifting’ tasks is working to the same plan or count. 

 

THREE STRIKE POLICY 

We want to maintain a safe and enjoyable work environment as well as a safe and enjoyable event 
environment. With this in mind we have a policy of enforcing a three-strike system. This is to ensure the 
safe working environment for all people who want to be part of this amazing creative work process. 
Below is an example of behaviour that will not be tolerated during the build and take down process, and 
which will be dealt with a verbal warning, or strike. The site and production managers and any of the onsite 
health and safety team are authorized to impose a strike on anyone on any of the sites in any area. A 
record of each strike will be kept in the site office for reference. 
Three strikes, and you will be asked to leave site. 
 
This is not a comprehensive list, but a basic guide line. Any improper behaviour, or any action that 
threatens your own safety, or the safety of others, will be deemed irresponsible, and liable for a warning 
and strike. 

 Failure to wear the correct PPE at the correct time. 

 Failure to observe safe working practice when engaging in the use of power tools. 

 Rude aggressive or threatening behaviour to any of the production team, or any other people 

working on site. 

 Driving any vehicle in excess of the site wide speed limit, or other speed limits imposed in certain 

working areas. 

 Engaging in actions that may harm either yourself or others. 

There are some things that are more serious and could constitute an immediate expulsion from site. 

 Drinking alcohol during work hours or taking illegal drugs. 

 Operating any plant machinery or electrical tools whilst under the influence of alcohol or drugs. 

92



 

 

 

93



 

 

 
 CDM 2015 - Construction Phase Plan  

Forbidden Forest May 2019, Grimsthorpe Castle 
 

P
LA

N
 

Client details:  
Exurbia Events Ltd 
Regus House, Herald Way  
Pegasus Business Park  
Castle Donington  
Derby, DE74 2TZ  
 

 

Principal Designer Details:  
Exurbia Events Ltd 
 

Principal Contractor Details:  
Exurbia Events Ltd 
 

Other Contractors: 
CPA – Traffic Management 
Flying Hire – site electrics 
SWG – Stages and structures 
Sygma Safety & Events – Safety Advice 
 

Description of work/ project:  
Installing event infrastructure including temporary demountable structures, barriers and 
fencing, trackway and lighting alongside event technical elements for a festival. 
De-rigging and removing the same equipment post event. 
The site is a largely green-field and wooded area within the Estate grounds of Grimsthorpe 
Castle, Grimsthorpe, Bourne, PE10 0LZ 
 

Key dates:   
Sunday 28th April 2019 to Friday 3rd May 209 for build 
Live event Saturday 4th May 2019 
De-rig and Clearance Sunday 5th to Tuesday 7th May 2019. 
 

W
O

R
K

IN
G

 T
O

G
ET

H
ER

 /
  

O
R

G
A

N
IS

E 
 

Key members of the project team during construction and their role/ responsibilities: 
Event Director – Arron Moss 
Event Manager – Lou Woodward 
Event Safety Advisor – Brian Cleary (Sygma Safety & Events) 
Site Manager – Matt Tooth 
Head of Event Security – Anthony Webb (13 Noir Group) 
Head of Event Medical – Graham Kelman (Central Medical Services) 
Head of Event Fire – Paul Musgrove (Cannon) 
Head of Traffic / Transport – Brian Goodwin (CPA) 
 

94



 

 

How the work will be managed safely  

 

Key Arrangements: 
All those working on-site will be made aware of the Site Safety Rules through an on-line site 
induction which is carried out before arrival. These inductions will be supplemented by toolbox 
talks and briefings on site. 
Staff welfare and sanitation will be on site from when the first work begins. 
Work days will be planned and hours restricted to ensure fatigue does not become an issue. 
 
Management will ensure the following are available to staff and contractors: 

 Staff and Contractor safety guide 

 Site plans and access routes 

 Weather Management Plan 

 Waste Management Plan 

 Site Risk Assessments 

 Exurbia H&S Policy 

 Event Safety Management Plan 

 Emergency Major Incident Management Plan 

 Traffic Management Plan 
Exurbia Events will organise all on-site festival install and de-rig staff and monitor the 
contractors. 

 Designated unloading areas will be created to minimise pedestrian and vehicle conflict 
on-site 

 The working space will be fenced around using steel hoarding and ‘Heras’ fencing for the 
duration of install/de-rig to keep the working area separate from any public access 
routes. 

 Restrictions are being put in place to protect the grassland and woodland to prevent any 
damage from the works being undertaken. 
 

Key safety risks on this project are: 

 Falls from height - key control measures - trusses pre-rigged at ground level to minimise 
work at height. Production/Site Manager will oversee implementation of arrangements 
to ensure suitable fall prevention/mitigations measures are in place. 

 Vehicle movements – Arrangements will be in place to ensure pedestrians and vehicles 
can circulate safely. Designated Load-in areas will be used and allocated times / 
procedures for the safe on/off loading of materials followed. 

 Structural collapse – TDS contractor will lead the erection of structures in accordance 
with a safe method of work. 

 Electrical Hazards – competent and trained staff only working with electrical distribution 
systems – equipment installations signed off to BS7909 standards. 

 
 
 

 

95



GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE

TRADERS

PJ TOILETS x 20

WRISTBANDING

6m x 30m

BAR
 1

6m
 x 40m

BAR 2
6m x 15m

PRIM
ARY SEARCH

6m x 
30m

Artist Greenroom

9m x 9m

M
edical / W

elfare

9m x 9m

Secondary Search

6m
 x 9m

THE REACTOR

THE EXPRESS

ABBEY

THE RIFT

TE
CH P

ROD LO
AD IN

S

OUT OF 
BOUNDS

PJ TOILETS x 45 TAXI / DRO
P O

FF

CAR PARK 1

CREW & 
ARTIST PARKING

x

BONEYARD

16ft

Box O
ffic

e / T
icket E

nquirie
s

16ft

Artist / Crew Accred

P
ro

du
ct

io
n 

O
ffi

ce

20
ft

C
O20

ft

A
rti

st
 D

re
ss

in
g 

R
oo

m
20

ft

Security

20ft

Event Control

20ft

PG
1

PG
2

PG
3

PG
4

PG
5

PG
6

PG
7

PG
8

PG
10

PG
9

PG
11

VG
1

VG
2

VG
3

Title

Drawing Number Drawn By Date

SITE MAP

1.0 MATTHEW TOOTH27.01.2019

FORBIDDEN FOREST
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

2019181716151413121110987654321

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

K

L

M

N

O

P

Q

R

S

TT

S

R

Q

P

O

N

M

L

K

J

I

H

G

F

E

D

C

B

A

0 270m90m 180m

96



 
TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 This Traffic Management Plan has been prepared by CarParkAt Ltd 
Event Traffic Management Specialists.  

Document Status: Version 1 (for consultation) 

  

EVENT NAME(S) FORBIDDEN FOREST 

EVENT DATE(S) 05 MAY 2019 

EVENT LOCATION  GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE PARK, 
GRIMSTHORPE, BOURNE, PE10 0LY	
 

  
 

Prepared by CarParkAt Ltd for and on behalf of EXURBIA EVENTS LTD 

 

	

CarParkAt Ltd 
Lower Sheephouse Farm 

Hay-On-Wye 
Hereford 
HR3 5PP 

 
www.carparkat.com

97



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

2	

	

DOCUMENT REFERENCE PREPARED BY 

 

CPAFFTMP.05.05.2019.1 

V1 (CONSULTATION) 

 

Brian Goodwin, Director, CarParkAt Ltd 

brian@carparkat.com / 07932424595 

VERSION 
CONTROL 

DOCUMENT REFERENCE ISSUED 
DATE  

STATUS CHECKED 
BY 

NOTES 

V1 CPAFFTMP.05.05.2019.1 29/01/2019 V1 BPJ V1 PROPOSALS FOR 
CONSULTATION 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

	
This document and all its contents are protected by copyright. This document remains the sole property of CarParkAt Ltd. CarParkAt Ltd disclaims any responsibility to the client and others 
in respect of any matters outside the scope of this document. The document has been complied with all reasonable due care and diligence within the terms if the contract with the client and 
the limitations of the information provided to us. This document is issued to the client with our standard terms and conditions of business and is valid for the event specified and no other. 
This document is still in DRAFT form until such time that it says FINAL on the front cover.  

	

98



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

3	

The following individuals/organisations are to be involved in the planning stages of this traffic management plan, additional 
stakeholders may be added in future versions of this document.   

AGENCY ROLE CONTACT 

CarParkAt Ltd Traffic Management Brian Goodwin  
Exurbia Events  Event Organiser Arron Moss 

Lou Woodward 

Lincolnshire SAG Safety Advisory Group / Licensing TBC 

Lincolnshire Highways 
 

Network Management TBC 

Priory Coaches Shuttle coaches Brett Parker 
	

AA Signs  Signs Provider (Chapter 8) Bobby Walker 
	

	

99



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

4	

CONTENTS 

1. OVERVIEW 
Event Information 
Traffic Management Schedule 
Overview 
Venue and External Road Network 
Site Access Gates 
Transport Links  

2. TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN  
Build and Break Phase Traffic Management Plan  
Event Live Phase Traffic Management Plan 
 
3. CONCLUSION 
Summary 

4. APPENDICIES  
Appendix 1 | Permits and Applications (to be added) 
Appendix 2 | Risk Assessments (to be added) 
Appendix 3 | Method Statements (to be added) 

 

 
ABOUT CARPARKAT LTD, TRADING AS CPA EVENTS  
CarParkAt Ltd specialises in planning and delivering traffic management for events throughout the UK. CarParkAt 
understand the demands posed by increased pedestrian and vehicular traffic associated with large events and the traffic 
management measures that can be implemented. More information about us can be found via www.carparkat.com	
 

 
TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLANNING 
 
The planning process involves the following stages: 

• Establish the objectives of the Traffic Management Plan (TMP)  
• Initial site and route planning  
• Identify any actions required on key routes to the event site 
• Preparation of internal and external traffic management plans 
• Preparation of contingency planning 
• Consultation and development of the TMP

100



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

5	

TABLES 
 

TABLE NUMBER DESCRIPTION  

1 Event Information 

2 Traffic Management Schedule 

3 Access Gates 

4 Projected Transport Forecasts 

5 Event Traffic Management Provisions 

6 Permits and Applications 

7 TTRO Detail 

8 Temporary Traffic Management 

9 Contingency Plans 
 
 

FIGURES 

FIGURE NUMBER DESCRIPTION  

1 Site Overview (traffic) 

2 3-Phase Traffic Lights (to be added) 

3 Public Parking (to be added) 

4 Coaching Parking (to be added) 

5 PUDO (to be added) 

6 Chapter 8 Signs Plan (to be added) 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

101



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

6	

1. OVERVIEW 

1.1 EVENT INFORMATION 

TABLE 1 | Event Information 

1.2 TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT SCHEDULE / WORKS CONTRACTORS  
 

TABLE 2 | Traffic Management Schedule / Works Contractors 

 

ITEM INFORMATION 

EVENT NAME(S)  FORBIDDEN FOREST  

LICENSE CAPACITY 9,999 

PROJECTED EVENT ATTENDANCE 6,500 

EVENT SITE LOCATION GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE PARK, PE10 0LY  

EVENT DATES / OPERATING TIMES  SUNDAY 5 MAY  
GATES OPEN: 12.00 
GRADUAL INGRESS: 11.00 – 18.00 
PEAK INGRESS: 12.00 16.30 
EXTERNAL CURFEW: 23.00.  
GRADUAL EGRESS: FROM 21.00 
PEAK EGRESS: 22.00 – 23.30  

BUILD DATES 29/04 – 04/04 

BREAK DATES 06/05 – 10/05 

AREA OPERATIONAL INFORMATION MANAGEMENT 

PRODUCTION TRAFFIC IN BUILD 
AND BREAK PHASE 

BUILD, BREAK PHASE EXURBIA 

EVENT SIGNAGE CHAPTER 8 DIRECTIONAL SIGNS CPA/AA 

TEMPORARY TRAFFIC 
MANAGEMENT IN LIVE EVENT 
PHASE  

TBC CPA 

PICK UP / DROP OFF IN LIVE 
EVENT PHASE 

PICK UP AND DROP OFF OPERATION CPA 

COACHES COACH OPERATION INCLUDING PROVISION 
FOR PRIVATELY BOOKED COACHES AND 
SHUTTLE BUSSES 

PRIORY COACHES / 
PRIVATE OPERATORS 

TRAINS LOCAL STATIONS (GRANTHAM) N/A 

EVENT PARKING INCLUDING PROVISION FOR STAFF AND 
PRODUCTION, AND BLUE BADGE HOLDERS 

CPA 

102



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

7	

1.3 OVERVIEW  

The objective of this plan is to establish a framework for the safe and efficient management of transport in connection with 
Forbidden Forest, a music festival event scheduled to take place at Grimsthorpe Castle Park, Bourne, PE10 0LY. This 
Traffic Management Plan (TMP) will identify the challenges posed by the ingress and egress of persons to the event and 
detail the traffic management provisions proposed to be put in place to ensure public safety is protected and the impact on 
road users and the local community is minimised.  

The document is divided into 4 sections: 

1. Section 1 | Introduction and Overview 
2. Section 2 | Traffic Management Plan 
3. Section 3 | Conclusion 
4. Figures and Appendices  

For the purpose of this document the terms traffic and transport are used interchangeably. This document has been 
informed by HSG 195 ‘The Event Safety Guide’, the Code of Practice for Safety at Street  
Works and Road works, the Traffic Signs Manual and the Road Safety Good Practice Guide. This is a working document 
and aims to adapt to implement improvements and amendments following consultation with all stakeholders.  
 

 

103



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

8	

1.4 VENUE AND HIGHWAY NETWORK 

 
 

Grimsthorpe Castle Park, Lincolnshire, PE10 0LY is the venue for the event and is accessible from the local highway 
network, including routing from the A1 to the west and from the A15 to the east, both via the A151. 

 

GRIMSTHROPE	CASTLE	
PARK,	PE10	0LY	

104



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

9	

1.5 SITE ACCESS GATES 
 
A map showing the access points is shown in Figure 1. 

TABLE 3 | Site Access Gates 

 

There will be chapter 8 directional signage proximate to the event on the A151 to support with routing to the appropriate 
access. Traffic management provisions are proposed throughout this document. All provisions are to be consulted on with 
the SAG and Highways authority. Additional internal traffic management systems will be in place internal to the site, to cater 
for the event traffic arriving to and leaving the site. Figure 1 shows the initial proposed traffic management provisions. 

Each access point will be staffed throughout the event live phase. 

1.6 TRANSPORT LINKS 

Private Car  

There is to be an on-site event car park for the event to cater for staff and production related vehicles, as well as public 
who choose to drive to and park at the event. There will be an admittance / ticket check system in place. The organiser is 
considering selling parking spaces in advance. Parking capacity is for 650 vehicles, with additional contingency space.  

Taxi or private hire vehicle 

A pick up and drop off (PUDO) area is to be operated internally at the site. It is expected for taxis, private vehicles and 
minibuses to utilise the PUDO. A one-way system is being designed to aid traffic flow on the site, thus reducing potential 
for queueing on the external network. 

Private Event Coach Services 

Coaches operated by Priory Coaches / Reliant Coaches and partners will be in place to support with the ingress to and 
egress from the event. 

Based on previous experience of the event, provisions will be required for privately booked coaches, arranged by attendees 
rather than the event. 

Rail 

Both Grantham station (London North Eastern Railway, East Midlands Trains Hull Trains) and Stamford Station (East 
Midlands trains) are within reasonable distance (25-30 minute journey time), however due to service limitations on 
egress, usage is expected to be low. Attendees arriving to the stations are likely to utilise taxi services to arrive to the site. 
Communications with station operators will take place if required. 
 
 

ACCESS 
NUMBER 

ACCESS FUNCTION  OPERATIONAL INFORMATION ROAD ACCESS  

1 ALL ACCESS DURING BUILD/BREAK 
EGRESS ONLY DURING LIVE EVENT 
 

BUILD AND BREAK AND LIVE EVENT 
PHASE 

A151 

2 INGRESS ONLY: ALL INGRESS, 
INCLUDING SECONDARY BLUE 
ROUTE 

EVENT LIVE PHASE A151 

3 EGRESS ONLY FOR TAXIS AND 
PRIVATE VEHICLES 

EVENT LIVE PHASE A151 

4 PRIMARY BLUE ROUTE & ARTISTS LIVE EVENT PHASE A151 

105



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

10	

Pedestrians 

No pedestrian access to the event site will be advertised, with the organisers promoting use of the scheduled coach services 
an, any shuttle bus services and the event car park. Marshals positioned externally to the site will advise there is no 
pedestrian access and attendees must stay in vehicles to be dropped off at the designated pick up and drop off area on 
the site.  Advisory chapter 8 signage will also be placed.

106



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

11	

2. TRAFFIC AND PEDESTRIAN MANAGEMENT PLAN   

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN BREAKDOWN  
 
This section is divided into the following sections:  

• Build and Break Phase | Traffic Management Plan  
• Live Event Phase | Traffic Management Plan  
• Traffic Management Provisions 
• Emergency Access and Contingency planning  

 
OBJECTIVES 
The objectives of this TMP are as follows:  

• Maintenance of public safety 
• To minimise disruption to all highway users  
• The maintenance of traffic flow in the area surrounding the event  
• Minimise disruption to key routes  
• Minimising disruption to residents and local businesses   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

107



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

12	

2.1 BUILD AND BREAK PHASE – TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN  

2.1.1 BUILD AND BREAK OVERVIEW  

The date of the build phase of the event is due to start 1 weeks in advance of the event and finish 1 week post event. The 
number and impact of vehicles accessing the site is not expected to cause significant impact on the highway network. 
Access to the site is good for all relevant vehicle loads for the event. 

During the build and break phase, production traffic, deliveries and traders will be given directions and chapter 8 signage 
is to be installed directing to Access 1 (Figure 1).  

A site speed limit of 5mph for vehicles travelling on site is recommended. 

2.1.2 ADVANCED NOTIFICATION OF TEMPORARY TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT  

Advanced warning signs will be placed 2 weeks in advance of the event, notifying highway users of possible delays on 
the network on 05 May 2019.   

108



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

13	

2.2 TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 05 MAY 2019 
 
Expected attendance: 6,500 
 
2.2.1 PROJECTED TRANSPORT USAGE FORECAST  

This section details the projected transport usage per live event phase and the traffic management provisions proposed to 
be put in place to facilitate the safe access of persons to and from the event site. Customer surveys to be conducted prior 
to the event to test these projections.   

TABLE 4 | Transport Forecasts 

TRANSPORT TYPE USE FORECAST  

Private vehicles 35% [2,275 people] 
 

Taxi / Private Hire 40% [2,600 people] 

Scheduled / Private Coaches  25% [1,625 people] 

Transport forecasts will be updated as relevant, based on sales for the scheduled coaches and parking sales (should these 
be sold in advance of the event). 

2.2.2 EVENT TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PROVISIONS  

TABLE 5 | Event Traffic Management Provisions 

PROVISION  
DESCRIPTION DATES / TIMINGS 

 
APPENDIX / 

FIGURE 

Chapter 8 
directional 
signage  

A chapter 8 signage schedule to be developed to 
vehicles to appropriate accesses 

3rd – 6th May TBA 

Internal site 
signage 

A signs schedule to direct traffic and pedestrians 
internally within the site 

5th May N/A 

A temporary 
speed limit 
(restriction) 

A temporary 30mph speed limit on the A151 to 
maintain safety of public and highway users, given 
high volumes of traffic turning to and from the site 

 

3rd – 6th May 

 

Figure 1 (signs plan 
TBA) 

Temporary 
Traffic Signals 

Temporary Traffic signals (3-phase) at access 3 
(Figure 1) to enable management of traffic on ingress 
and egress. Signals may not be in use at all times / 
may only be switched on during peak times. Required 
signage to be placed.  

5th May Figure 1 (traffic 
management 
drawing TBA0 

Internal traffic 
management 
systems 

Including traffic management provided by CPA 
Events, traffic staffing, one-way and multi lane 
systems to reduce queuing risks and impact on 
highway network 

5th May Figure 1 

109



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

14	

2.2.3 EMERGENCY ACCESS 

Primary emergency access is to be via Access 4. Additional work on the site is proposed to enable access to more areas 
of the site from this access point.  Access for emergency vehicles is to be maintained at all times if required through any 
traffic management. Secondary emergency access is via Access 2.  

2.2.4 INGRESS PHASE 
 

A - Private Car  

Attendees: 

The on-site public car park is shown in Figure 1. Vehicles will arrive via Access 2 and will follow signage and internal 
existing roadways to the designated car park area. Ticket checks / sales will take place in multiple lanes, well within the 
event site, to ensure an efficient process that does not impact on traffic flow. 

Staff / Production: 

The staff / production car park is shown in Figure 1. Vehicles will arrive via Access 2 and will follow signage and internal 
existing roadways to the designated staff/production parking area. Access checks will take place on entry to the area, well 
within the event site. 

Artists: 

Any specific provisions for parking TBC and, if any, to be included in a future version of this document.  

B - Taxi or private hire vehicle 

The Pick Up and Drop Off area for taxis and private vehicles is shown in Figure 1. Vehicles will travel between 500m and 
700m before dropping passengers off. There is a one-way system in place to aid traffic flow, with ingress via Access 2. 
Egress is via access 3.  

Private Event Coach Services 

Coaches will arrive via Access 2 and follow internal signage / stewards instruction to the designated Coach Drop / Collect 
area, shown in Figure 1. There will be staff and infrastructure to direct arrivals from coaches to the entrance tent. Coaches 
are due to remain on site. 

Based on previous experience of the event, provisions will be required for privately booked coaches, not arranged by 
attendees rather than the event. 

Rail 

Those choosing to use rail to reach the event, will need to complete their journey via another mode of transport (likely taxi 
/ private hire vehicle). As such, provisions as covered under the Taxi or Private Hire vehicle section above. 
 
Pedestrians 

Pedestrian access will be discouraged through pre-event communications. 

 

 

 

 

110



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

15	

2.2.3 Egress Phase 
 
A - Private Car  

Attendees: 

Attendees will routed from the event area to the car park via staff and signage (including a VMS). Egress will be via Access 
1 and staffing and signage will be in place to support with the egress of vehicles. 

Staff / Production: 

The staff / production car park is shown in Figure 1. Egress will be via Access 1 and staffing and signage will be in place to 
support with the egress of vehicles. 

Artists: 

Any specific arrangements TBA. Otherwise, artists will park in the staff/production area. 

B – Taxi, private hire vehicle or private vehicle drop off 

The Pick Up and Drop Off area for taxis and private vehicles is shown in Figure 1. Vehicles will travel between 500m and 
700m before dropping passengers off. There is a one-way system in place to aid traffic flow, with ingress via Access 2. 
Egress is via access 3. Some egress may take place via Access 1, should Access 3 become congested and Access 1 be 
flowing. 

Private Event Coach Services 

Coaches will be in position before the start of the egress phase. Signage / stewards will be in place to support with the 
loading of coaches, overseen by Priory Coaches. 

Based on previous experience of the event, provisions will be required for privately booked coaches, arranged by attendees 
rather than the event. Coaches will depart via Access 1. 

Rail 

Rail services during the egress phase have been examined at both Grantham and Stamford. Usage will be particularly 
low, given the event finish times and last services (latest from Grantham is to London Kings Cross at 22.35).  If any 
usages exists, attendees will likely leave the site via taxis / private vehicles and complete journeys by rail. As such, 
provisions as covered under the Taxi or Private Hire vehicle section above. 
 
Pedestrians 

Pedestrian access (including leaving site) will be discouraged through pre-event communications. Pedestrians leaving the 
event arena will be directed to the appropriate transport location by staff and signage, including a VMS sign (Figure 1). The 
pick up and drop off point is located furthest from the highway network, to reduce risk of pedestrians leaving site on foot 
and to create greatest queuing space.  

Significant infrastructure will be required to manage pedestrians internally within the site, particularly proximate to the coach 
collect area and event car park, given the high volumes of pedestrians. Risk within the event car park, given potential for 
intoxicated pedestrians and high volumes of moving vehicles, should be considered.  

2.2.2 PERMITS AND APPLICATIONS 

It is the intention to apply to Lincolnshire Highways for a temporary traffic order, details of the proposed provisions are in 
the table below. 

 

111



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

16	

TABLE 6 | Permits and Applications 
TYPE APPLICANT AUTHORITY START FINISH ROADS IMPACTED 
Temporary 
Traffic 
Regulation 
Order 

Exurbia 
Events 

Lincolnshire 
Highways 

TBC (following 
consultation) 

TBC (following 
consultation) 

A151 

TABLE 7 | TTRO DETAIL 
USRN ORDER TO BE APPLIED FOR DATE(S) 
ROAD NAME | A151 

USRN | TBC	
	

 

Temporary Reduction in Speed Limit TBC; to include event on 5th May 

TABLE 8 | TEMPORARY TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT | SUNDAY 05 MAY 

*Please note; install and remove times may vary by 30 minutes depending on final agreed event finish time / time for egress 
to take place. 

Figure 2 (to be added) will show the detailed traffic management drawing. The location for the proposed traffic signals are 
shown in Figure 1. The AA are the signs contractor and will produce, install and remove chapter 8 signage. A full signs 
map and schedule will be made available as Figure 6. 

2.3 EXTERNAL STAFFING 

Traffic staff will be located externally to support with monitoring of traffic, as well as to protect interests of local residents. 
Local resident accesses have been identified and, subject to consultation, it is proposed that staff will be positioned to 
restrict access (to event attendees) and impact as a result of the event. 

2.4 CONTINGENCY PLANNING / CONSIDERATION OF OTHER EVENTS / WORKS 

2.5.1 EVENTS 

To be updated following consultation with the Leicestershire SAG Group. 

2.5.2 STREETWORKS 

To be updated within 3 months in advance of the event // following consultation with the Leicestershire SAG Group. 
 
2.6 RESIDENTS 

Exurbia Events will have responsibility for communications with residents. Traffic management proposals and plans will be 
shared.  

2.7 COMMUNICATIONS STRATEGY 

Traffic management will sit under direct control of the event manager. Decisions making, other than in extraordinary 
circumstances, will be made by the traffic manager. The traffic manager will report directly in to event management / event 
management during the event-live phase. 

PROVISION LOCATION INSTALL* REMOVE* FIGURE 

TEMPORARY SPEED LIMIT A151 – exact locations TBC 
following consultation 

TBC TBC TBC 

3-phase traffic signals A151 at Access 3 10.00 00.00 TBC 

112



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

17	

Communications regards traffic will be channelled via the event communication channels. If required and subject to 
contract, A CPA member of staff can be positioned in the control room to ensure appropriate communications with relevant 
stakeholders and to act as a loggist for traffic. 

2.8 CONTINGENCY PLANS 

TABLE 9 | Contingency Plans 
 

OBSTRUCTIONS ON INGRESS 
ROUTE 

CONTINGECY PLAN NOTES 

Roads becoming congested, 
emergency works, road traffic 
incidents  

Existing communication channels utilised to send 
messaging to customers and required contractors and 
agencies. Communication to be take place through 
event control with relevant agencies as required. 

Utilisation of event-
communication 
strategies to inform 
attendees.  

COACHES IMPACTED CONTINGENCY PLAN   NOTES  

Coaches not able to operate [eg 
mechanical issues, driver issues] 

Communications with private coach company and 
existing relationships / other private providers 

Promotion of pick up and drop off point 

Communications with relevant taxi companies 

Utilisation of event-
communication 
strategies to inform 
attendees 

PEDESTRIANS ARRIVING TO 
SITE 

CONTINGECY PLAN NOTES 

People arrive to site on foot, seeking 
access 

Instructions provided by staff to ensure safety.  N/A] 

EXCESSIVE VEHICLES 
INTENDING TO PARK 

CONTINGENCY PLAN   NOTES  

Higher than expected vehicles 
arriving to park (lower numbers 
dropping off at site) 

 

Overflow parking area proximate to the pick up and 
drop off area to be activated  

CPA to inform event 
management and event 
organiser to ensure 
sufficient management 
of pedestrian ingress 
from car park. 

 

SHOWSTOP / EVENT FINISHING 
EARLY  

CONTINGENCY PLAN   NOTES  

Traffic Management Provisions 

 

 

Traffic Management to be installed as per egress plan, 
unless Event Management instruct otherwise. Staff to 
remain in position unless threat to safety exists. Other 
staff [eg security] may be required to support with 
egress provisions if CPA egress shifts have not 
started. 

Event Management to 
coordinate a response 
and relay to CPA Traffic 
Manager. Either 
implement egress 

113



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

18	

strategy or implement no 
vehicle movement. 

EXCESSIVE VEHICLE VOLUMES 
IN PICK UP AND DROP OFF  

CONTINGENCY PLAN   NOTES  

High volumes of traffic on site 
creating delays 

Utilisation of available space on site; may include 
additional ‘loops’ assigned for vehicles to drop off or 
pick up / re-routing to utilise on site capacity. 

CPA in inform event 
management. Additional 
staff may be required.  

VEHICLES IGNORING TRAFFIC 
ORDER / DROPPING OFF 
EXTERNAL TO SITE OR ON 
ACCESS ROAD 

CONTINGENCY PLAN   NOTES  

Vehicles dropping / stopping 
external to site, impact on highway 
network. 

Re-deployment of staff to resolve and ensure drivers 
drive on to site to drop / collect. 

CPA in inform event 
management. Additional 
staff may be required.  

BREACH OF BARRIER ON 
EGRESS 

CONTINGENCY PLAN   NOTES  

Pedestrians de-construct 
infrastructure 

Re-deployment of staff to resolve and reinstall. Vehicle 
movement stopped in interest of public safety if 
required. Security staff bolster at breach point if 
required.  

CPA in inform event 
management. Additional 
staff may be required.  

 
  

 

 

114



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

19	

3. CONCLUSION 

 
This document is for consultation purposes.  
 
This TMP details the provisions to be implemented to facilitate the safe ingress and egress of visitors to the event. 
 
Provisions for the event include:  

- Traffic and transport provisions, including a dedicated private coach service to various locations throughout the 
UK, a pick up and drop off operation and an event car park. 

- Traffic management provisions to reduce potential impact on the local highway network and to enhance safety, 
such as a temporary speed limit 

- Temporary traffic signals operational at peak times to support with effective management of traffic. 
- Chapter 8 road signage to support routing to appropriate accesses. 
- A robust internal traffic and crowd management plan to enable a safe egress, supported with robust staffing levels 

NOTES 

 
This TMP is in draft form and remains a draft until the status is changed to final within the version control section.  

Whilst this document reaches a point whereby all agencies agree to the document, the document and its contingencies 
must remain flexible to accommodate any changes that may occur during the implementation stage of the plan. 

This is a working document. Feedback and consultations will take place to enable the development of this plan. 

Subject to consultation with all stakeholders, a TTRO application will be submitted for the provisions detailed in this 
document.  

115



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

20	

4. FIGURES AND APPENDICES 

	

FIGURES 

FIGURE NUMBER DESCRIPTION  

1 Site Overview (traffic) 

2 3-Phase Traffic Lights (to be added) 

3 Public Parking (to be added) 

4 Coaching Parking (to be added) 

5 PUDO (to be added) 

6 Chapter 8 Signs Plan (to be added) 
	

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX NUMBER DESCRIPTION  

1 Permits and Applications (to be added) 

2 Risk Assessments (to be added) 

3 Method Statements (to be added) 
	

116



50
35
00

50
40
00

50
45
00

Track

Limekiln Cottage

Tra
ck

Tower Farm

Williamson's

Plantation

Drain

Track

69m

A1
51

53m

Bishopshall

Track

Dr
ain

Fo
ur
 M
ile

Track

Ri
di
ng

Red

Bridge

Tr
ac
k

Weir

44m

74m

Track

The Oaks

Track

Parks

Home

Tr
ac
k

49m

Oaks Cottages

Tr
ac
k

Drain

Drain
North Avenue

Drain

Dairy Farm

Castle

Grimsthorpe

63m

Fn

Path

Path

49m

Dr
ain

A151

Tra
ck

62m

Wood

61m

PH

Trac
k

Cottages

Hilltop

Grimsthorpe

House

The

Groves

Grimsthorpe

T
T

I
L

L
E

Ws

C

Drain

L

Featherwell

Farm

A151

Row

Featherwell

Track

42m

43m

A151

Drain

ARTISTS /
CREW CAR
PARK

TAXIS / PICK
UP AND DROP
OFF

FORSTEDD H
ILL

A15
1

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

TL

PUBLIC ACCESS TO EVENT

VMS

CLIENT: EXURBIA EVENTS

PROJECT TITLE: FORBIDDEN FOREST 2019

DRAWING TITLE: 

STATUS: 

DRAWING NUMBER: 

WORK IN PROGRESS

FF20190001.0

SITE LOCATION: GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE PARK, PE10 0LY

the property of Carparkat Ltd . CarParkat Ltd, trading
as CPA events. This document is issued to the client
in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, 
a copy of which is available on request

This document has been prepared by CarParkat Ltd and remains

Email: hello@carparkat.com
Website: www.cpa-events.com
Address: 120 Screenworks, London, N5 2EF

DRAWING DATEVERSION COMMENTS DRAWN BY APPROVED BY

28-01-191 BGAWSITE OVERVIEW

TRAFFIC OVERVIEW

NOTES
- ALL TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT WILL COMPLY WITH THE SAFETY AT STREET

WORKS AND ROAD WORKS CODE OF PRACTICE

- THE TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT ILLUSTRATED SHALL ONLY BE INSTALLED WITH
APPROVAL FROM THE HIGHWAY AUTHORITY

- THIS DRAWING IS NOT TO BE REPRODUCED OR DISTRIBUTED WITHOUT
PERMISSION FROM CPA EVENTS

- ACCESS COLOURS / CODES TBC

- BARRIER AND TRAFFIC EQUIPMENT TO BE INSTALLED TO SUPPORT
OPERATION AND CROWD MANAGEMENT

KEY

ACCESS 1

ACCESS 2

EVENT AREA [GUIDE]

ACCESS 3

ACCESS 4

3-PHASE TRAFFIC SIGNALS

TEMPORARY SPEED LIMIT

PICK UP / DROP OFF AREA

TEMPORARY TRACKWAY

TL TOWER LIGHT (TBC)

PROPOSED EXTERNAL STAFFED LOCATION

VMS VMS SIGN (TBC)

CONTINGENCY PARKING

117

Brian Goodwin
FIGURE 1



FORBIDDEN FOREST | GRIMSTHORPE CASTLE | 05 MAY 2019 | TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 

   CarParkAt Ltd | 120 Screenworks, 22 Highbury Grove, Islington, N5 2EF | E: hello@carparkat.com | W: www.carparkat.com 
   This document runs in conjunction with our standard terms and conditions, a copy of which is available upon request 

21	

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

END OF DOCUMENT 

118



Appendix 2

119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148

Lucy_b
Typewriter
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx



149

Lucy_b_1
Typewriter
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx



150



151



152



153



154



155



This page is intentionally left blank



 

13N-FF19-CWT 1 
 

 

FORBIDDEN FOREST MAY 2019  

Customer Walkthrough Experience  
 

 

 

 

Revision Date Version Number Content Change Author 

12/02/2019 1.0 New Document AW 

    

    

    

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version Date Principal Author 

1.0 18/03/2019 Anthony Webb 

APPENDIX 3

157



 

13N-FF19-CWT 2 
 

Forbidden Forest May 2019 

The Journey: Customer walk through  

This document gives a customer perspective on arrivals to ticket checks, searching, enhanced 

searching, circulation, egress and eviction. The Security Risk Management Plan Forbidden Forest 

May 2019 doc. Provides in depth information of each process as required. 

Customer Arrival onto site 

On arrival to the event, the customer will first come in contact with traffic marshals within their 

mode of transport. Traffic marshals will direct the customers mode of transport to the correct area, 

be it vehicle and coach drop off or the public paid car park. 

 

Arrival walk to Ticket check 

All customers will then follow signage and the natural footfall of the crowd towards the entrance for 

ticket scanning and ID checking. Multiple amnesty bins will present opportunity to dispose of any 

prohibited items. 

Customer (ALL)  ticket check and ID 

On arrival customers will receive a soft ticket check from a FF member of staff. 

158



 

13N-FF19-CWT 3 
 

Security will be Challenge 25 no id no entry. If challenged and no government level identification can 

be shown then the customer will be refused entry. 

Once cleared to be over 18 by security, tickets will be scanned by stewards. During this process Any 

ticket issues referred to ticket enquirers located prior to ticket check. 

(ALL) Ticket check to Search Area 

On clearing ticket and Id checks, a walk-through area with venders, toilets and a pop up DJ booth in 

the form of a land rover will be playing music to start the ambience of the forest. This MC will be 

used to communicate any information to the public. 

Lockers for personal possessions are available. Also for potential Prohibited items such as 

glass/perfume/oversized baggage. 

Amnesty bins present the final opportunities prior to searching. 

On arrival to the search lanes, there will be 16-18 lanes made of pedestrian barrier. The queuing 

time is estiamted from 5-20minutes 

Customer (ALL) Standard Search 

The standard search consists of a asking for permission from the customer, a  bag check and metal 

detector check. A visual check of customer clothing will also be undertaken. If required the customer 

will empty pockets.  

For this event all customers, artists and staff, will be required to undertake the magnetic wand 

process. The detector should be passed over the customer’s body at a distance of no more than 3 to 

4 inches. Avoid touching the body or clothing with the detector.  

However, for some baggier clothing such as large jackets, it may be necessary to hold the detector 

against or more into the fabric while scanning in order to stay within 3 to 4 inches of all body 

surfaces.  If nothing found is prohibited the customer will proceed into the event arena. 

Should there be any issues with customers within the search area, or at the ticket scanning point, a 

Supervisor will be involved to assist in order to ensure that the customer ingress is uninhibited.   

Each search is around 20 seconds. 

Drugs detection dogs will be deployed under control of the event security team post search area. 

Any indications by the dogs will require the customer to be escorted by members of security to the 

enhanced search area. 

In the event customers volunteer narcotics over to the dog handlers, it will be treated as an amnesty 

surrender. The individual will still be escorted enhanced searching. Standard operating procedure 

dictates anyone caught with personal use narcotics will have them confiscated, and they will still be 

allowed to enter upon agreement with event security. 

If any person purposely tries to injure any of the canines then they will be ejected the festival with 

permission of the Head of Event security. Depending on the severity of the injury the person may be 

arrested on suspicion of criminal damage. They would be detained under The Animal Welfare Act, 

which is a piece of legislation which aims to ensure that animals are not mistreated by humans, 

whether through improper care or sheer cruelty. The Animal Welfare Act 2006 was introduced by 

DEFRA to combat animal abuse and came into force in 2007. 

159



 

13N-FF19-CWT 4 
 

 

Customer (Selected) Enhanced Search 

Customers who have been highlighted by the profiling team, have been indicated by the detection 

dogs or who display behaviour that requires additional searching will be escorted into the enhanced 

search area.  A more thorough search will take place to ensure no prohibited items are admitted to 

the event site. This will be observed and managed by a 13Noir supervisor and admin team which will 

report to Event Control. 

 

 A sample routine follows:  Ask the customer to place all carried items, plus any caps or headgear to 

the side. The customer should stand with his or her feet about 18 inches apart, facing forward and 

about 2 feet from any obstructions. Ask the customer to hold his or her arms out to the sides, parallel 

to the floor.  

 

Customer Search Matrix  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- No prohibited items found – proceed into event. 
- Prohibited items found – redirected to lockers. (glass, perfume etc) 
- Illegal item found – Escorted to enhanced search tent for processing (this customer has 

failed to amnesty illicit items and now stands to be potentially refused entry) 
 

Providing the customer consents, can now be subject to a more thorough search (deep pocket 

search, shoes and socks, waistbands, hats, wallets and bags emptied, coats and jackets emptied) 

160



 

13N-FF19-CWT 5 
 

- Small Quantities found:- Subject to refusal of entry, Processed through Enhanced Search 
Area. 

- Large Quantities found:- Detained and escorted to the Ejection Centre, Possible Police 
Intervention. 

- Offensive Weapon or Potential Offensive Weapon Found:- Detained and escorted to the 
Ejection Centre, Possible Police Intervention. 

- Anyone in the enhanced search process area could be subject to potential refusal of entry or 
possible police intervention. 

- Any confiscated items are placed into secure storage supervised by the enhanced search 
area.  

- Potential illegal items of interest to the police will be evidence bagged and tagged, and kept 
with response team while the individual is detained pending police arrival. 
 

 

Entering into the event arena.  

Upon entering the arena, the event space offers good signage for welfare and first aid. Security and 

stewards will be in high visibility if any issues arise. Circulation is good and capacity is safe as per the 

Crowd management plan. 

There is a strict no re-entry policy. Signage detailing this will be displayed at the entrance.   

 

Customer eviction 

If misbehaving, anti social behaviour or breach of terms and conditions, response team detains and 

escorts to eviction centre for processing. 

The licence for each event is granted under strict conditions of attendance and customers safety, 

prevention of disorder and prevention of customers nuisance. Any person who disrupts the Event 

under any of the below sections will leave themselves liable for eviction from site. The decision as to 

the eviction will be at the discretion of the Security Manager following advice from security staff 

and/or the event organiser.  

Persons will be liable for eviction under the following circumstances:   

a. Entering or being onsite without a ticket or relevant pass/ wristband  

b. Unacceptable, disruptive or anti-social behaviour  

c. Having been arrested or cautioned in connection with a criminal offence, pending or post hand-

over to the Police  

 Unacceptable behaviour that can lead to eviction includes: 

- illegal activity  

- breaching the terms and conditions of entry  

- failing to submit to a search upon entry to the site  

- offensive behaviour  

- throwing hard objects in the direction of people  

- encouraging others to behave badly by incitement  

- preventing security or emergency services reacting to a situation  

- building or fuelling fires  

161



 

13N-FF19-CWT 6 
 

- committing a criminal offence but not arrested by the police  

- in possession of unlawful drugs   

- climbing trees 

- unofficially selling alcohol, tobacco, counterfeit or any unauthorised goods ticket touting  

- any other behaviour that leaves the event holder open to prosecution or is not conducive to 

maintaining a safe event  

  
Customer Eviction Procedure  

All persons presented for eviction will be interviewed by the Eviction Security Manager. Should their 

reason for eviction be warranted then their eviction will be granted.  The eviction security manager 

will complete an Eviction Report (Appendix D In SMP) and record the eviction in the event log. The 

eviction reports  ensures evictee welfare and ability for onward travel (cash etc). An note on current 

welfare observations will be made with the option for a basic medical screening if required. 

 All evictions will be performed by a minimum of 2 security, one who is required to wear body cam.   

 All evictees will be evicted from event space to designated eviction area 

 All evictees will receive a letter detailing the eviction process and details of onward transportation 

Escorted to ejections area by pick up/drop off area outside of event arena but still in the grounds. 

The eviction area is not manned but has transport info wit  options to get taxis and onward travel.  

If no means of transport Exurbia events will provide shuttle bus to nearest safe haven TBC. 

 

Customer Egress 

Egress will be possible at all times via the Main Entrance. As there is a strict no re-entry policy 

customers shall be advised of this before they exit.  

 As there is no phased shut-down of stages, bars and concessions stewards will be on stand-by with 

loudhailers to instruct customers. If required, a break in the crowd can also be made by a line of 

stewards so a staged egress can commence.  

The Arena Entrance staff shall prepare the entrance for mass egress approximately 30 minutes prior 

to the headline act finishing. All crowd barriers, tables etc. shall be removed to ensure the entrance 

is at its maximum width.  

Security staff will be placed strategically along the egress route to ensure customers stay on the 

designated route.  

Supervisors shall be at appropriate positions along the egress route to feedback any information to 

Security Control.  

Coaches, buses, taxis, etc arriving for egress will be allowed to stack/rank as much as possible on site 

and there is a practiced team of people to ensure guest disperse on the right transport and reach the 

right destination.   

 

 

162



 

13N-FF19-CWT 7 
 

Communication to customer 

As a customer, throughout the event communication will occur on site via the following methods:  

- Social Media – Facebook, Twitter, WhatsApp  
- SMS bulk text messaging service (potential) 
- Leaflet hand-outs (for emergency situations only)  
- Stage announcements 
- Loud Hailers  
- Variable Message Signage (VMS)  
- Info stand updates  
- Noticeboard points across site (in front of stages for line-ups)  
- Local, national and online proactive media statements.  
- There will be direct liaison between the Communications Manager and Event 

Control over the distribution of official statements to all key managers and 
personnel who deal directly with the public (bar staff, stewards, security, welfare, 
medics etc..) to ensure that all customer facing staff are promoting the same 
message. FF2019 will engage a designated Live-Communications team within Event 
Control to oversee the different forms of digital media, incoming and outgoing, to 
ensure cohesion and rapid response to communication changing.   

 

The customer will view clear and unambiguous signage with regard to areas that are beyond public 

access, access/egress points, directions to facilities and amenities and route finding information 

between areas. Where possible this signage will use recognised symbols, shapes and colours that are 

in everyday use. 

 

END 

163



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

SEPTEMBER 2018 CONCERNS AND RESOLUTIONS FOR MAY 2019 EVENT 

 

 

 

This overview aims to highlight the operational areas requiring further attention given the 

intelligence received from the September 2018 Forbidden Forest event. The event is a one-day 

EDM (electronic dance music) event which had previously taken place at Prestwold Hall. 

Throughout this document we have identified the mitigation measures incorporated into the 

planning of the May 2019 event at Grimsthorpe.  

 

Throughout the planning stages we have been fortunate enough to have the added support and 

advice of the South Kesteven / Grantham SAG team. Historically the planning for such events has 

been without a dedicated SAG team. Charnwood Borough Council did not operate with a 

dedicated SAG team 

All considerations for improvement are led by our responsibility to reduce public nuisance, crime 

and disorder and ensure public safety whilst implementing intelligence from previous events 

Successes Successes given post May 2018 feedback: 

 

• Proportionally increase infrastructure to facilitate number of 

enhanced searches 

• Coordination with the Police on reportable quantities  

• Improved Amnesty opportunities 

• Review deployment of bins ref new site & ingress layout 

• More robust evictions procedure and associated data 

collection 

• Continued focus on duty of care 

• Reduction in overt drug taking and crime 

• Continued focus on search procedures  

• Nitrous oxide much reduced but still an issue – developed 

policy in the security management plan surrounding NOS 

165



 

 

• Customer messaging around dangers of the misuse of 

Alcohol and drugs 

• No major crowd management issues faced within the 

arenas  

• Medical response time / extraction  

• Customer communications regarding dangerously high-

dose German substance on-site 

• Nitrous oxide much reduced but still an issue – developed 

policy in the security management plan surrounding NOS 

• Increased focus on car parks  

• Reduction in unauthorised entry 

 

Note: that the successes identified above were either attested to or presented by Charnwood Borough 

Council and/or Leicestershire police in September 2018 de-brief meeting. 

Suggestion for 

further 

improvements  

Further improvements to be made: 

• Queuing and customer entrance infrastructure levels 

suitable to cope for worst case scenario of 100% of 

customers arriving in the first 2 hours of ingress 

(calculations available in the Security Management Plan 

and the Crowd Management Plan) 

• Development of Crowd Management Plan, liaising between 

Event Safety and Security 

• Confiscated items, ticket issues and soft ticket checks 

moved away from the search area to improve flow and 

support security in delivering their own roles and 

responsibilities 

• Multiple entry points into the search system  

• Sourcing a mobile PA system for improved customer 

communications 

• Better use of social media for improved customer 

communications throughout the event lifecycle 

• Detailed briefings to all teams involved in the entry process 

with emphasis on the contingency supplies available (e.g. 

water / infrastructure) 

• Increased toilet facilities within drop off zones and 

ingress/egress routes 

Improved overall management communications implementing a traffic 

management controller based within event control to ensure staggering of 

any changes to arrivals schedule and to allow for reactive management / 

instant strategic deployment 

166



 

Traffic 

management 

Concerns: 

• Lacking external traffic management resources / wider web 

of control / remote physical sign posts 

• Lacking any support or advise from the local Highways 

authority given no representation at any meetings 

• Publication of incorrect pin location for event drop off 

 

Resolutions: 

• Wider web of control, introduction of remote ‘Mobile sign 

posts’ – increased visible directional support to improve 

external traffic flow 

• SAG team allows for local knowledge and understanding to 

be implemented into our traffic management and planning 

• New traffic management company involved (CPA) with a 

better knowledge and understanding of similar styles of 

events 

• Ensure correct pin location is publicised for the event, and 

that social media platforms are monitored so that 

corrections can be made to customer posts 

• Ensure that external traffic management resources are 

visual, rather than vocal, to reduce vehicles stopping 

maintaining flow 

• Traffic orders implemented with advice from Highways 

agency allowing for mandatory controls on reducing speed 

limits and implementing no waiting cones and right turn only 

exit routes. 

Customer 

Ingress / External 

impact 

 

Concerns: 

• Taxis not entering site for pick-ups due to the lack of 

signage giving reference to the drop off / pick up zones 

internal to site 

• No waiting cones not in place to allow enforcement of taxis 

stopping externally 

• Taxis monopolising external roads required halting exit to 

site whilst clearing roads of pedestrians and vehicles 

• Lack of strategic level Traffic Control or response team able 

to be called into Control due to limited reach of comms 

• Single point of access /egress for all vehicles including 

coaches (excl Blue Route) 

Resolutions: 

167



 

• Traffic Management Plan and associated traffic orders 

covers wider external area 

• Support and advise from local Highways team 

• Traffic controller working alongside event control 

• Signal boosters (repeaters) used in areas of bad signal 

• Traffic orders sought for reducing speed limits and 

implementing no waiting cones 

• Traffic control in place for ingress and egress 

• Multiple Ingress / Egress routes segregated coach route 

and dedicated Blue route(s) 

• Ability to contain all elements of traffic on-site, in a 

controlled manner due to change in nature and layout of site 

• Contingency plans developed to support above 

 

Customer Egress 

/ External impact  

 

Concern:  

• Taxis not entering site for pick-ups due to the lack of 

signage giving reference to the drop off / pick up zones 

internal to site 

• No waiting cones not in place to allow enforcement of taxis 

stopping externally 

• Taxis monopolising external roads required halting exit to 

site whilst clearing roads of pedestrians and vehicles 

• Lack of strategic level Traffic Control or response team able 

to be called into Control due to lacking reach of comms 

• Single point of access /egress for all vehicles including 

coaches (excl Blue Route) 

 

Resolution: 

• Traffic Management Plan and associated traffic orders covers wider 

external area 

• Support and advise from local Highways team 

• Traffic orders sought for reducing speed limits and implementing no 

waiting cones 

• Traffic control in place for ingress and egress 

• Multiple Ingress / Egress routes segregated coach route and 

dedicated Blue route(s) 

• Ability to contain all elements of traffic on-site, in a controlled 

manner due to change in nature and layout of site 

• Contingency plans developed to support above 

168



 

 

 

Public nuisance  

Concerns: 

• Taxis not utilising planned drop off / pick up points and 

instead dropping and collecting pedestrians in local village 

• Vehicle egress issues meant that pedestrians became 

impatient and left site on-foot 

• Local pub was the only landmark in the village so many 

customers / taxis using this as pick up / drop off point 

• Geotag on social media was misleading 

• Toilets not available (however note that toilets were 

available in the planned PUDO area) 

• Venue held responsibility for residents’ communications - 

didn’t reach the wider net as required for ensuring local 

awareness of event (led to general complaints given no 

understanding of the event) 

 

Resolution: 

• Expand the reach of the festival infrastructure and resource 

to ensure local asset protection (e.g. fencing, stewards, 

security, signage, toilets, bins, local landmarks etc)  

• Expand the web of the traffic management plan and 

controls 

• Development and delivery of Local Residents Engagement 

Plan to ensure local awareness of event with Exurbia 

leading this alongside the venue / local parish 

• Increase in staffing levels external to the site to support 

 

Staff 

Competency / 

Internal team 

New Traffic Management company employed 

 

•  CPA have worked with Exurbia on 2 successful events 

within similar rural locations - October, December 2018 and 

March 2019)  

• CPA Events will provide traffic staff to manage the traffic 

operation for the event. The staffing specification will 

include; 

•    A Traffic Manager (qualified under the New Roads And 

Street Works Qualifications – Unit 10 

169



 

• Supervisors (trained internally by CPA and externally by 

The Tess Group or Project Skills Solutions) 

• Traffic Operatives (qualified under either the New Roads 

And Street Works Qualification Unit 2 or NCFE Chapter 8 

training course 

• Traffic Marshals / Banksman - training as recommended by 

the HSE / Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) 

Regulations 1996. 

x Traffic Stewards (Internally trained / briefed) 

• Traffic planning for the event has been checked by a staff 

member with the LANTRA M7 qualification. 

 

New Event Safety Advisor 

 

•  Sygma Safety & Events Ltd (worked with Exurbia on 3 

successful events October and December 2018 and March 

2019)  

• British Safety Council Diploma in Safety Management 

• Fellow member of the International Institute or Risk and 

Safety Management 

• Registered Safety Practitioner 

• Technical Member of IOSH 

• Level 5 Diploma in Crowd Science and Risk Analysis 

• HSE/NEBOSH Diploma in H&S Leadership 

• Safety at Festivals and Mass Gatherings Course (EPC) 

• C&G Train the Trainer Certificate 

• Personal License Holder 

• Temporary Demountable Structures course (EPC) 

• Currently studying for NCRQ Level 6 Diploma in Applied 

H&S 

• Chair of the planning and management chapter of 

www.purpleguide.co.uk 

• Member of National Outdoor Events Association 

• Member of the Production Services Association 

Event management qualifications 

• BA Hons Childhood and Youth studies class1 

• The Hawker prize for excellent academic achievement 

• Primary PGCE specializing in early years 

• Diploma in Event Safety Management 

• APMP – APM Project management Qualification 

 

 

170



 

 

 

 

  

  

171



This page is intentionally left blank



Good afternoon All,

As discussed on Tuesday 5th March 2019 in a separate meeting (aside from our second SAG meeting) 
at Grantham Police HQ, Exurbia Events expressed our appetite to work collaboratively with the 
police licensing team in appeasing concerns surrounding the license application for Grimsthorpe 
Castle. We were made aware of the police representation whilst noting that the police licensing 
team (Sergeant Kimble Enderby) felt the application may need to go to a hearing if reflective 
documentation wasn’t issued to support the representation. We all agreed that a hearing would be 
personnel bearing, time consuming and costly for all parties. 
Upon digesting some of the direct points raised within the meeting and most recently fully 
understanding the representation, Exurbia Events would be confident in collaboratively mitigating 
the concerns bolstering this with further support towards the license application if and where 
required.

To help ensure the above we have attached a returned copy of the representation with comments 
supporting our application. We have also created and attached detailed documents reflective of the 
representation of which are also found within the overall SMP. There were elements that were 
requested to be more defined and obtainable for which the additional documents underpin.

It is in Exurbia Events interests to be working collaboratively with all local authorities and statutory 
bodies in a way that breeds longevity. I feel that the direct communications and protective attitude 
towards maintaining such license solidifies the avidity of delivering events within the area.

Given file sizes I am unable to attach all in one E-mail so will forward remaining docs separately.

We look forward to your response

Regards A.

From: Enderby, Kimble
Sent: 08 March 2019 11:32
To: PAM ROBINSON (p.robinson@southkesteven.gov.uk); 'licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk'; 

173

mailto:Kimble.Enderby@lincs.pnn.police.uk
mailto:p.robinson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk


arron@exurbiaevents.co.uk
Subject: Forbidden Forest Application - Police Representation

Good Morning,
Please find attached Lincolnshire Police Representation to the Forbidden Forest Application.
Regards
Kimble.

Sergeant 1040 Kimble.J.Enderby.
Licensing (Alcohol).
Lincolnshire Police H.Q.
PO Box 999,
LN5 7PH.
  
01522-558448.
countylicensinggroup@lincs.pnn.police.uk

PLEASE NOTE: We are a Microsoft Office Site. Please make sure that files you send can be read in 
this format.

The information contained in this email is confidential and is intended for the addressee(s) only. Any 
attachments to this message contain information from Lincolnshire Police, which is confidential or 
privileged. 

The copyright in the contents of this message and any attachments is the property of Lincolnshire 
Police, and any unauthorised reproduction or disclosure is contrary to the provisions of the 
Copyrights, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

If you have received this message in error or there are any problems, please notify the originator 
immediately. The unauthorised use, disclosure, copying or alteration of this message is strictly 
forbidden.

Lincolnshire Police is not responsible for the content of this message. Individuals are responsible for 
messages transmitted under their user ID and their compliance with the law.

This message and any attachments have been scanned for viruses. Lincolnshire Police will not be 
liable for direct, special, indirect or consequential damages arising from alteration of the contents of 
this message or as a result of any virus being passed on.

174

mailto:arron@exurbiaevents.co.uk
mailto:countylicensinggroup@lincs.pnn.police.uk


 

 

Response to prior show feedback 
 
Comment 

• In car park observed male placing drugs in sock 
Additional Mitigation Measures employed 

• Additional security personnel allocated solely to provide overt presence throughout car 
parking area and identify potential issues with customers before the entry point.  

• Security schedule attached 
• Mobile CCTV will be used in the car park to feed into Event / Security Control 

 
Comment 

• Amnesty bins before search lanes, previously been issue as filled with rubbish. Again all 
amnesty bins filled with rubbish. Recommendation rubbish bins placed at front of search 
tables for bottles etc. Recommendation Amnesty bins placed at rear of search tables were 
security stand and searches take place. 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• Clear marking in advance of bins 
• Deployment of rubbish bins to front of search tables, in car parks and along the ingress 

route from the car park to the pedestrian entrance 
• Deployment of amnesty bins at rear of search tables 
• Amnesty bins will be clearly signed and will be secured with a small slot that will prohibit 

use for larger items 
 
Comment 

• All persons passed by drugs dogs and those where the dog indicated were sent to strip search 
location. There was an inconsistent approach to this. At times a member of security would 
escort the person to the search, area, at times they would be pointed in that direction and left 
to their own devises to make their own way. Plenty of opportunity to drop items or passed to 
friends who had not been identified by the dog. Also often queue for strip search tent and 
people queuing left unmonitored. 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• All persons requiring enhanced search will be escorted to the enhanced search area 
• Doubled enhanced search infrastructure / capacity 
• Heras fencing used to hold people in queue more effectively 
• Increased security deployment to 16 guards processing enhanced searches, in addition to an 

Enhanced Search supervisor 
• Anybody attempting to break free from security for enhanced searching will be escorted to the 

security compound for further in-depth processing 
 
Comment 

• Back logs would build up and then groups of ten plus would all walk past dog at same time, this 
caused difficulty for handler. 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• A more efficient search process, layout and security deployment has been implemented – see 

supporting security policy (APP/17), schedule (attached) and security management plan 
(APP/18) 

• Entry process has been staggered to allow more control at each stage 
• Increase in dog deployment from 2 working dogs to 8 working dogs at the customer entrance. 

 
Comment 

• Observed security bringing male back to entrance from arena. Suitable number of security for 
detaining him. However one security guard continually shouted at him “call me a nigger again.” 

175



 

 

Regardless of any offence the detain male had committed the security guard was aggressive 
and publicly it looked bad if not threatening at times. This male was then detained near to 
search tent. 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• New security provider for September 2018 
• Protocol and policy in place to clearly state event not tolerating this behaviour and 

methodology of dealing with it 
• Security guards identifiable via numbered tabards 
• Closer event management scrutiny of security assets during event period 
• Introduction of a new security compound where anyone requiring detention will be held in an 

adequately resourced and professional manner 
• Eviction processes have been reviewed and a more robust system put in place – see supporting 

security policy (APP/17) 
 

Comment 
• Not possible to make a judgement on success of strip searches. 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• Additional collecting of data surrounding enhanced searches as below  

o Numbers of people processed via enhanced searches 
o For those where no items found, no data needs to be captured  
o For those where items were found, the following data needs to be captured: 

§ Name 
§ Items found 
§ Outcome of find (not permitted into the event / permitted into the event / 

handed over to the Police) 
 
Comment 

• Between entrance and main village area and around toilets large amounts of condoms that 
had been knotted then torn open. Key sign that drugs are being plugged by festival goers. 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• Implementation of a second layer of security past the customer entrance to deter this 

behaviour  
• Strengthened multi-layered security presence throughout the event 
• Implementation of increased numbers of response teams supported by integrated CCTV 

package for site wide observation.  
• Additional static security staff in all locations to ensure strong overt presence to deter these 

behaviour patterns. 
 
Comment 

• Used nitric oxide canisters ever present under foot. Open use within arena with canisters and 
balloons. Large quantity recovered including boxes full of canisters. This would indicate 
brought in by concessions staff/vehicles and not through search lanes. 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• Traders restricted to arriving and setting up on Friday 7th September when the trader, artist 

and staff entrance will be set up for searching both pedestrians and vehicles 
• Additional right to trader searches throughout event period as part of contractor/trader 

contracts. 
 
Comment 

• Village and arena ever present smell and open use of cannabis including one male with a bag 
of around 20 pre-rolled spliffs. Open use of cocaine within arena. Males and females in groups, 
seen as socially acceptable. No real attempt to hide actions. Often within 5 to 10 meters of 

176



 

 

security on static points. Did observe security in arena but did not witness any attempt by to 
deal with any of the drug usage. 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• Increased numbers of response teams 
• New security team will be briefed on zero tolerance to drug taking / dealing and tasked with 

responding to any / all cases 
• Security deployed to each arena / event space (including the chill out space) to survey for 

behaviour / drug use 
• Response teams dedicated to zones of the site to allow for efficient response 

 
Comment 

• Large and small bottles of wine, was unable to confirm if these were plastic or glass. 
Additional Mitigation Measures employed 

• All drinks are served in plastic bottles / cans – this we feel was an oversight 
• Additional search protocols, enhanced search protocols and crowd observation at entry to 

minimise and deter anyone attempting to bring in their own drinks 
 
Comment 

• Numerous persons witnessed lying on the ground vomiting. Witnessed one make in significant 
distress. Forward medical team dealt with him well via extraction. However no security with 
them to move onlookers and create safe working environment.  

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• Increased security response capacity allows for supporting medical teams in cases of extraction 

/ securing the area 
• Security / Medical control based in event control to facilitate  

 
Comment 

• Assault – stabbing to throat. Occurred within the arena area around 20:27 hours. Male stabbed 
to throat taken to hospital. Attacked from behind. Police contacted at 22:13 nearly 2 hours 
after the initial incident. Potential loss of evidence, send, etc. Why such a long delay in 
contacting the police after such a serious incident. 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• Revised protocols in place for notification to police of incidents (see APP/35) 
• Prior communication with Police to develop more integrated approach  

 
Comment 

• Build-up of traffic exiting and entering site around 22:45 hours through to 23:30 hours. 
Additional Mitigation Measures employed 

• Pick up and drop off areas have been placed just under ½ mile within the Prestwold lane 
entrance to allow any build-up of traffic to be facilitated within the site, minimising the impact 
on the public roads  

 
Comment 

• Volume of people walking on foot towards airport/hotels unlit country lane potential risk of 
RTC 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• Change of venue mitigates this risk as there are no onward destinations within walking 

distance  
• All routes from the car park to the Prestwold Lane site entrance will be vehicle only route 
• Free shuttle buses will be in place taking customers to Castle Donnington Hotels  
• Advanced information on shuttles / taxi costs and the inability to exit the event on foot will 

be sent to all ticket holders in advance of the show via email and social media 

177



 

 

 
Comment 

• Activity around entrance to park chaotic with festival goers approaching taxis and private 
vehicles asking for lifts 

Additional Mitigation Measures employed 
• Approach to local taxi firms will be made to increase the number of taxis that can be parked 

up and waiting to facilitate the customer egress 
• All drop off and collections will take place within the boundaries of the airfield – all routes 

from the car park to the Prestwold Lane site entrance will be vehicle only route 

178



1

Licensing Act 2003

Representation by a Responsible Authority

Note:  Please be aware that this form may be viewed by the Applicant or by a representative of the 
Applicant.  It may also be read out in public at the Licensing Panel hearings.

Representations may be made at any time during a period of 28 consecutive days starting on the 
day after the application was given to the Licensing Authority.

Representations are only relevant to an application if they relate to at least one of the four Licensing 
Objectives listed below:

1. The Prevention of Crime and Disorder
2. Public Safety
3. Prevention of Public Nuisance
4. The Protection of Children from Harm

Please enter your details below:

Responsible
Authority:

Lincolnshire Police 

Contact Officer: PS 1040 Enderby.

Address: Lincolnshire Police HQ, 

Deepdale Lane 

Nettleham 

LN2 2LT

Telephone Number: 01522 558448

E-mail: countylicensinggroup@lincs.pnn.police.uk

Please provide details of the application to which your representation refers:

Name: Exurbia Events Limited.

Address: Grimsthorpe Castle, Grimsthorpe, Bourne, PE10 0LZ

Application Details: New Premises Licence Application

Date Application 
Received:

11th February 2019

Please provide details of your representation in the box below. Indicate which of the Licensing 
Objectives your representation refers to by ticking the relevant box(es):

179



2

 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder              
 Public Safety              
 Prevention of Public Nuisance                                      
 The Protection of Children from Harm

In relation to this application, the following Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing 
Act 2003 has been considered – 

Section 9.12.
….The police should usually therefore be the licensing authority’s main source of advice on 
matters relating to the promotion of the crime and disorder licensing objective…

Section 10.2.
Conditions include any limitations or restrictions attached to a licence or certificate and 
essentially are the steps or actions that the holder of the premises licence or the club premises 
certificate will be required to take or refrain from taking in relation to the carrying on of 
licensable activities at the premises in question. 
Failure to comply with any condition attached to a licence or certificate is a criminal offence, 
which on conviction is punishable by an unlimited fine or up to six months’ imprisonment. The 
courts have made clear that it is particularly important that conditions which are imprecise or 
difficult for a licence holder to observe should be avoided.

Section 10.4.
The conditions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives should emerge 
initially from the risk assessment carried out by a prospective licence or certificate holder, which 
they should carry out before making their application for a premises licence or club premises 
certificate. This would be translated into the steps recorded in the operating schedule or club 
operating schedule, which must also set out the proposed hours during which licensable 
activities will be conducted and any other hours during which the premises will be open to the 
public.

Section 10.5. 
It is not acceptable for licensing authorities to simply replicate the wording from an applicant’s 
operating schedule. A condition should be interpreted in accordance with the applicant’s 
intention.

Section 10.10.
The 2003 Act requires that licensing conditions should be tailored to the size, type, location and 
characteristics and activities taking place at the premises concerned. Conditions should be 
determined on a case-by-case basis and standardised conditions which ignore these individual 
aspects should be avoided. For example, conditions should not be used to implement a general 
policy in a given area such as the use of CCTV, polycarbonate drinking vessels or identity 
scanners where they would not be appropriate to the specific premises. Licensing authorities 
and other responsible authorities should be alive to the indirect costs that can arise because of 

Commented [BC1]:  Understood and agreed

Commented [BC2]:  Understood and agreed

Commented [BC3]:  Understood and agreed

Commented [BC4]:  Understood and agreed. The key word 
here is “intention”. Whilst we understand the research into 
previous events, the documents for this application clearly 
demonstrate our intention and the changes we have made since 
previous issues and post-event advice.

Commented [a5R5]:  Documents to support the steps and 
evolution of  our procedures are  available and clearly demonstrate 
a positive approach to recommendations made by local authorities

Commented [BC6]:  Understood and agreed. This is why we 
were concerned to see the Glastonbury license application with 
Mendip Council in PS Enderby’s portfolio of research.

180



3

conditions. These could be a deterrent to holding events that are valuable to the community or 
for the funding of good and important causes. Licensing authorities should therefore ensure 
that any conditions they impose are only those which are appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives.

Section 10.18.
Major festivals and carnivals.
Licensing authorities should publicise the need for the organisers of major festivals and carnivals 
to approach them at the earliest opportunity to discuss arrangements for licensing activities 
falling under the 2003 Act. For some events, the organisers may seek a single premises licence 
to cover a wide range of activities at varied locations within the premises. This would involve 
the preparation of a substantial operating schedule, and licensing authorities should offer 
advice and assistance about its preparation.
    _________________________________________________________________________

Forbidden Forest has previously staged similar one day events at the following locations –
Donington Park Race Circuit:
Show 1 – 1/5/16, Show 2 - 10/09/16, Show 3 – 30/04/17, Show 4 – 09/09/17, Show 5 – 5/5/18.
Wymeswold Airfield , Prestwold :
7/9/18.

Lincolnshire Police has evidence which identifies serious concerns associating drug use with the 
Forbidden Forest Event whilst at Donington Park – Appendix A.
Within the Customer Engagement Calendar provided by Exurbia Events is a “Timeline of the events 
growth” where they state the reason for the event leaving Donington Park as – “…. venue’s leasehold 
was sold to the MSV Group for a 21 year term, this resulted in the relocation of the event due to the fact 
of it not being race oriented therefore not fitting the MSV portfolio”. 
 I have spoken to Simon MacDonald, MSV Group Legal Affairs Manager, who informed me that because 
of serious concerns surrounding the event held on 09/09/17, a decision was made that a plainclothes 
police presence would be at the event held on 05/05/18. Once the officer’s findings were seen, 
MacDonald stated that the police report highlighted numerous breaches of contract and the decision 
was made to terminate the contract with Exurbia despite their being a further festival planned for 
September 2018. He did not accept the reason offered by Exurbia Events for their relocation, pointing 
out that Donington Park stages a number of none race orientated events amongst them the Download 
Music Festival with attendance in the region of 100,000.
The circumstances surrounding Forbidden Forest Events at Donington Park clearly undermine the four 
licensing objectives.

The Forbidden Forest Event at Wymeswold Airfield on 07/09/18 experienced further problems which 
resulted in media interest and a Licence Review Hearing – Appendix B. 
The circumstances surrounding the Forbidden Forest Event at Wymeswold Airfield clearly undermine the 
four licensing objectives.

This application is for a large scale one day multi –artist music event on Sunday 5th May 2019 with 
capacity for 9,999 - though attendance for the first event is anticipated at 6,000. A second similar event 
is also being planned for September 2019.
For an event of this nature Lincolnshire Police would expect any applicant to present a draft copy of the 
Event Safety and Management Plan (ESMP) at least six months prior to any proposed event, with the 

Commented [BC7]:  Forbidden Forest is looking for a long term 
relationship with Grimsthorpe and the surrounding area which will 
inevitably lead to an increase in visitor spend in the area, significant 
local job prospects as contacts are made and an opportunity for a 
rolling programme of community outreach and engagement work.

Commented [BC8]:  Although the timescale seems to be very 
important in this representation, and ordinarily we would have 
provided information a lot earlier, circumstances elsewhere have 
dictated the timescale here, which is still well within the 
requirements of a legal application.

Commented [a9R9]:  We also must be mindful that we are 
NOT a festival spread over multiple days. We are a one-day EDM 
event.

Commented [BC10]:  We have made comments against the 
detail in Appendix A. However, this is a new application, with a 
different security team, increased staff numbers and robust plans.

Commented [BC11R11]:  

Commented [a12R11]:  Exurbia Events had contracted their 
shows ahead of the MSV take over. Exurbia Events had NO direct 
contact with local authorities and were unable / not given any 
opportunity to recertify any concerns directly. Lou Woodward 
requested to make direct contact to allow for proactive 
communication, but this was never granted. Only MSV were in 
contact with the local authorities. We feel the undercover 
operation was a little underhand as no issues were brought to our 
attention to allow for rectification before the operation other than 
traffic issues / pedestrians walking to local hotels.  We had 
historically invited the police and MSV to internal table top 
meetings arranged by Exurbia Events given we were never given an 
opportunity to attend SAG. There were no concerns raised at any 
point by any Donington Park representative and no representation 
made by the local police/licensing Although invites were sent NO 
representation attended.  Given the sheer size and value of the 
MSV empire we were advised not to continue with legal 
representations as MSV were too large of a global concern and 
would of bankrupt our business. . Contracts stated that we should 
have been given the opportunity to mitigate risk before 
termination. This wasn’t given. It wasn’t stated within the post 
event report issued by Leicestershire police local authority that this 
event shouldn’t happen again. Advice and recommendations were 
given as part of the post event report shown in Kimble’s appendix

Commented [BC13]:  We have made comments against the 
detail in Appendix B. We would draw the attention of all parties to 
the revised conditions agreed for the site which, aside from the 
Nosie management plan, would have been acceptable to Exurbia.

Commented [a14R14]:  Exurbia Events came to realise there 
were historic public fall outs with the venue. Given the venue ran an 
Everyman racing circuit (Red letter day performance cars) on site 
the event delivery gave further reasoning for complaint. Especially 
amongst the Wymesold residents. The review was mostly driven 
towards noise and the license was re issued to the venue but with 
noise levels that were un workable for our event.There were also 
concern for public nuisance given customer presence within the 
local villages which could have been appeased by additional 
external resource. Sergeant Kimble has since spoken with the venue 
who have told him that we are more than welcome back to the 
venue. They have an appetite for us to work with them on as many 
events as possible.Commented [BC15]:  6500

Commented [BC16]:  We believe that this statement, as a 
representation, is irrelevant as Police’s expectations are not clearly 
communicated to applicants through the on-line or paper 
application process. The application was deemed legal and 
therefore, if the legal timescales were adhered to, this 
representation is irrelevant. However, we are aware that there is 
comfort in sharing this information as far in advance as possible and 
we would suggest that there is now a period of 6 further months 
until the second proposed event in September and that, pending 
the conditional license and any review of the first event, the set-up, 
staffing and policies will be largely the same. 

181



4

completed document in place and available for scrutiny three months prior to the proposed event. It 
would also be anticipated that any Premises Licence application would be submitted within a similar 
time frame, allowing suitable time for engagement, discussion and negotiation between all parties.
This application was received on 11th February 2019, 11 weeks prior to the proposed event; there was no 
consultation with Lincolnshire Police’s Alcohol Licensing Team before submission. Had they done so they 
would have been advised to email a draft copy of the application so that a consultation could commence. 
Considering the concerns evidenced at previous Forbidden Forest Events Lincolnshire Police are 
concerned that the Exurbia Events, who organised this event from inception, chose such a late date to 
submit their application. No explanation has been offered as to why the application was submitted at 
such a late date.

The application was accompanied by an Event Safety and Management Plan (ESMP), which - “in support 
of this application contains the details of our planning, policies and procedures”. 
Whilst Lincolnshire Police accept this was a draft document we believe it was so incomplete that no real 
assessment of the event or the ESMP itself could seriously be undertaken. There were 29 occasions in 
the ESMP where plans, policies or procedures were either pending production or finalisation. Chief 
amongst the missing plans were – Alcohol Management Plan, Security Policies and Plans, Medical Plan, 
Local Residents Engagement Plan, Site Plan and Risk Assessment.  We were unable to fully assess many 
of the risks we believe are associated with an event of this nature with these key plans being missing.  
There were no documents or policies that appeared to address the obvious risks around drugs associated 
with the concert.
For the application, ESMP and other accompanying documents to be so lacking in detail at the point of 
the Premises Licence Application raises serious concerns around the proposed event. It fails to 
demonstrate that anything has been learnt from the problems associated at previous events or that 
anything has been implemented to prevent a reoccurrence of the crime and public nuisance/safety 
issues experienced.

Exurbia Events attended an initial Safety Advisor Group (SAG) meeting on 05/02/19 at Grantham Police 
station. The paperwork submitted in support of the event was considered generic and incomplete. SAG 
organisers would also expect engagement at an earlier date for an event of this type. They attended a 
second SAG on 5/03/19 and whilst there had been an improvement made throughout many of the 
submitted documents, they still failed to reflect what had been implemented following the previous 
events.  

We have not had the opportunity to assess any ESMP from previous Forbidden Forest Events, so are 
unable to compare these alongside those submitted with the current application. 

Within the Crowd Management Plan submitted to support the application it states “Exurbia events 
attracts a regular and loyal audience” and “Medical and violence incidents at Exurbia events are very low 
as there is a community spirit amongst the crowd and regular attendees are aware of policies regarding 
non- acceptable items, the “Rave Safe” messaging and the search regimes that take place at the entry to 
the sites”. 
This suggests that re-attendance at the event is high with persons returning year after year. Which would 
also lead to the conclusion that, unless it can be demonstrated what has been implemented to deter the 
previously identified issues around drug use, that the same issues will reoccur. The drug use identified 
cannot be viewed as “Historic” when the evidence is only from an event staged in 2018. The lack of any 
Drugs Policy submitted with the Licence application on 11th February 2018 demonstrates that no robust 
plans had been implemented, despite the clear evidence provided from police officers attending the 
event staged in 2018. Failure to address the obvious risks around drugs associated with this event leads 

Commented [BC17]:  Again, as above, we cannot comment on 
what is “anticipated” by the Police and so contend again that this 
representation is irrelevant. We are fully engaged with all 
responsible authorities.

Commented [BC18]:  We approached South Kesteven Licensing 
for the contact details of the relevant Police Licensing Officer – we 
were given contact details for Gina McConville. We were unaware 
that we had been given her personal phone number – we struggled 
to contact her. Eventually we were linked on email and arranged a 
meeting to discuss our application ahead of the first SAG meeting. 4 
of our team were to attend. The day before the meeting, Gina 
contacted us and said she had not received a confirmation of the 
meeting and so assumed we would not be attending – all of our 
team received the meeting invite and replied. We therefore agreed 
to go to the SAG and then rearrange a meeting date to discuss our 
proposals – our next contact with Police licensing was an email from 
PS Enderby stating his disappointment that we had not made 
contact ahead of the submission – we had and therefore this 
section of the representation is irrelevant.

Commented [a19]:  A draft document is exactly that. It was 
issued to allow for a  basic understanding allowing for this to be 
absorbed before further details were input. Any further input / 
recommendations / advise given at the SAG meeting on Tues 5th Feb 
would then be input into the ESMP. This has been undertaken to 
ensure all relevant concerns are appeased before final submissions. 
To date the SAG team are happy with the comprehensive level of 
detail. All elements of the ESMP have been accepted by the SAG 
team as to cover the event

Commented [BC20]:  Because of the truncated timescale, 
some of the documents relied upon as part of the application were 
submitted during the representation period. In addition we have 
listened to the advice of the SAG and others and amended and 
updated documents during this period. This clearly demonstrates 
our desire to work with the responsible authorities and to make 
continual improvements to polices and plans as we progress 
towards the event.

Commented [BC21]:  See notes above about due process.

Commented [BC22]:  Significant improvement we would say. 
Presenting a learning log from previous events and changes made is 
not a requirement of the licensing application. However, we 
appreciate that had we shown this information at an earlier date, 
the Police would have been better informed regarding the changes 
to the event, the significant investment in staffing and security and 
the learning from mistakes at previous events. Most significant of 
these changes are the change from Donnington to a new security 
team, and the change of traffic management company following the 
issues at Wymeswold. There is also a new safety advisor with an 
overview of the licensing issues bringing experience of many similar 
sized and larger events.

Commented [BC23]:  This is not a requirement of the 
application. These documents were most likely available from the 
previous licensing authorities, or from Exurbia on request. This part 
of the representation is irrelevant.

Commented [BC24]:  agreed

Commented [BC25]:  We submit here Appendices C and D 
which are our reports and learning logs/changes from the 2 
previous events – these were available on request, but we 
appreciate that, had these been shared, PS Enderby would have 
been better informed.

Commented [a26R26]:  Historically we have maintained a core 
crowd, however the dynamics of each show have changed given we 
have increased attendees by on average 1500 per event. Positive 
changes (as shown in appendix) were implemented whilst 
continually growing our audience

Commented [a27]:  Forbidden Forest had delivered 4 
successful shows at Donington Park prior to the MSV take over. The 
undercover police presence was organised between MSV and 
Leicestershire police ahead of May 2018.(We were not consulted 
about this or made aware of why or what issues were supposedly 
present)  Box office attendees for May 2018 were 8500 and 10,000 
for Sept 2018 at Wymeswold. For May 2019 we are looking at a 
dramatic reduction of attendees. 6500 is our projection which is 
2000 less than May 2018 and 3500 less than Sept. This 
demonstrates that Exurbia Events are comprehensively working on 
all aspects of concern on a smaller level. Given our relocation only 
loyal customers will follow the brand which over previous shows 
has been noted to be customers attending for positive reasoning. 

182



5

Lincolnshire Police to the conclusion that insufficient planning has taken place in preparation of this 
application.

Local Residents Engagement Plan - was not included with the application or supporting paperwork 
submitted on 11th February 2019. It was submitted prior to the SAG on 05/03/19. All engagement dates 
with local residents are after the closing period for representations in relation to this Licence Application. 
This late engagement period, only 8 weeks before the actual event, alongside the new evidence from 
MSV Group, makes Lincolnshire Police believe that this application fails to identify the true nature of the 
festival and the risks associated with it. 
The conditions proposed in section 18 of the application are insufficient to mitigate the risks when 
staging an event of this nature. Whilst Lincolnshire Police accepts that the ESMP and some of the 
accompanying documents could be described as “live” in that they will naturally evolve as preparations 
for the event proceed, we also believe that this makes them unsuitable to rely on as alternatives to 
robust conditions in section 18. They are legally unenforceable and would not have to be adhered to, so 
would not ensure the active promotion of the Licensing Objectives. We also believe that the current lack 
of any detail in relation to key elements of the processes around this application and the short time 
remaining before the event takes place - means that the licence should not be granted at this time. 

If possible, please suggest alterations to the application that would resolve the problem mentioned 
above, again paying attention to the Licensing Objectives:

Until the applicant is able to provide all the documents to support the application and allow them to be 
scrutinised by all parties to ensure the active promotion of the licensing objectives this application should 
be refused. 
If the applicants are able to produce evidence that rebuts the concerns in relation to the 
crimes/concerns/issues identified at previous staged events, to show these areas have been identified, 
acknowledged and they can demonstrate what  active steps are in place to resolve and prevent a 
reoccurrence of the issues, alongside a set of robust, lawful enforceable conditions in section a8 of the 
application which reflect the event being proposed, consideration should be given to allowing this application 
either for the event on 5th May 2019 only or with the additional condition that following the event a review 
hearing will be held to assess the impact of the event on the Licensing Objectives.

Have you contacted the applicant to discuss this representation?

Yes X No

Do you consider mediation could resolve the issue?

Yes No X

Do you propose to attend or be represented at any Licensing Panel hearing?

Commented [BC28]:  Planning is a continual process and we 
feel that the Police representation is wilfully ignoring the fact that 
the applicant is engaged, listening and providing additional 
information for the comfort of all responsible authorities. At the 
SAG on 5th March 2019 there were numerous questions regarding 
traffic management, all answered professionally and explained – 
similarly questions regarding eviction policies were questioned and 
explained. Medical and Fire were satisfied with the details given in 
their areas and Environmental Health and Safety only had some 
points regarding submission timings and details for caterers. Police 
Licensing, although present at this SAGH meeting did not offer a 
single comment on the event, nor ask any relevant questions of the 
assembled event team. 
Discussion was left until after the SAG and a private meeting where 
the Officer demonstrated his problem with the amount of detail 
and documents submitted, not the lack of detail – there was a 
request at that post-SAG meeting to provide a separate document 
pulling out the specific items relating to the 4 licensing objectives 
and the learning and changes from other events which we submit 
here in mitigation of these representations today.

Commented [BC29]:  Although community engagement is 
desirable, especially when moving an event to a new area, it is not a 
requirement of the application. We have already discussed the 
truncated timescale available and have made great efforts to 
arrange community engagement with the local community through 
Grimsthorpe.

Commented [BC30]:  Does this mean that the Wymeswold 
issues are not relevant at Grimsthorpe and the Police accept the 
validity of the traffic management plan?

Commented [BC31]:  We believe that this part of the 
representation is irrelevant as community engagement is not a 
requirement. However, we recognise that public nuisance issues 
can be mitigated by community engagement to further 
understanding of the event and its patrons in the local area and 
that is why we are engaging with the local community. The public 
still have the ability and tme to make representations against the 
license whether we engage with them or not.
Commented [BC32]:  Although we are aware that the national 
guidance for applications suggests to applicants that the 
information written at s18 of the application (or similar place 
depending is online) MAY be used to place conditions on the 
license, it is not our experience that these are ever solely used as 
conditions and we see these statements in these boxes as signposts 
to our wider documents, rather than conditions. This part of the 
representation explains the request from PS Enderby that we pull 
out all licensing objectives from all documents and put them into an 
expanded version of the boxes on the application form. We would 
never expect the statements at s18 to be conditions on a license 
and have never encountered this before in relation to similar 
events.

Commented [BC33]:  We agree and do not seek for the short 
statements in s18 to be used as conditions on the license.

Commented [BC34]:  We believe there is a great amount of 
detail in the submissions and will provide more as required.

Commented [BC35]:  Currently all other parties have not made 
any representation against the application – however, we will of 
course share all documents submitted with the responsible 
authorities.

Commented [BC36]:  Please see appendices C and D submitted 
here

Commented [BC37]:  We would agree to this condition with 
the caveat that we would request a discussion regarding measures 
of success prior to the May event.

Commented [a38R38]:   Exurbia Events can agree to work on 
the deliverables for May with the license review process allowing 
for a mitigation post event. Exurbia Events would adhere to the 
standard process of a hearing if representations were made 
towards the license. Anything other than this would be mitigated as 
part of an event de brief meeting to allow for deliverables within 
future planning. Exurbia Events have financially committed to a 12-
month annual fee of license.

Commented [BC39]:  We believe that mediation could solve all 
of these issues and would request that the Police continue to 
engage with us and assess any additional information we provide at 
their request with a view to withdrawing their representation and 
hopefully avoiding a hearing.

183



6

Yes X No

Please tick this box if you consent to any notice of any hearing being sent to you to via the e-mail 
address provided by you above. X

(Please note if any notice is sent to you by electronic means, you will also receive confirmation of 
the same in writing).

Commented [BC40]:  We are minded to mitigate all issues and 
provide relevant documents as suggested to avoid a hearing – we 
feel that the issues noted in the Police representation have already 
been assessed by out changes to the planning of the event since the 
previous two. We seek to avoid a hearing as we feel that the cost of 
assembling a committee, legal advice, representatives at the 
hearing, etc are all costs that can be avoided across all parties.

184



 

 

 

 

 

WELFARE POLICY 

Welfare can be defined as the provision of facilities to maintain the health and wellbeing of individuals 

at the workplace. These facilities include provision of drinking water, washing and sanitation 

arrangements, heating and lighting where necessary, places for eating and taking rest at break times. 

There needs to be adequate first-aid provision and protective clothing for the work conditions, 

including adverse weather. 

Legal obligations for provision of welfare are covered in the Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) 

Regulation 1992 and in Section 2 of the Health & Safety at Work Act 1974 whereas Section 4 of the 

Act extends welfare to people who are not employees but use the premises, in this case – the event 

site. This includes those with a disability. 

The management of Exurbia Events recognize their legal duties and moral obligations to maintain the 

welfare of all staff, crew, contractors and the general public (Customer) who enter the licensed event 
site. 

Contents 

Welfare Policy .................................................................................................................... 1 

Staff  .................................................................................................................................. 2 

Contractor Crew ................................................................................................................. 3 

Public Welfare .................................................................................................................... 5 

Medical Provision, Information Points and Welfare Support .............................................................. 5 

Supporting intoxicated casualties and overdose ................................................................................ 6 

Supporting people ................................................................................................................................... 6 

Over the counter (OTC) medications/Prescription Medication........................................................... 7 

Overdose .................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Signs of a stimulant overdose include: .................................................................................................. 7 

Signs of a depressant overdose include: ............................................................................................... 8 

Signs of alcohol intoxication to the point of overdose include: .......................................................... 8 

Responding to incidences of rape and sexual assault ......................................................................... 8 

Definitions What is rape? ....................................................................................................................... 9 

What is assault by penetration? ............................................................................................................. 9 

What is sexual assault? ........................................................................................................................... 9 

Causing a person to engage in sexual activity ...................................................................................... 9 

Voluntary intoxication, capacity and sexual activity ............................................................................ 9 

(Adapted from: Handbook of adult survivors of sexual violence) ..................................................... 10 

Supporting a survivor ............................................................................................................................ 11 

General guidance on supporting a survivor from Rape Crisis is: ....................................................... 12 

DO:.......................................................................................................................................................... 12 

185



 

 

DON'T: .................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Reporting a rape or sexual assault ....................................................................................................... 13 

Mental health ................................................................................................................................ 14 

What are mental health problems? ..................................................................................................... 14 

Substance use and mental health ........................................................................................................ 14 

Typical symptoms of acute mental health .......................................................................................... 14 

Responding to someone experiencing a mental health episode ...................................................... 15 

Care and Support of Vulnerable Adults............................................................................................ 16 

Definitions .............................................................................................................................................. 16 

Protection of vulnerable adults ........................................................................................................... 17 

WHEN ABUSE IS SUSPECTED OR DISCLOSED: ..................................................................................... 18 

WHAT ARE THE ISSUES AROUND CONSENT? ...................................................................................... 18 

CONFIDENTIALITY .................................................................................................................................. 19 
 

 

1 STAFF AND CREW 

Exurbia Events engages with many trained and seasoned personnel that help create and manage the 

event throughout the event lifecycle. These personnel undertake a varied range of roles and 

responsibilities inclusive and not limited to office based work and physical labor. During the lifecycle 

of the event all personnel will be supported by adequate welfare facilities. If any member of staff feels 

that the levels being delivered are un acceptable and feel awkward in making their opinions known 

there will be an anonymous comment and suggestion box available within the staff welfare area 

where people are able to freely give comment/feedback on what they feel is inadequate without 

feeling there will be any reprisals.  Whether the person is in a paid or volunteer position does not 

matter when it comes to providing welfare. Special provisions will be made in advance for those with 

a disability, pregnant women, nursing mothers and, if relevant, young people. 

Sanitary Conveniences and Washing Facilities - An adequate number of toilets and washing stations 

will be provided on site for the exclusive use of event staff and crew. Given the hot weather 

encountered during 2018 events, the physical nature of much of the site work, a small number of 

shower units will be available for site workers or provided within their accommodation. 

Food and Drinking Water – The site currently provides a water system connected to a mains supply, 

this may be replaced or supplemented by a tanked water solution. Taps will be available throughout 

the site for staff and crew to use for drinking water. There will also be crew catering set up by a reliable 

and registered food company. Hot drinks are available within the staff welfare area during scheduled 

meals times. Exurbia Events encompasses food budgets for all members of staff to ensure that any 

person(s) working on site is fed and watered inclusive of any member of the team with specific dietary 

requests / allergies. This is all organized in advance of the event. 

Rest Facilities – within the catering area will be a number of seating arrangements, both under shelter 

and in the open air where workers can take a rest break. This area will be kept clean and free of waste. 

A rest area for pregnant women and/or nursing mothers will be located on site (with advance warning) 

if required and communicated to those who need to use this facility.  

Lighting and Work Environment – All staff and crew will be informed that the majority of the site work 

will take place outdoors and will be advised to dress appropriately for wet or dry weather. They will 

also be reminded that despite the heat that may be experienced historically, some evenings may be 

186



 

 

cooler and to bring warm clothing just in case. It is also advised to have a second set of clothes on site  

Ventilation is not an issue with the outdoor work carried out. Any indoor office work will be in portable 

cabins with a number of windows and doors to open for ventilation. 

Some work may need to be carried out during the hours of darkness, particularly as the deadline of 

opening the gates nears. Generators on site will provide a source of power to light the portable cabins. 

Tower lights or festoon lights will be positioned where crew need to work during the evening hours. 
A number of torches will be available in the management office for use by those needing to go out at 

night into areas where the festoon or tower lights do not reach. However, the person will not carry 

out work involving tools or plant by torch light. They will also not be allowed to carry out any lone 

working if the workplace is remote from other workers 

Medical Provision – Exurbia Events management will make first aid cover arrangements during all 

times when staff and crew are on site. This will include: 

 
• The provision of a certified named first aider available during all hours of work on site able 

to render first aid treatment to those in need 

• The provision of suitably stocked first aid boxes that is easily accessible to the named first 

aider 

• The provision of an Accident Log Book to record any accidents or injuries that take place on 
site 

• During the event, medical provision will be based on risk assessment and as agreed with the local 

NHS service/ambulance team. 

All other information about the weather, site rules, emergency procedures etc are publicized within 

event control and or the site office. A notice board will be placed outside of the staff welfare giving 

general information inclusive of weather forecasts / site first aiders etc 

 

2 CONTRACTOR CREW 

As well as the staff and crew working, there will also be several contracted companies on site carrying 

out a variety of duties, many with a large number of crew accompanying them; the stage building 

companies, the marquee and tent erection companies, the large number of security personnel and 

steward personnel. 

Contracted companies will be reminded that they have a duty of care under legislation previously 

mentioned to oversee the welfare of their own employees. Some facilities already on site for staff and 

crew will also be available to contracted crew; toilets, washing facilities, drinking water taps. 

With regards to the provision of food & water, rest areas, work environment and medical provision 

the contracted company must assume some responsibility for their employees 

• Water – contractors should provide their crew with drinking water or with some method of 

accessing the drinking water from the site taps. 

• Food and rest areas – contractors should inform their employees on what food facilities and 

options are available to them. The employer may provide food, they may remind employees 

to bring packed lunches or they may choose to buy a meal at the staff canteen. Contractor 

employees are welcome to use the crew rest area near the canteens though the Contractor 

may wish for the crew to stay closer to their place of work and take rest in facilities provided 

by that contractor. 

• Lighting and work environment – Contractors should inform their employees of the nature 

of the work, particularly if it is outdoors and advise them to wear appropriate clothing. If the 

187



 

 

contractor feels they need lighting in addition to that provided, then they must bring this with 

them. 

• Medical Provision - Contractors will be reminded that they are required to issue first aid kits 

and have a named first aider amongst their crew as per various regulations mentioned above. 

They are also required to carry and maintain their own Accident Log Book. In the event of a 

medical emergency with a contractor’s employee, Forbidden Forest will do their best to 

support a person who is injured or ill. If this injury or illness takes place during “live days” 

when the public is on site, then the contractor’s employee will have full access to the medical 

station. 

• Welfare- As with medical in the event of a welfare emergency with a contractor’s employee 

such as mental health issue, Exurbia Events will do their best to support a person who is in 

crisis. If this crisis takes place during “live day” when the public are on site, then the 

contractor’s employee will have access to the welfare area. We would ask that welfare is only 

used by onsite staff for crisis situations and that they do not use the area for them

188



 

 

regular food/rest areas as there are already dedicated areas for staff for this purpose as outlined 

above. 

Lone workers – It may be the case that a person may have to work in isolation away from co- workers 

such as security personnel on static remote points or traffic marshals patrolling roads. If this is the 

case, then the contractor has an obligation to maintain contact with the lone worker and regularly 

check on their position and well-being. Radios or mobile phones may be used to make regular checks 

and, in some cases, roving patrols may check that the lone worker is safe and secure with adequate 

radio power, mobile phone charge, adequate drinking water and shade/protection from the elements. 

 

3 PUBLIC WELFARE 

The welfare of the public who have come to enjoy the event is of great importance. Their needs will 

be met in the same way as those described above; 

• Sanitary Conveniences and Washing Facilities – There will be a sufficient number of portable 

toilets available to public, separate from the toilets to be used by staff and crew. These will 

be regularly cleaned and maintained in a good condition. The units will contain facilities for 

cleaning hands. In addition, there will be washing stations for the public, particularly in the 

campsite where people will want to wash their hands and perhaps wash a few dishes etc. 

There is no public camping at this event. 

• Food and Drinking Water – Taps offering clean drinking water will be positioned throughout 

the site and will remain easily accessible to the public. Water is also available from the welfare 

areas. There will also be numerous concessions selling a wide variety of food and drinks over 

a range of prices. Bar staff will also be briefed as to their nearest water points. 

• Sunscreen-Sunscreen and after-sun will be available at the welfare tent for people in need. 

• Upon understanding the weather forecast for the event, sun cream will also be available to 
purchase from within the merchandise stall at the event 

• Rest Facilities – The site is made up of various areas, some with a natural shade supplied by 

the trees. Areas of rest / seating will be split to ensure both open and shaded areas are 

supplied with seating.  

• Lighting and Environment – All public areas will be lit from a variety of sources. The main 

arenas have stage lighting and concessions / walkways have strings of festoon lighting 

including the main ingress and egress routes. External ingress and egress routes will be 

supplied with tower light cover if the existing cover is inadequate. This will be placed within 

the venue footprint and not upon any public highway. Toilet and tap areas may have a flood 

light to assist people using facilities at night. The website and other sources will remind people 

that this is an event open to the elements and ask that all staff and customer dress 

appropriately and prepare for wet conditions or a chilly evening. A limited supply of 

emergency supplies such as rain ponchos, foil blankets and spare clothing is available from 

welfare for people who are in immediate crisis. 

 

3.1 MEDICAL PROVISION, INFORMATION POINTS AND WELFARE SUPPORT 

Exurbia Events will make every effort to ensure that members of the public are supported fully 

should they be ill, injured, in distress, or just in need of supportive information 

• Medical Centre – A fully equipped, and sufficiently manned medical centre will be provided 

for the public. The medics will have mobile units such as ambulances (incl of 4x4 all-terrain) 

and buggies that can quickly travel to any area of the site should there be an emergency 

requiring medical attention where the casualty is unable to walk to a medical station. 

• Information Point – There will be an Information point incorporated into the merchandise 

189



 

 

stall 

If the query brought to information involves a crime on site, then Event Control will be 

radioed, and actions will be taken.  

• Welfare Points – As with the Medical Centre and Information point, there will be a Welfare 

point. The Welfare Centre is there as a safe haven to support any person in distress or in need. 

Welfare offer a variety of services which include: Non-medical Crisis Intervention services for 

individuals experiencing drug and alcohol, mental health and sexual health crises, provision 

of wellbeing supplies e.g. water and hot drinks, crash space, chill out area and health 

promotion and education.  

Welfare personnel will be experienced in counselling and support. Should the person in 

distress be reporting a crime then Event Control will be radioed, and actions will be taken. If 

the person appears to be incapacitated due to the influence of drugs and/or alcohol, then the 

medics will be contacted to examine the person and either treat them or declare them out of 

medical danger in which case the person can rest securely in the Welfare tent until they are 

able to function on their own. A record of all people attending the welfare centers for crisis 

support will be kept and shared with the Event Organizers when this is required for the 

person’s safety. Records will not be needed for people attending the chill out area only. 

Anyone that enters welfare will be logged to ensure they are accountable within the welfare 

unit. Medics will assess individual cases before moving them into the medical Centre. Nobody 

will be allowed to leave the welfare unit or medical Centre without being checked in and out. 

A one-way system of entry will be used to allow for all individuals to be controlled and not left 

in either facility un attended 

3.2  

3.3 SUPPORTING INTOXICATED CASUALTIES AND OVERDOSE 

Despite efforts to keep drugs out of the event site, it must be recognized that some person(s) on site 

will be under the influence / taking substances and some of these may find themselves in distress 

because of misuse. 

 

3.3.1 Supporting people 

If a steward, a member of security or Exurbia staff are made aware of a person in need of welfare 

they must radio the Welfare Centre for assistance. At this point a team of two trained staff will be 

deployed to support the person, alternatively security or Exurbia staff can escort to the welfare tent. 

If the person is of the opposite sex to the person supporting them then their consent must be asked 

unless the person(s) are unable to respond and the need for welfare imperative. Where 

Exurbia/security staff bring someone to welfare they should only leave the person once the full 

details have been handed over to a member of welfare and the person checked in by a member of 

staff. 

• For any unresponsive casualty within welfare area, staff should ensure a member of the 

medical team assesses them regularly. Any sleeping service users should be 

placed/encouraged to lie in the recovery position, have close monitoring and receive regular 

checks (timescales to be agreed on case by case basis with shift leader). 

 
• Staff should be aware that casualties can deteriorate quickly so where there are any concerns 

for a service-user’s wellbeing, no matter how slight, a second opinion from the medical team 

190



 

 

should always be sought. If possible alert welfare manager/shift leader immediately but do 

not wait for them to become available before taking action to seek medical advice. It is 

essential that staff handover to shift leaders any concerns or observations about people in 

care of welfare and that any details are logged within the notes. When going off and coming 

on shift, staff should take time to give/gain an update from team members. 

 

• Caution should be given with distribution of water, it is important for service users not to 

dehydrate but it is also possible to drink too much water, safe amounts are no more than 1 

pint in 1 hour. If handing out water, offer half cups. 

 
• Equally caution should be given when distributing hot drinks containing caffeine, where 

service users appear to be under the influence of any substance, provide de-caf options. 

 
• With the emergence of new psychoactive substances, some newer drugs in circulation can fit 

into multiple drug categories and therefore can have unexpected effects. Below we have 

described symptoms of some of the common types of overdose. 

 

3.3.2 Over the counter (OTC) medications/Prescription Medication 

• Under no circumstances should OTC medications be dispensed to event attendees by on 

site staff and welfare teams- all such requests should be directed to medical. 

• Event attendees should be encouraged to store and consume OTC and prescription 

medications safely and responsibly. They should also be informed of possible 

interactions with drugs and alcohol. 

3.3.3 Overdose 

 
It is the responsibility of every member of Welfare and any services working alongside them at 

Forbidden Forest to be aware of the signs and symptoms of potential drug overdoses and to 

appropriately intervene in a suspected case. The risk of overdose should always be taken seriously. In 

all cases, suspicion of overdose should be responded to immediately and medical should be alerted 

at earliest opportunity. 

 
The level of intervention in regard to overdose, will be determined by the levels of training of the staff 

member. It is the responsibility of all staff to act to the level of their training in regard to suspected 

overdose (e.g. first aid trained) and only perform support such as CPR in an emergency whilst waiting 
for medics to respond. 

• Recognizing Overdose-Onset of signs and symptoms for different drugs can vary depending 

upon the substance and poly-use however there are a number of signs and symptoms that 

can alert staff to the possibility of overdose. With the emergence of new psychoactive 

substances, some newer drugs in circulation can fit into multiple drug categories and 

therefore can have unexpected effects. Below we have described symptoms of some of the 

common types of overdose 

 
3.3.4 Signs of a stimulant overdose include: 

 
• Overheating 

• Dehydration 

• Rapid heart rate 

• Extreme agitation and mental confusion- this may present and extreme disorientation 

and hallucinations 

191



 

 

• Muscle tension, twitching and jerking movements 

• Seizures 

• Continued nausea and vomiting 

 

3.3.5 Signs of a depressant overdose include: 

 
• Shallow breathing, rasping breath or not breathing at all 

• Snoring or gurgling sounds (this can mean that a person’s airway is partly blocked) 

• Changes in skin colour, e.g. turning blue 

• Cold or clammy skin 

• Floppy arms and legs 

• No response to stimulus 

• Disorientation 

• Unrousable (can’t be woken up) unconsciousness. 

 

3.3.6 Signs of alcohol intoxication to the point of overdose include: 

 
• Disorientation 

• Loss of coordination 

• Vomiting 

• Seizures 

• Irregular or slow breathing 

• Blue-tinged or pale skin 

• Low body temperature (hypothermia) 

• Stupor (being conscious but unresponsive) 

• Unconsciousness (passing out) 

 
Responding to overdose: In the event of a suspected overdose, on-site medical should be contacted 

immediately. If staff observe signs of potential overdose the person should be monitored- do not 

leave them alone- and seek support from nearest medic/first aider for assistance. 

 
        If the person is NOT BREATHING begin CPR according to latest first aid guidelines. 

 
If the person is UNCONSCIOUS AND BREATHING place them in the recovery position. 

Until help arrives, keep checking the person’s breathing. 

 
If the person is CONSCIOUS AND BREATHING, help them into a comfortable position and 

ask them what they’ve taken. Gather as much information as you can- what they have 

taken, how much, when in combination with other substances. Obtaining packaging or 

containers that may identify the drugs will be helpful to medical staff. Keep checking 

their breathing, pulse and level of response. 

3.4 RESPONDING TO INCIDENCES OF RAPE AND SEXUAL ASSAULT 
This policy explains some of the offences in the Sexual Offences Act 2003 (the SOA 2003): 

• Rape 

• Assault by penetration 

• Sexual assault 

192



 

 

• Causing someone to engage in sexual activity 

• Drug facilitated sexual assault 
 

3.4.1 Definitio

ns What 

is rape? 

A man commits rape if he intentionally penetrates the vagina, anus or mouth of another person with 

his penis, without their consent. 
 

3.4.2 What is assault by penetration? 

 
A person commits assault by penetration if he intentionally penetrates the vagina or anus of another 

person with a part of the body or anything else, without their consent. 
 

3.4.3 What is sexual assault? 

 

A person commits sexual assault if they intentionally touch another person, the touching is sexual, 

and the person does not consent. 
 

3.4.4 Causing a person to engage in sexual activity 
 

The offence of causing someone to engage in sexual activity covers situations where the defendant 

causes a person to engage in sexual activity alone (for example, by forcing them to masturbate) or 

with a third person. The defendant does not have to touch the person in order for an offence to 

have been committed. A person may be caused to engage in sexual activity because violence is used 

against them or because they are threatened with something else, such as harm to other. One 

person forcing or coercing another into the sexual activity without consent may commit the offence 

of “causing” but it is not necessary that violence is used against them. Tricking someone may 

amount to “causing”, provided there is some action by a person that results in another engaging in 

sexual activity. 

 

3.4.5 Voluntary intoxication, capacity and sexual activity 

 
In order to consent to sexual activity a person must have the freedom and capacity to choose. 

However, there may be some circumstances where a person’s capacity to choose to enter into 

sexual activity is affected because they have voluntarily consumed alcohol or another substance (this 

is often referred to as voluntary intoxication). If a complainant has temporarily lost their capacity to 

choose whether to enter into sexual activity and sexual activity takes place, then (depending on 

whether the defendant has a reasonable belief in their consent) the defendant will have committed 

an offence. Whether or not a person has lost the capacity to consent depends on their ability to 

understand and make a decision at the time the sexual activity took place. While some people may 

be able to consume significant quantities of alcohol without losing their capacity to consent, others 

may not. A person’s response to alcohol may also differ from day to day. A complainant may have 

lost the capacity to consent without having lost consciousness. If the complainant is asleep or 

unconscious when the sexual activity occurs, then there is a presumption that the complainant did 

not consent, and that the defendant did not reasonably believe that they consented. Where the 

complainant has consumed significant quantities of alcohol or another substance but did in fact 

consent to sexual activity then no offence is committed, even if the person concerned would not 

193



 

 

have consented if they had not consumed the alcohol or substance. 

 

3.4.6 (Adapted from: Handbook of adult survivors of sexual violence) 

 
What is drug facilitated sexual assault? 

 

Drug facilitated sexual assault includes all forms of non-consensual penetrative sexual activity 

whether it involves the forcible or covert administration of an incapacitating or disinhibiting 

substance by an assailant, for the purposes of serious sexual assault; as well as sexual activity by an 

assailant with a victim who is profoundly intoxicated by his or her own actions to the point of near or 

actual unconsciousness 

194



 

 

3.4.7  Supporting a survivor 

(adapted from rape crisis guidance) 

Responding to an incident of sexual violence can be unnerving for staff as they may not be sure 

“how to be” with the survivor and be unsure of the process. Any incident of rape or sexual assault 

can be reported to the police. If an individual has been raped or sexually assaulted, it is entirely up to 

them whether or not they choose to report it to the police. No-one else can or should make that 

decision for them. However, it is equally important that the survivor feels fully supported to do so 

and that their allegation is taken seriously. The procedure for reporting a rape or sexual assault is 

covered in the next section of the policy. 

Everyone responds differently to a traumatic event. Common signs are: 

 
• Shock-This can mean that they feel numb or unemotional. They might be in total disbelief, 

be crying, shaking, laughing or physically being sick 

• Feeling to blame and responsible for what has happened 

• 'Reliving' the events (having flashbacks). This can be triggered by a sound, situation or smell 

and can be very frightening for them 

• Lack of confidence and trust in themselves/others 

• Feeling worthless 

• Feeling angry 

• Feeling dirty and ashamed about what has happened 

• Feeling afraid of people, of places, of being on their own 

 
The most important thing is to establish safety for the individual, this may be supporting them an 

onsite support area e.g. welfare or medical and/or contacting a friend or family member to be 

present with them. It may be that the survivor would prefer to speak with someone of a specific 

gender and this should be facilitated if at all possible. The person may have physical injuries and 

may require medical assistance, they may also be experiencing shock so staff should be aware of 

outdoor temperatures and facilitate access to warm clothing, blanket and hot drinks if required. It is 

very important that staff listen to what the survivor wants and not coerce them in to any actions or 

decisions they do not want as this can further traumatize them. 

The welfare team includes staff who are trained in counselling skills and some will have experience 

in supporting survivors of rape and sexual assault. Welfare is open throughout the event and can 

provide a response team as necessary. Even where a person does not wish to seek support straight 

away, advise them that they can access support at any time from the welfare area, this includes 

advice about sexual health. Staff can also radio or telephone welfare for advice at any time. 

If a survivor decides to report the incident to the Police, they will also be asked to make a 

statement. It's important not to leave any information or details out of the statement, even if they 

find them upsetting or embarrassing. If there are things they can't remember, they should tell the 

Police that, rather than trying to imagine or speculate about what might have happened. They 

should be honest with the police even about things that they might be worried will reflect badly on 

them, like how much alcohol they'd had to drink or if they'd taken drugs; stress that none of these 

factors make what happened to them their fault and they are not to blame. 

 
It may be that the survivor may want the Police to be aware about an incident of sexual violence but 

do not want to make contact with them directly. If this is the case, they can ask a third party (such as 

a friend, welfare staff member or other onsite support organization) to report the incident to the 

195



 

 

Police. A third-party report can include as much or as little detail as the individual wishes. The third 

party does not have to reveal who the individual is or give full details about the sexual violence they 

have experienced. The police value third party reports because it gives them information about 

criminal activity that is occurring at the festival. Third party reports are confidential. However, there 

are circumstances when the police may try and make contact with the survivor. For example, it may 

be that the information that is given links the case to others, or that they are able to identify the 

person responsible. If this is the case the police would contact the person or organization that made 

the third-party report and ask them to contact the survivor. If you make a third-party report on 

behalf of someone who has experienced sexual violence the police officer you speak to should: take 

a detailed report of the incident from you; and, give you details of a nominated Investigating Officer 

so that you can contact them again to provide any additional information. 

 

3.4.8 General guidance on supporting a survivor from Rape Crisis is: 
 

Supporting a survivor of sexual violence can be daunting; many people are afraid of saying or doing 

'the wrong thing', or of 'damaging' someone further because they 'don't know enough'. But you 

don't have to be an expert. If you are prepared to listen, the survivor who has confided in you will be 

able to guide you in what they need. 

 

3.4.9 DO: 

 
Listen: Listen, and show that you are listening, to what she or he has to say, even if it's difficult for 

you to hear. You might have a lot of questions but try not to interrupt. 

 
Let them stay in control: Sexual abuse and rape can make a person feel powerless and out of 

control. Survivors want and deserve to feel in charge of their lives again. So it's important you resist 

the temptation to 'take over', for example by arranging and doing things that you think are best. 

Instead, support her/him to explore their feelings and options and make their own decisions. 

Respect those decisions, even if you don't agree with them. Doing things for a survivor (like making 

an appointment on their behalf without checking that it's what they want first) can end up making 

things worse, even when you were only trying to help. 

 
Be patient: Don’t push for them to tell you anything before they're ready. It might not be easy for 

them to start talking about experiences. It might be difficult because their abuser told them not to 

tell or threatened them. They might feel ashamed or responsible or be traumatized. 

 
Believe: People rarely lie about rape or sexual abuse. Why would they? It is important to believe 

what they are saying even if it's difficult for you to hear. 

 
Remember it's not their fault: No-one asks to be abused, assaulted or raped. No survivor should 

ever be blamed for not preventing their own abuse or violence against them. The blame lies with the 

perpetrator. 

 
Recognize their courage: It takes a great deal of strength and courage both to survive and to talk 

about experiences of sexual violence; acknowledge that. 

 

3.4.10 DON'T: 

 
Don't ask why they didn't say anything sooner: They might have tried to tell before and been 

ignored or disbelieved. They might have been threatened or been too frightened to say anything. 

They might have felt ashamed or blocked out events too painful to think about. 

196



 

                                                                             
 
 

 

Don't judge: It is important to be accepting of the way they are reacting, even if it's not what you 

were expecting or not the way you think you'd respond to a similar experience. It is best to get rid 

of any ideas you have of how a person who has been raped should behave and to accept their 

reactions as their own. 

 
Don't ask them why they didn't fight back: This will only make them feel judged and even 

blamed for what happened. Rape and sexual assault are terrifying experiences to which people 

react in different ways. It's very common to freeze when confronted with a terrifying situation, 

for example, or for our bodies to 'flop' or go limp. 

 
Remember to take care of yourself as well. Supporting a survivor can be difficult and it's OK to 

take time and space for yourself sometimes. It's important not to betray a survivor's trust by 

telling others about their experiences without their permission, but you can talk confidentially to 

and get specialist support from your nearest Rape Crisis service 

 

3.4.11 Reporting a rape or sexual assault 

 

Police have trained officers to respond to any report of rape or serious sexual assault. A Specially 

Trained Officer (STO) will be assigned to a survivor. The officer will support the individual from 

the point of report through to the conclusion of the case. 
 

They can also access telephone support via National Rape Crisis Free phone: 0808 802 9999 

(everyday 12-12.30pm & 7-9.30pm) 

 
If an individual wishes forensic evidence to be collected, time is an important factor; they 

should report to the police or try and go to the SARC straight away where possible or at least 

within 72 hours of the rape or assault. 

 
Also, if possible, encourage the person to take these steps: 

• Do not wash 

• Do not brush teeth 

• Do not have a cigarette 

• Do not eat or drink 

• Do not change clothes 

• If they change their clothes, do not discard or wash them but put them in a clean plastic 
bag 

• Try not to go to the toilet 

• Do not clear up anything from the area of the incident 

 

Reassure the person not to worry if they have already done some of these things. It's possible that 

there is still forensic evidence to collect. 

 

197



 

                                                                             
 
 

3.5 MENTAL HEALTH 

Mental health and wellbeing can flare up when people are out of their normal environment 

and routine, which can mean people are vulnerable and require crisis support. People can also 

have adverse reactions connected to use of substance(s), which may temporarily present as a 

mental health issue or may exacerbate an underlying condition. 

3.5.1 What are mental health problems? 

 

Mental health problems can affect the way you think, feel and behave. They affect around one in 

four people in Britain, and range from common mental health problems, such as 

depression and anxiety, to more rare problems such as schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. A 

mental health problem can feel just as bad, or worse, as any other physical illness – only you 

cannot see it. 

(MIND) 

3.5.2 Substance use and mental health 

 

Alcohol and other drugs can exacerbate an individual’s existing mental health issue. Equally some 

people may choose to use substances to help manage their mental health and therefore may be 

vulnerable to heavier use. On occasion someone with no prior symptoms of mental health can 

have an acute reaction to use of substance(s). This is more likely where they have used high 

volumes or have taken multiple substances together. 

Substances which may be more likely to be involved in an acute reaction in a festival setting are 

LSD and other psychedelics, Ketamine, MDMA/Ecstasy and stimulant drugs such as amphetamine. 

New Psychoactive Substances commonly referred to as legal highs mimic illegal drugs and 

therefore have the same risks as traditional substances if not more so due to their limited history 

of use. It is possible for NPS to show up in street drugs, which can cause issues with dosing as they 

can sometimes be more potent than the drugs they mimic. 

Certain drugs such as psychedelics can trigger effects which can manifest as mental health 

symptoms such as hallucinations but may be the normal effects of that drug and may indeed be 

enjoyable to the user. Therefore, it is advisable to seek guidance from trained welfare or medical 

staff about whether a support intervention is required. Many people can be safely managed by 

friends and peers whilst under the influence and forcing someone to seek welfare/medical 

support if against their wishes can sometimes trigger a difficult experience. Such situations are 

generally managed tactfully with use of welfare roaming team who can assess an individual’s 

safety whilst undertaking other tasks such as handing out water. 

Many acute reactions due to substance use will subside as the effects of the drug wears off. 

Some novel psychedelics and stimulants have a prolonged duration of action so improvement 

can take a number of hours. 

3.5.3 Typical symptoms of acute mental health 

 

• Extreme agitation- this is more pronounced than someone experiencing anxiety, they 

may be pacing, unable to settle, looking around them excitedly, looking frightened 

• Hallucinations- these can be visual (seeing things), auditory (hearing things), tactile 

198



 

                                                                             
 
 

(feeling things on them) 

• Delusional thinking and persecutory beliefs- this might be thinking people are after 

them, people aren’t who they appear to be, they are being watched or bugged 

• Lack of insight and self-awareness- this may make them unable to see things for how 

they really are 

• Confused thoughts and rapid, constant or random speech- this may be talking faster 

than normal without pausing, switching topics mid-sentence or a sudden loss in their 

train of thought 

• Aggression-Occasionally people can become aggressive or violent, this is generally 

where they are being managed in an unhelpful way, are frightened and feel they are 

defending themselves 

 

3.5.4 Responding to someone experiencing a mental health episode 

 
The welfare team includes staff who are trained in mental health and counselling skills and some 

will have specialist knowledge and experience of working in mental health treatment. Welfare is 

open throughout the whole event (live) and can provide a response roaming team as necessary. 

Even where a person does not wish to seek support, advise them that they can access support at 

any time from the welfare area, this includes advice about managing mental health and 

wellbeing. Staff can also radio or telephone welfare for advice at any time. This support is also 

open to staff 

If a steward, a member of security or Exurbia staff come across a person who they believe are 

experiencing an acute mental health episode, they should radio the Welfare Centre for assistance. 

At this point a team of two trained staff will be deployed to support the person, alternatively 

security or Exurbia staff can escort the individual to the welfare tent. Where Exurbia/security staff 

bring someone to welfare they should only leave the person when a member of Welfare is available 

to support them immediately and full details have been handed over. 

 
Both medical and welfare have mental health specific staff such as CPNs who can offer support and 

guidance around assessment of risk where there is immediate concern for a persons’ wellbeing. 

On occasion, a person will present with an acute mental health episode that cannot be safely 

managed in either welfare or medical without exposing other service users, members of the 

public or staff to risk. On these occasions, welfare and medical may request support from security 

staff or on-site police to help safely manage the individual. In such cases partnership working is 

important to help ensure safety of the individual and staff supporting them. Welfare do not use 

restraint so where this is absolutely necessary, they would require support from security/police. 

Where no improvement is observed over a significant amount of time, their agitation appears to 

be escalating or they pose a risk to themselves or others it may be required to gain support from 

the police to allow for them to utilize their powers under 136 of the mental health act to remove 

them to a place of safety e.g. 

Accident and Emergency. This would only be considered as a last resort and based on a trained 

mental health worker assessment where treatment and other interventions have been 

unsuccessful, and the person can no longer be safely managed on site. 

It is recognized that prolonged use of restraint carries a risk of severe harm to that individual 

including exacerbating certain life threatening conditions e.g. serotonin toxicity, equally medical 

sedation external to an hospital environment is potentially unsafe in some cases where they may 

have used other substances and therefore the only safe course of action in such cases is 

assessment in a hospital setting. 

199



 

                                                                             
 
 

3.6  

3.7 CARE AND SUPPORT OF VULNERABLE ADULTS 

3.7.1 Definitions 

 

• The definition of a vulnerable adult is given in the 'No Secrets' guidelines published 

by the Department of Health in 2000 as someone 

• "who is or may be in need of community care services by reason of mental or other 

disability, of age or illness; and who is or may be unable to take care of him or herself, 

or unable to protect him or herself against significant harm or exploitation" 

• Further, it defines abuse as "a violation of an individual's human and civil rights by 

any other person(s)." 

• In particular, it should be noted here that adults (i.e. those aged 18 years or higher) 

have the right to make their own decisions unless there are clear grounds to override 

this as a result of their lack of capacity OR if wider public interest is involved. 

• Exurbia Events recognize that an adult may be deemed vulnerable by the welfare 

team or by any other agency referring to them due to factors such as, being under 

the influence of substance(s) or by immediate crisis issues e.g. emotional distress. 

However, it is essential that the service users human and/or civil rights are not 

compromised in providing support to the individual and the correct procedures are 

followed around leaving our care (should they choose to do so) as outlined in this 

policy. 

• The law in relation to adults offers far fewer opportunities or responsibilities in 

relation to intervention. The principle here is to promote negotiation with regard to 

the individual's capacity at that time. 

• Any adult in the care of the welfare team who is deemed to be vulnerable, is entitled 

to be treated with dignity and respect. 

• Service users under the influence of substances may present with challenging 

behaviors because of something they have taken. Staff should deal with any behaviors 

professionally and involve another agency such as medical, security or police if 

necessary, to protect welfare of the service user, staff or the public. 

• If a vulnerable adult is to be evicted from site, Welfare will work in conjunction with 

the Evictions Manager to ensure their safety and wellbeing is maintained. There will be 

access to a phone made available, so that all evictees get an opportunity to make a call 

to arrange for someone to collect them. All evictees must be offered this service. Please 

see Eviction Policy for more details of this procedure. 

• Service users using the bedded area who require practical support e.g. placing in the 

200



 

                                                                             
 
 

recovery position, should be involved in their care at all times. Consent should be 

sought in the first instance but if the individual is unable to give consent, practical 

support 

should be verbalized and recorded in their notes. All service users who are 

unresponsive should be assessed by a member of the medical team. 

• Personal care-Service users who may be affected by substance use and other 

vulnerable adults or people affected by disability may request assistance with 

personal care. Should an individual require support with personal care, staff should 

inform the shift leader of this request. Wherever possible this should be offered by a 

person of the same gender. If any personal care support is to be given by a member 

of the opposite sex, the individual must be offered the option of a chaperone. The 

chaperone must be wherever possible, the same sex as the individual receiving the 

care (Royal College of Nursing, 2002; General Medical Council, 2006). As there may be 

issues around capacity to process information, staff should continually seek consent 

for any required support and ensure they verbalize any physical support to the service 

user. Personal care support must be recorded in the notes of the service user, 

detailing names of which staff were involved in the support. 

 

3.7.2 Protection of vulnerable adults 

WHAT ARE THE DIFFERENT FORMS OF ABUSE? 

 

• Physical abuse – this can include hitting, slapping, pushing, kicking, misuse of 

medication, restraint. 

• Sexual abuse – this can include rape, indecent assault, sexual assault and gross 

indecency. It also includes the involvement of vulnerable adults in sexual activities that 

they do not understand, cannot or have not consented to, or have been pressurized into 

consenting to. 

• Psychological abuse – this can include emotional abuse and emotional blackmail, threats 

of harm or abandonment, prevention of contact, humiliation, blaming, controlling, 

intimidation, coercion, harassment, verbal abuse, isolation or withdrawal from services 

or supportive networks, inappropriate sanctions. 

• Financial/material abuse – this involves a person’s funds or resources being 

inappropriately used by someone else and can include theft, fraud, exploitation, pressure 

in connection with a will, property inheritance or financial transactions, or the misuse of 

property, possessions or benefits. 

• Neglect or failure to do something – this can have physical or psychological 

consequences and can include ignoring medical or physical care needs, failure to 

provide access to appropriate health or social care services, the withholding of the 

necessities of life such as medication, suitable nutrition and heating. It also includes 

allowing a person who lacks capacity to make decisions about their safety or to take 

unreasonable risks. 

• Neglect can sometimes occur as a result of unintentional actions by a caregiver where 

201



 

                                                                             
 
 

that person lacks knowledge about the person in their care’s illness or disability or lacks 

the physical or mental resources needed to provide suitable care. 

• Discriminatory abuse – this can include behaviour that is racist and/or sexist or is based on 

a person’s disability. It also includes other forms of harassment, insults or similar 

treatment. 

(Department of Health: “No Secrets”) Discriminatory abuse can lead to people being 

excluded from mainstream activities. 

 
 

 WHEN ABUSE IS SUSPECTED OR DISCLOSED: 

• 1 Get medical assistance and another emergency treatment for vulnerable adult if 
necessary. 

 
• 2 Advice from the welfare manager(s) must be sought. Remember that if a vulnerable 

adult is considered to be at risk of harm or if there is suspicion of abuse you cannot give 

undertakings about confidentiality: this is for the protection of the individual and/or 

possibly others. 

 
• 3 Listen actively to the alleged victim’s story and make a factual and judgement free 

record of the basic facts of the alleged abuse. Avoid going into detail of the alleged abuse 

with the vulnerable adult i.e. by asking probing questions. 

 
• 4 Do not speak with the alleged perpetrator. Both of these actions could interfere 

with evidence that might be needed for a conviction. 

 
• ALLEGATIONS/SUSPICIONS Regarding any member of FF staff and any services they 

commission. 

It is important that an independent element be included as part of the investigation 

into allegations or suspicions of abuse against any member of staff, and their 

commissioned services. Any member of the team who receives a report of an 

allegation or who has serious reason to suspect a team member of abuse or neglect 

must at once inform the team co-ordinator or their assigned deputy. 

The worker involved in the allegation will be immediately suspended from work or 

any of their commissioned organizations and appropriate steps will be taken 

immediately to report the matter to Social Services and the Police. 

The worker should not be allowed to leave the event site until the matter has 

been reported to Social Services and /or the Police and advice sought. 

 

3.7.4 WHAT ARE THE ISSUES AROUND CONSENT? 

 
• This is a complex area and needs to be considered on an individual basis. If it is suspected 

that a vulnerable adult has been abused, their consent must always be sought to refer on 

202



 

                                                                             
 
 

or report the incident. If they do not consent, there are circumstances in which their 

wishes should be upheld and others where they may be overridden. Even if the person 

does consent, they may lack the capacity to understand the consequences of consenting. 

All adults are presumed to have legal capacity unless there are clear indications of the 

opposite. If there are doubts, there should be an assessment of capacity looking at 

issues such as the person’s ability to take in and process information and to make 

informed decisions. 

 
• Staff should be aware that use of substances may temporarily affect a person’s capacity 

to process information or make an informed decision, but capacities will likely return as 

the effects of the substance starts to wear off. Staff should also be aware of drug assisted 

sexual assault and substances which can be involved which have potential to cause 

memory loss, difficulty communicating and may affect ability to give consent. 

 
• If the person has capacity and consents to action being taken this can proceed. If the 

person does not have capacity and either appears to consent or doesn’t consent, the 

professionals involved must consider what is in that persons ‘best interests. The views of 

other relevant people should also be taken into account. 

 
• If the vulnerable adult has capacity but does not consent to action being taken the 

situation is particularly difficult. The person may feel that there is no need for action or 

may be afraid of retaliation from the alleged perpetrator. This decision can only be 

overridden if the professionals can show that to do so would either be in the person’s 

best interests, the best interests of others or would prevent a crime. If for example, 

someone attending a festival did not want to take action when assaulted by a staff 

member, this wish could be overridden in the best interests of other members of the 

public or festival staff. 

 
• Good practice also suggests that professionals don’t act alone in these decisions and 

should consult with other professionals. They should be able to demonstrate that any 

proposed action is reasonable, and all decisions and discussions should be well 

documented. 

 

3.7.5 CONFIDENTIALITY 

 

• It is essential that the boundaries of CONFIDENTIALITY are explained to the 

vulnerable adult - if possible before disclosure, i.e. where it is suspected they might 

be about to disclose. It is the role of the team co-ordinator or the assigned assistant 

to liaise with external agencies such as Police or Social Services if required for the 

safety of that individual or members of the public. 

• Written notes will be kept of all relevant information. Information should however 

only be shared on a strictly 'need to know' basis. 

• Drug trends and general trend information about welfare support will be anonymized 

203



 

                                                                             
 
 

 

204



 

                                                                             
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

DRUG POLICY (OD_37) 
 

The Directors of Exurbia Events have a clear policy with regards illegal substances and 

are committed to delivering a safe and enjoyable event without the use of illicit 

drugs. In this capacity they aim to work with Lincolnshire Police, 13Noir Security 

contractor and Central Medical Services before, during and post event to prevent the 

dealing and use of illegal substances whilst continuing to be proactive in the control 

and seizure of drugs. The introduction of the Psychoactive Substances Act in May 

2016 has given us opportunities to reduce harm further and deal effectively with the 

substances previously known as “Legal Highs” and it is the Directors intention in 

partnership with the Police to use the legislation to its full potential. (All references 

throughout this policy to drugs also apply to the use and supply of psychoactive 

substances) 

 
This policy aims to support the Event Security Plan (OD_17) and will be finalized in 

consultation with the Police and other Responsible Authorities/statutory bodies prior 

to the event and is based on four core messages; 

 
• Prevention 

• Drug dealers and users 

• Welfare and staff training 

• Education – Rave safe message 
 

Throughout the UK both at events and in normal daily life there are extremely effective 

substance misuse initiatives being delivered along with very effective drug 

enforcement measures, yet legal and illegal substances continue to be supplied into 

society. This bears on the fact of their being a demand. Where ever there is a demand 

there will be a supply. In response to this the Directors of the event have developed 

this strategy which outlines their aims to minimize drug use whilst mitigating risks to 

public safety, enforcing prevention and educating the public of the negative effects of 

taking drugs. Exurbia Events puts emphasis into designing out drugs by developing the 

‘event image’ using its media and marketing plan, and music policy. 

 
Exurbia Events (EE) is currently working with drug awareness professionals through the 

Welfare provision (OD_36) and their onsite / pre event awareness Campaign. The 

Drugs Awareness Campaign is part of the overall Drugs Policy, which will directly target 

the public who attend the event, both on and off site. 

 

205



 

                                                                             
 
 

This Drug Policy has been produced in consultation with the Event Directors and will 

be agreed with Lincolnshire Police. Going forward, EE would like to engage with a sub 

group consisting of the police, security and medical contractors that can meet, as 

necessary, before the event to review and interpret statistical data from each event, 

so that drug operations can be developed in accordance with these findings. This will 

lead to the development of new strategies to combat the use of drugs on site and 

within the society of today. 

 

PREVENTION 
 

 
Exurbia Events does not condone the use of, or dealing in, illegal drugs. The message 

to actively discourage dealers and users shall be published in the following ways; 

 
• On the Terms and Conditions of Entry signposted with every valid ticket and on 

the web site 

• On the official website. This will contain a Drugs Awareness Campaign 

page/section, specifically highlighting the event’s views on drugs use, with links 

to harm reduction services. 

• Creation of a Media, Marketing and PR plan, which will include specific ideas 

and targets to move the event image away from any previous perceptions and 

to engage a more mature, more diverse audience. 

• The scale and success of this year’s policy will be promoted using various media 

channels, including, if agreed, seizures and types of illicit substances. 

• As indicated, it is vital to stress to the public that all psychoactive substances 

(previously known as Legal Highs AND including Nitrous Oxide), will be treated 

in the same way as controlled drugs 

Practical steps to reduce the supply and use of drugs on site: 
 

• Ensure signage around the Drugs Awareness Campaign for the event is in high 

impact areas around the car parks, near main entrance gates, etc. 

• Specific signage in car parks to ensure people understand that Nitrous Oxide is 

not only banned from the event (as in previous years) but is also illegal to supply 

and will be targeted by Security. 

• Increase in the amount of amnesty bins that are planned for the entrance gates. 

• Increase the amount of foot patrols of all car parks  

• Pre event sweep of site homing in on potential “Stash” opportunities 

• By very visibly when taking people away for ejection or to refuse them 

admission on the way in to the festival after finding drugs serves as a deterrent 

for others who will then be more likely to put items in the amnesty bins 

• Increase intelligence sharing around crime and criminals that target major UK 

events, between Police and Security. 

206



 

                                                                             
 
 

• Continue to effectively target the most common group of offenders 

• Facilitating undercover operations run by the Police will help prevent the 

circulation of drugs and leads to arrests 

• There shall be no concession/outlet onsite selling any drug alternatives, herbal 

substances, pills, powder or gases, if any trader is found to do so they will be 

immediately shut down and the Police will be called to investigate any possible 

offences. 

• EE has a zero-tolerance policy regarding the possession of Nitrous Oxide, and it 

is a criminal offence to supply it for non-commercial use. If any person is 

suspected of supplying Nitrous Oxide, they will be either ejected from site or 

handed to the Police to investigate that offence. Any person caught with what 

is deemed to be a “possession” amount only will have the Nitrous Oxide seized 

from them and a decision made as to whether to evict from the site. Agreement 

with Police and security will be sought before the event as to understand what 

amount of Nitrous Oxide would constitute supply.  

• Regardless of the legislation, the use and abandonment of Nitrous Oxide 

cartridges causes real environmental damage to event sites. The EE directors of 

have decided that on top of having the cartridges seized anyone found in 

possession of 60 or more individual cartridges will be evicted from the site. 

 
The signage at the entrance gates will read as follows; 

 
1 “The dealing in, or use of, illegal drugs is not condoned by the Premise License 

Holder of Forbidden Forest. Drug enforcement laws are applicable on this site. Event 

security, stewarding personnel will deal with drug offences in accordance with 

national laws and guidelines. If you deal in drugs, it is likely that you will be arrested. 

Neither anti-social nor illegal behavior shall be tolerated and those who participate 

will be evicted from the site. Drug enforcement laws will be strictly applied on site”. 

 
“Experimenting with drugs can lead to adverse reactions. If you do take drugs and 

you become ill, depressed or frightened please ask a steward to direct you to onsite 

the welfare facility on site which can help and support you”. 

 
‘’If you are caught with any amount of Nitrous Oxide, graffiti markers or Aerosol 

spray paint canister coming on to site or on site, it will be confiscated, or you will 

forfeit your wristband and asked to leave the festival site.’’ 

 
‘’If you are caught selling Nitrous Oxide on site you may be arrested, and will be 

evicted from the festival site’’ 

 
In addition, the Terms and Conditions of entry signposted with tickets and signage at 
the entrance gates will state; 

207



 

                                                                             
 
 

 
2 “You may be searched at the entrance. Any items that the organizer considers to 

be used in an illegal or offensive manner shall be confiscated and you may not be 

permitted entry to the festival site.” 

 
 
DRUG DEALERS AND USERS 

 
EE has a zero tolerance to any form of drug dealing on its site. Security shall take an 

active role seeking out drug dealing and shall work in partnership with the Police to 

agree how to deal with those caught in possession of illicit substances – confiscation, 

eviction or call for arrest. Drug enforcement laws are as applicable at the event site as 

anywhere in the country and we will deal with drug offences in accordance with 

national guidelines. 

 
Training and information will be provided to Security to assist them in distinguishing 

between those in simple possession of substances and those that may be dealing. 

 
Security shall conduct searches for drugs before entry to the event site and shall record 

details of on-going activity with regards to searching and the number of people that 

are refused entry and those who are evicted as a result. Any person apprehended will 

be taken to the Eviction Centre, following a radio call to Security Control, and details 

recorded at the Eviction Centre. Please see the Eviction Policy (OD_17) for further 

details of the process. For details on Search and Entry procedures please also see the 

security policy (OD_17). 

 
Any searching of persons shall be carried out by SIA accredited operatives, who will 

only search ticket holders of the same gender. The ticket Terms and Conditions shall 

indicate that searching will be carried out and there shall be clear signage containing 

this message at all entrances.  

 

Seizing and Finding Controlled Substances 
 

All seizures of controlled substances by Security will be dealt with in accordance with 

the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 and according to agreed protocols with Lincolnshire 

Police. 

 
 

We will work with Lincolnshire Police to agree a policy for training security staff 

about levels of action against class and amount of illicit substance seized. Any 'higher 

level' offences (supply, possession with intent, theft, assault etc.) that involve 

suspects being taken off-site to a designated custody Centre are not allowed back on 

site. The Police, if called, will seize the wristband as part of the evidence to support 

attendance at the event. 

 

208



 

                                                                             
 
 

In compliance with the above, where our security takes possession of a suspected 

controlled drug, anywhere on site, it is to be radioed through to Security Control and 

handed to their Security Manager at the earliest opportunity. These confiscated items 

will then be delivered to the Police for disposal or for the Police’s retention as evidence 

in any ongoing police enquiry. 

 
Any illegal substances coming into the possession of security, stewards or event staff 

will be bagged and labelled prior to being stored in a suitable receptacle within the 

Security Centre where collection of its contents will also be arranged with Police. This 

room will be locked and controlled by the security coordinator.  

 
 

Making Notes and record keeping 
 

As soon as is reasonably practical after any incident anywhere throughout the event 

lifecycle, accurate notes will be made by the reporting security staff in the Eviction 

Centre. This information may be required as evidence in support of any prosecution at 

any subsequent court proceedings and will assist in making any statement required by 

the Police. Where doubts exist as to whether a report should be made to the Security 

teams, staff will be instructed to report all incidents, in relation to seized controlled 

substances, to ensure accurate records and to assist in the compilation to intelligence 

led policing. An agreement needs to be made with Lincolnshire Police as to the 

amounts of seized drugs and whether it warrants the seizure to be recorded or 

disposed of in the Amnesty Bin. 

 

Drug Amnesty Bins 
 

13 Noir will provide suitable receptacles for the safe retention of non-seized illegal 

substances and prohibited items at all public gates and shall inform and pass on to the 

Police so that appropriate collection/disposal can be arranged. The Security 

Coordinator will be responsible for the security of the receptacles, which will be 

secured at search lanes on the public gates. It will be clearly labelled ‘Drugs Amnesty 

Bin’. 

 
The Amnesty Bins will be on each search lane, giving ticket holders the opportunity to 

dispose of any drugs before the security search takes place. If a ticket holder is caught 

with a number of drugs which are deemed to be for personal use, this will be put into 

the Amnesty Bin and the person allowed on to the event site, without the drugs. This 

does not need to be recorded. 

 

Key points 
 

• Bags will be searched on entry to the event. The lane system means adequate 

control of ticket holders while being processed through the Search and entrance 

209



 

                                                                             
 
 

tent. See site plans (OD_14) 

• Drug dogs will be on duty at the entrance and anyone who is flagged by the 

dogs’ actions will be taken aside to a secure, private area for a more thorough 

body search. The area containing this more private search area will be bounded 

by Heras fencing so that those who have been taken there cannot easily escape 

into the festival or out towards the car parks. 

• Anyone taken to this enhanced search area who is found in possession of illicit 

substances will be evicted from the site using the policy and systems in place. 

• There will be random dog searching taking place around the site before the 

public enter, and in the trader and caterer areas. 

• 13 Noir Security will liaise with the Police as appropriate. They will share and 

disseminate any information / intelligence that may lead to the apprehension 

of drug dealers. 

• 13 Noir Security will take an active role in looking for drug dealing and will work 
in full co- operation with Lincolnshire Police. 

• If a person refuses to be searched, they will be sent to the Eviction Centre to be 
processed 

 
 

WELFARE AND STAFF TRAINING 
 

Many of the security and stewarding personnel are trained in emergency first aid and 

are fully briefed on the welfare facilities available at Forbidden Forest. If found or 

approached by any individual requiring welfare support because of drug or alcohol 

misuse, all security, stewards or other event personnel shall be briefed to take them to 

the Welfare tent or to radio the welfare team for assistance and one of the outreach 

teams will come to help. The welfare tent will be clearly signposted and shown on the 

site plan.  

 

The welfare tent will be furnished, warm and dry and staffed by experienced male and 
female staff. There will also be a supply of snacks, warm drinks and rehydration drinks, and 
foam mattresses and blankets. Exurbia Events are currently seeking the partnership of 
additional welfare teams that are non-profitable organizations able to deliver education, 
advice on all matters surrounding the welfare of the service users.  Up-to-date information 
about drugs, drug trends and drug service provision underpins the work of welfare at the 
event. A key element of support surrounding the misuse of any substances in welfare is in 
preventative work and guidance and educational information about drugs, including alcohol, 
is given as appropriate. The welfare team will keep a record of the numbers of people who 
use the facility, which will be given to the Event Coordinator 
 
 

There will be certain occasions where a need for First Aid treatment is required for a 

variety of conditions caused by excessive alcohol and drug use. In the event of a medical 

emergency (related to drugs or otherwise), in the first instance the responder will 

contact Event Control and notify them of the situation. The responder will then be 

instructed as to the appropriate procedure. 

210



 

                                                                             
 
 

 
All staff will be briefed, as part of their induction process, as to whom they should 

report to in the event of problems. This will include litter pickers who are most likely 

to find drug litter, which may include dangerous items. 

 
Central Medical Services (CMS) have partnered with Exurbia Events on multiple events. They 
currently support the frontline NHS and are extremely professional in delivering the 
treatment to service users suffering from the effects of Alcohol and drug use. The welfare 
tent will be in radio contact and run in conjunction with the on-site medical team. In 
assisting treatment within both the medical and welfare centers CMS will make frequent 
requests to security requesting information relating to confiscations and or substances 
handed directly to security as part of amnesty. This will allow the medical team to 
understand what could potentially be in circulation externally and internally to the event 
ensuring the substance is fully understood and researched by both medical and the welfare 
team allowing for the event organizers to share the dangers relating to the misuse of such 
substances. This information can then be passed on via the event’s social media pages as 
well as via the welfare team delivering education, advice on all matters surrounding the 
welfare of the service users 
 
 

Managing drug discoveries within the welfare area 

 
From time to time, welfare may have service users in their care who are carrying 

substances on them. The welfare remit does not extend to policing substance use, 

but it is essential that we keep the welfare working environment alcohol and drug 

free and people do not have the opportunity to continue to use more of either whilst 

in welfare care. If a welfare staff member becomes aware of a service user carrying 

any of the above, they will instantly alert the shift leader who will obtain the article 

from the service user and transport to waste bin / amnesty bin or alert security 

and/or police to confiscate and manage the situation with the individual. 

 
Any drugs found on the ground around the welfare area should be put directly into an 

amnesty bin and the welfare shift leader should be alerted that this action has been 

taken. 

 

Substance use within the welfare working area 
 

‘’All drug use is prohibited within any of our workspaces, please follow guidelines for 

managing drug discoveries’’. 

 
Welfare staff will ask our service users to refrain from alcohol use within the crisis 

area. 

 
Smoking is not permitted within any of our workspaces and service users wishing to 

smoke should be encouraged to do so away from the door of the tent. 

211



 

                                                                             
 
 

 

212


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 1 March 2019
	4 Licensing Act 2003: Application for a Premises licence Forbidden Forest at Grimsthorpe Castle, Main Road, Grimsthorpe PE10 OLZ
	Appendix 1 Forbidden Forest at Grimsthorpe castle application
	Appendix 1b Forbidden Forest at Grimsthorpe Castle event safety plan
	OD_09 -  Exurbia Events H&S Policy statement V2 090219.pdf
	Health, Safety and Welfare Statement of Intent

	OD_14 - FF19 Site Map.pdf
	1.0 [FF19 Site Map]
	1



	Appendix 2 Forbidden Forest police rep
	13N-FF19-CustomerWalkThrough 1.0
	Appendix D - F19 - Exurbia Events Concerns and Resoloution document - Sept 2018 Prestwold Hall V.1
	email from applicant
	Exurbia Events Response to Police Feedback 310718
	Forbidden Forest Rep_ BC tracked changes
	OD_36 Forbidden Forest Welfare Management Policy V.2
	OD_37 FF Drug Policy V1




